# Symplectic Lagrangian Fibrations

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades

"Doktor der Naturwissenschaften"

am Fachbereich 08 - Physik, Mathematik und Informatik der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität in Mainz,

vorgelegt von

Christian Lehn,

geb. in Frankfurt am Main Mainz, den 5. Mai 2011 Betreuer: Zweiter Berichterstatter:

ii

Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 12.07.2011

## Abstract

In this work we investigate the deformation theory of pairs of an irreducible symplectic manifold X together with a Lagrangian subvariety  $Y \subseteq X$ , where the focus is on singular Lagrangian subvarieties. Among other things, Voisin's results [Voi92] are generalized to the case of simple normal crossing subvarieties; partial results are also obtained for more complicated singularities. As done in Voisin's article we link the codimension of the subspace of the universal deformation space of X parametrizing those deformations where Y persists, to the rank of a certain map in cohomology. This enables us in some concrete cases to actually calculate or at least estimate the codimension of this particular subspace. In these cases the Lagrangian subvarieties in question occur as fibers or fiber components of a given Lagrangian fibration  $f: X \to B$ . We discuss examples and the question of how our results might help to understand some aspects of Lagrangian fibrations.

## Zusammenfassung

In der vorliegenden Arbeit wird die Deformationstheorie von Paaren von einer irreduzibel symplektischen Mannigfaltigkeit X und einer Lagrangeschen Untervarietät  $Y \subseteq X$  untersucht, wobei das Hauptaugenmerk auf singulären Lagrangeschen Untervarietäten liegt. Die Resultate von Voisin [Voi92] werden unter Anderem auf den Fall von Untervarietäten mit einfachen normalen Überkreuzungen verallgemeinert; ebenfalls werden Teilergebnisse für kompliziertere Singularitäten erzielt. Wie bereits bei Voisin geschehen, können wir die Kodimension desjenigen Unterraumes des universellen Deformationsraumes von X, der Deformationen parametrisiert, bei denen Y mit deformiert, mit dem Rang einer gewissen Abbildung in Kohomologie in Verbindung bringen. Dies erlaubt es uns, in konkreten Fällen die Kodimension des besagten Unterraumes zu bestimmen oder wenigstens abzuschätzen. Dabei handelt es sich bei den Lagrangeschen Untervarietäten Y in der Regel um Fasern oder Faserkomponenten einer gegebenen Lagrangeschen Faserung  $f: X \to B$ . Wir diskutieren Beispiele und gehen darauf ein, wie unsere Resultate dem Verständnis gewisser Aspekte Lagrangescher Faserungen förderlich sein könnten.

## Contents

Abstract	iii
Zusammenfassung	iii
Introduction	1
Results and methods	1
Notations and conventions	5
Chapter I. Deformation theory	7
I.1. Generalities	7
I.2. Deformations of schemes	10
I.3. Deformations of morphisms	14
I.4. Deformations of morphisms with fixed target	17
I.5. Deformation theory in the analytic category	20
Chapter II. Weil restriction and Hodge theory	
over an Artin ring	23
II.1. Weil restriction	24
II.2. Hodge-Weil theory	28
Chapter III. Mixed Hodge structures for normal crossing varieties	33
III.1. The complex $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$	34
III.2. Semi-simplicial resolutions	36
III.3. Pure Hodge structures on smooth families	42
III.4. Mixed Hodge structures on normal crossing families	45
III.5. The case of Kähler manifolds	48
III.6. Lifting the normalization	49
Chapter IV. Symplectic geometry	53
IV.1. Basic definitions and results	53
IV.2. Examples of symplectic manifolds	55
IV.3. The Beauville-Bogomolov quadratic form	56
Chapter V. The universal deformation space of an irreducible	
symplectic manifold	59

## CONTENTS

V.1. Existence and properties of the universal deformation space	59
V.2. Subspaces of $M$	60
V.3. Voisin's results adapted	63
Chapter VI. Deformations of Lagrangian subvarieties	67
VI.1. Projectivity of Lagrangian subvarieties	67
VI.2. Deformation theory on symplectic manifolds	71
VI.3. The space $M_i$ and the $T^1$ -lifting principle	73
VI.4. Definition and Smoothness of $M_Y$	79
VI.5. Main results	81
VI.6. More smoothness results	85
Chapter VII. Applications to Lagrangian fibrations	89
VII.1. Properties of Lagrangian fibrations	89
VII.2. Deformations of fibers of Lagrangian fibrations	91
VII.3. Codimension estimates	94
VII.4. $\operatorname{Hilb}^2(K3)$	99
Chapter VIII. Open problems	105
VIII.1. Discriminant locus - deformation behaviour	105
VIII.2. Discriminant locus - degree	106
VIII.3. Generalizations	110
Appendix A. Commutative algebra	115
A.1. Flatness	115
A.2. Modules over Artin rings	117
Appendix B. Hodge theory	121
B.1. Mixed Hodge structures on singular varieties	121
Bibliography	123
Danksagung	127

vi

## Introduction

## **Results and methods**

The purpose of this work is to study Lagrangian fibrations on irreducible symplectic manifolds. Matsushita [Mat99] discovered that any non-trivial fibration from an irreducible symplectic manifold to a projective variety of smaller dimension is a Lagrangian fibration. Since then these fibrations have become an important tool in understanding symplectic manifolds. Matsushita's theorem is recalled as part of Theorem VII.1.1. It is also an instance of the fact that there are strong restrictions for the base of such a fibration. Most notably, if the base of a Lagrangian fibration on a projective irreducible symplectic manifold is smooth and projective, then it is isomorphic to the complex projective space  $\mathbb{P}^n$  by a theorem of Hwang [Hwa08, Thm 1.2]. For a proper Lagrangian fibration of class  $C^{\infty}$  between differentiable manifolds, the Liouville-Arnol'd theorem [Arn89, Ch 10, § 49] says that the smooth fibers are compact tori, that is, diffeomorphic to the *n*-fold cartesian product

$$\left(\mathbb{S}^{1}\right)^{\times n} = \mathbb{S}^{1} \times \ldots \times \mathbb{S}^{1}$$

of the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$ . The holomorphic analogue of this theorem tells us that the smooth fibers of a proper holomorphic Lagrangian fibration are complex tori. As tori are studied quite well, singular fibers enter the focus. Every Lagrangian fibration on an irreducible symplectic manifold has singular fibers, see [**Hwa08**, Prop 4]. They are an important invariant of the fibration, hence also of the symplectic manifold itself and can for example be used in explicit calculations, see [**Moz06**] or [**Bea99**]. General singular fibers have been classified by Hwang-Oguiso [**HO09a**] and Matsushita [**Mat07**].

It turns out to be rewarding to forget that a given subvariety is a fiber of a Lagrangian fibration and simply consider it as an abstract Lagrangian subvariety. Then one can ask whether the results of Voisin's article [Voi92] still hold. In [Voi92] Voisin studied deformations of pairs  $Y \subseteq X$  where Xis an irreducible symplectic manifold and Y a complex Lagrangian submanifold. She found out that, roughly speaking, deformations of X where Ystays a complex submanifold are exactly those deformations, where Y stays Lagrangian. If  $M_Y$  denotes the subspace of the universal deformation space M of X parametrizing deformations, where Y stays a complex submanifold, she expressed the codimension of  $M_Y$  in M as the rank of the restriction map  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(Y, \mathbb{C})$ .

We generalize Voisin's results to Lagrangian subvarieties with simple normal crossings. Here and in the following a *variety* does not need to be irreducible. To give a precise formulation of our main results, we have to introduce some notations. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a Lagrangian subvariety with simple normal crossings, let  $\nu : \tilde{Y} \to Y$  be the normalization and put  $j := i \circ \nu$ . Let (M,0) be the germ of the universal deformation space of X where 0 is the point corresponding to X. It is known to be smooth by the Bogomolov-Tian-Todorov theorem, see [**Bog78, Tia87, Tod89**]. If the representative M is chosen small enough and simply connected, the universal family over M is a  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ -trivial fiber bundle. For small deformations  $X_t$  of X this gives a diffeomorphism  $\alpha_t : X \to X_t$  and a class  $\omega_t \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  corresponding to the symplectic form on  $X_t$ . We put  $j_t := \alpha_t \circ j$  and denote by  $(M_i, 0)$  the germ of the universal deformation space for locally trivial deformations of the inclusion  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$ . It comes with a forgetful map  $p: M_i \to M$ . Then we have

THEOREM VI.5.3 — Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvariety in a compact irreducible symplectic manifold  $X, \nu: \tilde{Y} \to Y$  the normalization and  $j = i \circ \nu$ . Consider the germs at 0 of the complex subspaces

$$M_Y := \operatorname{im}(p: M_i \to M) \text{ and } M'_Y := \{t \in M : j_t^* \omega_t = 0\}$$

of M. Then  $M'_Y = M_Y$  and this space is smooth at 0 of codimension

$$\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = \operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y = \operatorname{rk}\left(j^* : H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})\right).$$

 $in \ M.$ 

The definition of  $M_Y$  as the image of  $M_i \to M$  is a way of formalizing the phrase "Y stays complex". Similarly the defining equation for  $M'_Y$  formalizes the statement "Y stays Lagrangian". The definition of  $M_Y$  is quite subtle. We do not know a good definition for  $M_Y$  for an arbitrary Lagrangian subvariety Y. The problem is that we do not in general know whether the set  $p(M_i)$  is an analytic subset of M, see Chapter VI.

Many of the intermediate steps in the proof of Theorem VI.5.3 are essentially as in [Voi92], but for the smoothness of  $M_Y$  we have to argue differently. For this we develop ideas of Ran [Ran92b], [Ran92a] by exploiting the interplay between deformation theory and Hodge theory. On the way we obtain the following result, which is unrelated to symplectic geometry and maybe of independent interest.

THEOREM III.4.3 — Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where R is a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{C}$ , let Y be a proper simple normal crossing  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety and let  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  and  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be proper, algebraic S-schemes. Assume that  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is a locally trivial deformation of Y and  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is smooth. Let  $i: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an S-morphism. Then for all p, q the morphism  $i^*: R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  has a free cokernel.

The complex  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is  $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  modulo torsion, see Definition III.1.1. Like the de Rham complex in the smooth case,  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$  calculates cohomology with coefficients in the constant sheaf  $\underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}$  for normal crossing varieties, where  $Y^{\mathrm{an}}$  is the complex space associated to the variety Y. In particular, Theorem III.4.3 holds for smooth morphisms  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$ .

Let us spend some words about the content and the structure of this treatise. For more detailed explanations we refer to the introductions of the individual chapters.

In Chapter I we explain the necessary ingredients from deformation theory. In particular, we define *locally trivial* deformations in the Zariski and analytic context and show that they give rise to isomorphic deformation functors, see Corollary I.5.1. The material is quite standard. We included it as we did not find in the literature the particular formulations of these results we need in later chapters.

As our central technical tool we introduce the notions of a mixed Hodge structure and a mixed Hodge-Weil structure, both over a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ algebra, in Chapter II. These notions appear to be new. They axiomatize the Hodge theory of locally trivial deformations of simple normal crossing varieties. In combination with commutative algebra over Artin rings they are essentially used in the proof of Theorem III.4.3. Mixed Hodge structures over a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra R are intermediate objects between ordinary mixed Hodge structures and variations of mixed Hodge structures. Mixed Hodge structures and mixed Hodge-Weil structures over R are related to one another by Grothendieck's theory of Weil restriction [**Gro59, Gro60**]. If  $R = \mathbb{C}$ , then both notions specialize to the ordinary notion of a mixed Hodge structure.

Chapter III provides a construction of a mixed Hodge structure over a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra R on the cohomology of locally trivial deformations over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  of simple normal crossing varieties. In the absolute case  $R = \mathbb{C}$  a very explicit construction of a mixed Hodge structure on the cohomology

#### INTRODUCTION

of a proper simple normal crossing variety is described in  $[\mathbf{GS75}]$ . It uses the canonical semi-simplicial resolution of a simple normal crossing variety, see section III.2. We lift this resolution on the central fiber to a resolution by schemes which are smooth over S. In this framework we can prove Theorem III.4.3. Similar results hold for deformations of compact Kähler manifolds over an Artinian base.

In Chapter IV we recall the basic definitions and results regarding symplectic manifolds. An overview of the geometry of the universal deformation space M of an irreducible symplectic manifold X is given in Chapter V. There we discuss several important subspaces of M, most of which are defined by the persistence of certain (properties of) geometric objects on X under deformation. In this chapter we also explain and adapt Voisin's results from [Voi92], see section V.3. Only the definition and discussion of the space  $M_Y$  from Theorem VI.5.3 is postponed until Chapter VI, because it is quite involved and needs some preparation.

Chapter VI is devoted to the proof our main result, Theorem VI.5.3. We develop Ran's ideas and explain the  $T^1$ -lifting principle. We show that as a consequence of work of Flenner and Kosarew [**FK87**] there exists a universal locally trivial deformation for the inclusion of a Lagrangian subvariety  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  in an irreducible symplectic manifold. The base of this deformation is the space  $M_i$ , which is shown to be smooth in Theorem VI.3.12. By construction, there is a canonical map  $p: M_i \to M$ . We show that in case Y has simple normal crossings, this map factors as the composition of a smooth map  $p: M_i \to M_Y$  and a closed immersion of a submanifold  $M_Y \hookrightarrow M$ , see Theorem VI.5.3 by assembling all theory developed and collected in the previous chapters. Furthermore, the projectivity of simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvarieties in an irreducible symplectic manifold is shown. This is used to apply algebraic arguments from the previous chapters to those subvarieties.

We give examples and applications to Lagrangian fibrations in Chapter VII. Our results can be applied to most types of the general singular fibers of a Lagrangian fibration in the sense of Hwang-Oguiso [**HO09a**]. By work of Matsushita [**Mat05, Mat09**] there is a certain subspace  $M_L$  of M, where a given fibration  $f : X \to B$  on the irreducible symplectic manifold X is preserved and this subspace is exactly the subspace  $M_Y$  for a smooth fiber Yof f. We show that if the reduction Y of a general singular fiber is preserved under deformation of X as a subvariety, then the fibration is preserved as well and deformations of Y are still contained in a fiber. We investigate which of the general singular fibers show up generically in  $M_L$ . We produce several interesting questions in this direction and we believe that our results may be helpful to attack them.

In Chapter VIII we explain some related open problems which we encountered during this work and which we think should be guiding problems in the struggle to understand Lagrangian fibrations. We also pose some problems and questions regarding Hodge theory, locally trivial deformations and generalizations of our results.

## Notations and conventions

We try to stick to the following notations and conventions throughout this work. We denote by k a field of characteristic zero. As usual, for a ring Rwe write  $R[\varepsilon] := R[x]/x^2$  where  $\varepsilon := x \mod (x^2)$ . Set is the category of sets, Sch the category of schemes. For a scheme Z the category of schemes over Z is denoted by Sch/Z. The opposite category of a category  $\mathscr{C}$ , that is, the category whose objects are the objects of  $\mathscr{C}$  and whose morphisms are obtained by reversing the morphisms of  $\mathscr{C}$ , is denoted by  $\mathscr{C}^{\text{op}}$ .

An *algebraic scheme* is a separated scheme of finite type over a noetherian ring. The term *algebraic variety* will stand for a separated reduced k-scheme of finite type. In particular, a variety may have several irreducible components. Similarly, a *complex variety* will be a separated reduced complex space. If there is no danger of confusion, we will drop the adjectives *algebraic* respectively *complex*. A *fibration* is a proper morphism with connected fibers from a variety to a normal variety. For a scheme Z and a ring R the R-valued points  $Mor_{Sch}(Spec R, Z)$  of Z are denoted by Z(R). The subscheme defined by a sheaf of ideals  $\mathcal{I}$  will be denoted by  $V(\mathcal{I})$ . If  $\mathcal{I}$  is generated by sections  $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \Gamma(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z)$  we will also write  $V(f_1, \ldots, f_n)$  for  $V(\mathcal{I})$ . For an Artin ring R we do not distinguish between a quasi-coherent sheaf on  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ and its R-module of global sections. A complex space or algebraic scheme Y of equidimension n is called a normal crossing variety if for every closed point  $y \in Y$  there is an  $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{Y,y} \cong k[[y_1, \ldots, y_{n+1}]]/(y_1 \cdots y_r)$ . It is called a *simple normal crossing variety* if in addition every irreducible component is nonsingular.

Let X be a scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ . We write  $X^{\mathrm{an}}$  for the complex space associated to X. For us a complex space is always separated and is allowed to have nilpotent elements in the structure sheaf. For a quasicoherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module F we denote by  $F^{\mathrm{an}}$  the associated  $\mathcal{O}_{X^{\mathrm{an}}}$ -module  $\varphi^*F$ where  $\varphi: X^{\mathrm{an}} \to X$  is the canonical morphism of ringed spaces. If A is an abelian group and X a topological space,  $\underline{A}_X$  will denote the constant sheaf on X with values in A.

The symbol  $\Box$  marks the end of a proof. If for some reason a proof is omitted, this will be indicated by the appearance of  $\Box$  at the end of the respective statement.

## CHAPTER I

## **Deformation theory**

We summarize elementary results from deformation theory. Although the material is pretty standard, we include it as notations and terminology are not uniform. The fundamental reference is [Sch68]. A detailed exposition is given in [Ser06], where most of the proofs are found or obtained by easy variations. In the presentation we restrict ourselves to algebraic schemes, but analogous results hold also true in the category of complex spaces. Not completely standard might be Lemma I.5.1, which shows that over the complex numbers locally trivial deformations defined in Zariski- and Euclidean topology respectively give rise to isomorphic deformation functors. We are aware that the results we give are not the most general; they are taylored for the applications we have in mind.

## I.1. Generalities

Let k be a fixed algebraically closed field. By  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  we denote the category of local Artinian k-algebras with residue field k. The maximal ideal of an element  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  will be denoted by  $\mathfrak{m}$ , sometimes we will also phrase this as  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . We write  $\widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  for the category of local noetherian k-algebras with residue field k, which are complete with respect to the  $\mathfrak{m}$ -adic topology. There is a natural inclusion  $\operatorname{Art}_k \hookrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  and as in the proof of [Mat80, (28.J) Cor 1] every  $R \in \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  is a homomorphic image of a power series ring  $k[[x_1, \ldots, x_m]]$ . In particular, every  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  is a finitely generated k-algebra as  $\mathfrak{m}^k = 0$  for  $k \gg 0$ . Moreover, every element  $R \in \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  can be written as a limit of objects in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ .

$$R = \varprojlim_{n \in \mathbb{N}} R/\mathfrak{m}^n$$

This explains why a category of *noetherian* algebras is denoted by  $Art_k$ . A *small extension* in  $Art_k$  is an exact sequence

$$0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0,$$

where  $R' \to R$  is a surjection in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  and the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}'$  of R'annihilates J, that is,  $\mathfrak{m}'.J = 0$ . Because of this last condition, the R'module structure on J factors through  $R'/\mathfrak{m}' = R/\mathfrak{m} = k$ . DEFINITION I.1.1. A deformation functor or functor of Artin rings is a functor D: Art<sub>k</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Set with  $D(k) = \{\star\}$ , where Set is the category of sets. The set  $t_D = D(k[\varepsilon])$  is called the *tangent space* of D. This terminology is justified below.

For a deformation functor D and  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  we consider the canonical map

(I.1.1) 
$$D(R \times_k k[\varepsilon]) \to D(R) \times_{D(k)} D(k[\varepsilon]) = D(R) \times t_D.$$

If this is a bijection for every R, then  $t_D$  can be endowed with a canonical k-vector space structure by [Sch68], see also [Ser06, Ch 2.2]. Moreover, if  $0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0$  is a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  we can form the algebra  $k[J] = k \oplus J$  where  $J^2 = 0$ . Let  $\varepsilon_1, \ldots, \varepsilon_n$  be a k-basis of J. The isomorphism

(I.1.2) 
$$k[\varepsilon_1] \times_k k[\varepsilon_2] \times_k \ldots \times_k k[\varepsilon_n] \longrightarrow k[J],$$
$$(\lambda + \lambda_1 \varepsilon_1, \ldots, \lambda + \lambda_n \varepsilon_n) \mapsto \lambda + \sum_i \lambda_i \varepsilon_i$$

of k-algebras induces an isomorphism  $t_D \otimes_k J \cong t_D \times \ldots \times t_D \longrightarrow D(k[J])$ . The algebra homomorphism

(I.1.3) 
$$k[J] \times_k R' \longrightarrow R', \quad (x,a) \mapsto x - x_0 + a,$$

where  $x_0$  is the first component of x with respect to  $k[J] = k \oplus J$ , induces an action of  $t_D \otimes J = D(k[J])$  on D(R'). This action preserves the fibers of  $D(R') \to D(R)$ . Morphisms of deformation functors for which (I.1.1) is bijective induce k-linear maps between their tangent spaces and are equivariant with respect to their respective actions. Every deformation functor D: Art<sub>k</sub>  $\to$  Set has a unique extension  $\hat{D} : \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k \to \operatorname{Set}$  given by

$$\widehat{D}(R) := \lim_{\substack{ n \in \mathbb{N} \\ n \in \mathbb{N} }} D(R/\mathfrak{m}^n).$$

We call  $\widehat{D}$  the *completion* of D. For an element  $u_n \in D(R/\mathfrak{m}^n)$  and  $R' \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_k(R/\mathfrak{m}^n, R') \to D(R'), \quad \varphi \mapsto D(\varphi)(u_n)$$

defines a morphism  $U_n : \operatorname{Hom}_k(R/\mathfrak{m}^n, \cdot) \to D$  of functors. We will abbreviate a functor of the form  $\operatorname{Hom}_k(R, \cdot)$  by  $h_R$ . By [Ser06, Lem 2.2.2] this process is compatible with taking limits and thus gives a bijection between elements u of  $\widehat{D}(R)$  and morphisms of functors  $U : h_R \to D$ . An element  $u \in \widehat{D}(R)$  for some  $R \in \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  is called a *formal element* of D.

DEFINITION I.1.2. A deformation functor D is said to be *prorepresentable*, if there is a complete local noetherian k-algebra R, such that  $D \cong h_R$ . Let

8

 $R \in \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_k$  and  $u \in \widehat{D}(R)$  be a formal element of D. If the corresponding  $U: h_R \to D$  is an isomorphism, we call u a *universal* formal element. In this case, D is prorepresented by R. A weaker notion is that of versality. We call u a *versal* formal element, if the morphism U is smooth. This means that the map

(I.1.4) 
$$D(B) \to D(A) \times_{h_R(A)} h_R(B)$$

is surjective for every surjection  $B \to A$  in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ . We say that u is a *semi-universal* formal element, if u is a versal formal element and the corresponding map  $h_R(k[\varepsilon]) \to D(k[\varepsilon])$  is bijective. A prorepresentable deformation functor  $D \cong h_R$  is called *unobstructed*, if R is a smooth k-algebra.

Remark I.1.3. -

- (1) Let  $D_1, D_2$ : Art<sub>k</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Set be functors of Artin rings and let a morphism  $\eta: D_1 \rightarrow D_2$  of functors be given. If the  $D_j, j = 1, 2$ are prorepresentable, say  $D_j = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Art}}(R_j, \cdot)$ , then  $\eta$  induces a ring homomorphism  $\eta^{\#}: R_1 \rightarrow R_2$ .
- (2) If D is a prorepresentable deformation functor, then the action (I.1.3) is free and transitive on the non-empty fibers of a small extension by [Ser06, Prop 2.3.4 (b)].

DEFINITION I.1.4. If  $D : \operatorname{Art}_k \to \operatorname{Set}$  is a deformation functor,  $R' \to R$  is a morphism in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  and  $\eta \in D(R)$  then we will write

$$D(R')_{\eta} := \varphi^{-1}(\eta) \subseteq D(R')$$

where  $\varphi: D(R') \to D(R)$  is the map induced by  $R' \to R$ .

**I.1.5.** Curvilinear deformations. Here we work out a criterion for a prorepresentable deformation functor to be unobstructed. The criterion seems to be "well-known": it is widely used but we were unable to find an explicit proof in the literature.

Let R be a complete local noetherian k-algebra with maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  and  $A_n := k[t]/t^{n+1}$ . Suppose R has the following lifting property for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (I.1.5) & & & & A_{n+1} \\ & & & \swarrow & & \swarrow \\ & & & & \swarrow & & A_n \end{array}$$

That is, for every k-algebra homomorphism  $R \to A_n$  there is a k-algebra homomorphism  $R \to A_{n+1}$  making (I.1.5) commutative. In this case we say that R is *curvilinearly smooth* over k. We have LEMMA I.1.6. If R is curvilinearly smooth over k, then R is a smooth k-algebra.

PROOF. As R is a complete, noetherian k-algebra we may write R = S/Iwhere  $S = k[[x_1, \ldots, x_m]]$ ,  $m = \dim_k \mathfrak{m}/\mathfrak{m}^2$  and  $I \subseteq S$  is an ideal. In this case we have that  $I \subseteq \mathfrak{n}^2$ , where  $\mathfrak{n} \subseteq S$  is the maximal ideal. Assume that  $I \neq 0$ . Then there is a maximal  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $I \subseteq \mathfrak{n}^{\ell}$ . This inclusion implies that for every choice of  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m \in k$  the algebra homomorphism

$$S \longrightarrow k[t], \quad x_i \mapsto \lambda_i \ t$$

descends to an algebra homomorphism  $R \to A_{\ell}$ . Let  $\varphi : S \to A_{\ell+1}$  be the composition with the canonical morphism  $k[t] \to A_{\ell+1}$ . Then the curvilinear lifting property requires that there is a lift  $\psi$  in the diagram



Let us take  $f \in I \setminus \mathfrak{n}^{\ell+1}$  and let  $f_{\ell}$  be its degree  $\ell$  term. In other words,  $f_{\ell} \in k[x_1, \ldots, x_m]$  is the unique homogeneous polynomial of degree  $\ell$  with the property that

$$f = f_{\ell} + f_{\ell+1}$$
 for some  $f_{\ell+1} \in \mathfrak{n}^{\ell+1}$ .

By assumption  $f_{\ell} \neq 0$ . The existence of  $\psi : R \to A_{\ell+1}$  requires that

$$0 = \varphi(f) = f_{\ell}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m)$$

for every choice of  $\lambda_i$ . But as k is an infinite field, this is only possible if the polynomial  $f_{\ell} = 0$  contradicting the choice of f. Thus I = 0 and R is smooth over k.

The following corollary is just another way to phrase the previous lemma and the above lifting property.

COROLLARY I.1.7. Let D be a prorepresentable deformation functor. Then D is unobstructed, if for all n the map  $D(A_{n+1}) \to D(A_n)$  is surjective.  $\Box$ 

#### I.2. Deformations of schemes

Let X be an algebraic k-scheme,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ .

DEFINITION I.2.1. A deformation of X over S is a flat S-scheme  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  together with an isomorphism  $X \to \mathcal{X} \times_S k$ . An isomorphism between

10

deformations  $\mathcal{X} \to S$ ,  $\mathcal{X}' \to S$  is an isomorphism  $\varphi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}'$  of S-schemes with the property that the induced diagram



is commutative. The functor

 $D_X : \operatorname{Art}_k \longrightarrow \operatorname{Set}, \quad R \mapsto \{\operatorname{deformations} \text{ of } X \text{ over } S\} / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of deformations of* X. A deformation  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ ,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  is called *(Zariski) locally trivial*, if for every  $x \in X$  there is an open subset  $U \subseteq X$  with  $x \in U$  and an isomorphism



In other words,  $\mathcal{X}$  induces the trivial deformation on U. Note that the topological spaces underlying X and  $\mathcal{X}$  are the same as R is Artinian. The functor

 $D_X^{\mathrm{lt}}: \mathrm{Art}_k \longrightarrow \mathrm{Set}, \quad R \mapsto \{\mathrm{locally\ trivial\ deformations\ of\ } X \mathrm{\ over\ } S\} / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of locally trivial* deformations of X.

We will often use the isomorphism  $X \to \mathcal{X} \times_S k$  to identify X with  $\mathcal{X} \times_S k$ . If X is smooth over k, every deformation of X is locally trivial, see [Har77, II.2, Ex 8.6]. If X is proper over k, then every deformation  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R, R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  is proper by the valuative criterion for properness. The following result is proven as Corollary 2.6.4 in [Ser06] for projective X. The proof there works for proper X as well.

PROPOSITION I.2.2. If X is smooth and proper over k and  $H^0(X, T_X) = 0$ , the functor  $D_X = D_X^{\text{lt}}$  is prorepresentable.

Let X be an algebraic k-scheme and let  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a deformation of X over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . We put

(I.2.1)  

$$T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R} := R^1 g_* T_{\mathcal{X}/S}, \quad T^1 := T^1_{X/k} = H^1(X, T_X), \quad T^2 := H^2(X, T_X).$$

#### I. DEFORMATION THEORY

Next we construct a map  $T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R} \to D_X(R[\varepsilon])_{\mathcal{X}}$ . We write  $S[\varepsilon] := \operatorname{Spec} R[\varepsilon]$ . As S is affine,  $R^1g_*T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \cong \check{H}^1(\mathcal{X}, T_{\mathcal{X}/S})$ . So let  $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_i U_i$  be a covering by open affines  $U_i = \operatorname{Spec} A_i$  and let an element  $\delta \in R^1g_*T_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  be given. We represent  $\delta$  by a Čech-1-cocyle  $\{(\delta_{ij}, U_{ij})\}$  where  $U_{ij} = U_i \cap U_j$  and  $\delta_{ij} \in \Gamma(U_{ij}, T_{\mathcal{X}/S})$ . We regard the  $\delta_{ij}$  as R-derivations of  $A_{ij} := \Gamma(U_{ij}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}})$ and define an automorphism  $\varphi_{ij}$  of the scheme  $U_{ij}[\varepsilon] := U_{ij} \times_S S[\varepsilon] =$  $\operatorname{Spec} (A_{ij} \otimes_R R[\varepsilon])$  via  $R[\varepsilon]$ -linear extension of the map

$$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} \otimes_R R[\varepsilon], \quad a \mapsto a + \varepsilon \delta_{ij}(a).$$

As  $\delta$  is a cocycle, the isomorphisms  $\varphi_{ij}$  can be used to glue the schemes  $U_i[\varepsilon] := \text{Spec} (A_i \otimes_R R[\varepsilon])$  along the open subschemes  $U_{ij}[\varepsilon]$ . In this way we obtain a flat scheme  $S[\varepsilon]$ -scheme  $\mathcal{X}_{\delta}$ , which is an extension of  $\mathcal{X}$ . One can show that the map

(I.2.2) 
$$T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R} \to D_X(R[\varepsilon])_{\mathcal{X}}, \quad \delta \mapsto \mathcal{X}_\delta$$

is well-defined, where  $D_X(R[\varepsilon])_{\mathcal{X}}$  is the fiber over  $\mathcal{X}$  in the sense of Definition I.1.4. Furthermore we have

LEMMA I.2.3. Let  $0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ . Assume that X is smooth over k. Then there is a natural isomorphism  $T^1 \xrightarrow{\cong} t_{D_X}$ . Moreover, the following holds. Let  $\mathcal{X}' \to S$  be a deformation of X over  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  such that  $\mathcal{X}' \times_{S'} S = \mathcal{X}$ . Then:

(1) The map  $T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R} \to D_X(R[\varepsilon])_{\mathcal{X}}$  from (I.2.2) is a bijection and the diagram

is commutative, where we obtain  $T^1_{\mathcal{X}'/R'} \to T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R}$  by applying  $R^1g_*$  to the natural map  $T_{\mathcal{X}'/S'} \to T_{\mathcal{X}'/S'}$ .

(2) There are natural maps  $D_X(R) \to T^2 \otimes J$  such that

$$D_X(R') \longrightarrow D_X(R) \longrightarrow T^2 \otimes J$$

is an exact sequence of pointed sets. Furthermore, for every diagram



of small extensions the diagram

commutes.

PROOF. ad (1). This is a straight forward generalization of [Ser06, Thm 2.4.1]. The bijectivity of  $T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R} \to D_X(R[\varepsilon])_{\mathcal{X}}$  is obtained by reversing the construction of this map. It works as follows. Take a covering  $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_i U_i$  with open affines  $U_i = \operatorname{Spec} A_i$ . As X is smooth over k, also  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is smooth and so the  $A_i$  will be smooth R-algebras. Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}$  be a deformation of  $\mathcal{X}$  over  $R[\varepsilon]$ . We will show that  $\mathcal{X}$  is locally trivial. We have induced deformations  $\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}|_{U_i} = \operatorname{Spec} A'_i$  of  $U_i$ , hence a diagram



for which ker  $\varphi$  is nilpotent. By smoothness we obtain a lifting  $A_i \to A'_i$  and the deformation  $\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}|_{U_i}$  is trivial by flatness. Thus,  $\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}$  is given by gluing the schemes  $U_i \times_S S[\varepsilon]$  where  $S[\varepsilon] = \operatorname{Spec} R[\varepsilon]$ . The corresponding  $R[\varepsilon]$ -algebra isomorphisms

$$\theta_i: A_i \otimes_R R[\varepsilon] \longrightarrow \Gamma(U_i, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}})$$

restrict to the identity modulo  $\varepsilon$ . We put  $U_{ij} = U_i \cap U_j = \operatorname{Spec} A_{ij}$  and obtain isomorphisms

$$\theta_{ij}: A_{ij} \otimes_R R[\varepsilon] \longrightarrow A_{ij} \otimes_R R[\varepsilon] = A_{ij} \oplus \varepsilon A_{ij}$$

defined by  $\theta_{ij} := \theta_j|_{U_{ij}} \circ \theta_i^{-1}|_{U_{ij}}$ , which satisfy the cocycle conditions. By  $R[\varepsilon]$ -linearity such a morphism is uniquely determined by the restriction to  $A_{ij} \to A_{ij} \oplus \varepsilon A_{ij}$  and has the form  $\mathrm{id} + \varepsilon \delta_{ij}$ . A direct calculation shows that  $\delta_{ij} \in \mathrm{Der}_R(A_{ij}) = \Gamma(U_{ij}, T_{\mathcal{X}/S})$ . The derivations  $\delta_{ij}$  form a Čech-1-cocyle and define a class in  $H^1(\mathcal{X}, T_{\mathcal{X}/S})$  from which the deformation  $\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}$  can be reconstructed up to isomorphism. The rest of the argument is as in the absolute case R = k, see [Ser06, Thm 2.4.1]. ad (2). This is [Ser06, Prop 2.4.6].

We call  $T^1$  the tangent space,  $T^2$  the obstruction space and  $T^1_{\mathcal{X}/R}$  a relative tangent space of  $D_X$ . By the lemma above there is no ambiguity in these names as  $t_D \cong T^1$ .

#### I. DEFORMATION THEORY

#### I.3. Deformations of morphisms

Let  $i: Y \to X$  be a k-morphism of algebraic k-schemes Y, X. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ .

DEFINITION I.3.1. A deformation of i over S is a diagram

 $(I.3.1) \qquad \qquad \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{Y} \stackrel{I}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{X} \\ \swarrow \\ S \end{array}$ 

where  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  and  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  are flat S-schemes together with isomorphisms  $\mathcal{X} \times_S \operatorname{Spec} R/\mathfrak{m} \to X$ ,  $\mathcal{Y} \times_S \operatorname{Spec} R/\mathfrak{m} \to Y$  and  $I \times_S \operatorname{Spec} R/\mathfrak{m} \cong i$  under these isomorphisms. An isomorphism between deformations of i is defined in the obvious way. The functor

 $D_i: \operatorname{Art}_k \longrightarrow \operatorname{Set}, \quad R \mapsto \{\operatorname{deformations of } i \text{ over } S\} / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of deformations of i*. A deformation  $I: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  as in (I.3.1) is called *(Zariski) locally trivial*, if for every  $x \in X, y \in Y$  with i(y) = x there are open subsets  $U \subseteq X, V \subseteq Y$ with  $y \in V, i(V) \subseteq U$  and an isomorphism



In other words,  $I : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  induces the trivial deformation on V and U. The functor

 $D_i^{\mathrm{lt}}: \mathrm{Art}_k \longrightarrow \mathrm{Set}, \quad R \mapsto \{\mathrm{locally\ trivial\ deformations\ of\ } i \ \mathrm{over}\ S\} \ / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of locally trivial* deformations of *i*.

**I.3.2.** Sheaves controlling the deformations of a closed immersion. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a closed immersion of algebraic k-schemes. Recall that i is said to be a regular embedding, if for every  $y \in Y$  there is an affine open neighbourhood  $U = \operatorname{Spec} A$  of i(y) in X such that the ideal of  $i(Y) \cap U$  is generated by a regular sequence in A, see for example Appendix D of [Ser06]. The scheme Y is called a *locally complete intersection*, if for every point  $y \in Y$  there is a regular scheme X' and a regular embedding

Spec  $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y} \hookrightarrow X'$ . This is an absolute notion in contrast to the relative notion of a regular embedding.

Suppose now that X is smooth and proper and Y is reduced and proper. We will express the tangent space of  $D_i^{\text{lt}}$  in terms of cohomology of certain sheaves. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in \text{Art}_k$ , S = Spec R and let

be a deformation of *i*. Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be the ideal sheaf of  $\mathcal{Y}$  in  $\mathcal{X}$ . Assume that *Y* is a locally complete intersection. Then so is  $\mathcal{Y}$  and  $\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2$  is locally free. We have an exact sequence of sheaves on  $\mathcal{Y}$ 

(I.3.3) 
$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2 \xrightarrow{d} \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}} \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Note that as Y is reduced, the map  $d \otimes_R k$  is injective, hence also d is injective. We obtain the exact sequence

(I.3.4) 
$$0 \longrightarrow T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}} \xrightarrow{d^{\vee}} N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \longrightarrow T^{1}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where  $N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} := \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}})$ . The sheaf  $T^1_{\mathcal{Y}/S} := \operatorname{coker} d^{\vee}$  is supported on the singular locus of Y. We define the *equisingular normal sheaf* 

(I.3.5) 
$$N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} := \ker(N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \to T^1_{\mathcal{Y}/S}).$$

Taking the preimage  $T_I$  of  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  under the natural map  $T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ we obtain the exact sequence of sheaves on  $\mathcal{X}$ 

(I.3.6) 
$$0 \longrightarrow T_I \longrightarrow T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \longrightarrow N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

The sheaf  $T_I$  is the relative version of a sheaf which is called the *sheaf of* germs of tangent vectors to  $\mathcal{X}$  which are tangent to  $\mathcal{Y}$  along  $\mathcal{Y}$  in [Ser06, 3.4.4]. It controls locally trivial deformations of a closed immersion in the sense of Lemma I.3.4.

The following satement is given in [Ser06, Rem 3.4.18] for projective schemes X and Y. As in the case of deformations of schemes, the proof carries over to proper schemes.

PROPOSITION I.3.3. Assume that  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper k-schemes, that X is smooth and that  $H^0(X, T_i) = 0$ . Then the functor  $D_i^{\text{lt}}$  is prorepresentable.

Let  $0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ ,  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a closed immersion of proper algebraic k-schemes X and Y where Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth over k. Let



be a deformation of i over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . As for deformations of schemes we introduce tangent and obstruction spaces

(I.3.7) 
$$T_{I/R}^1 := R^1 g_* T_I, \qquad T^1 := T_{i/k}^1 = H^1(X, T_i), \qquad T^2 := H^2(X, T_i).$$

One constructs a natural map

(I.3.8) 
$$T^1_{I/R} \to D_i(R[\varepsilon])_I,$$

where  $D_i(R[\varepsilon])_I$  is the fiber over I in the sense of Definition I.1.4, similar to the one in (I.2.2).

LEMMA I.3.4. Let  $0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ and let  $i: Y \to X$  be a closed immersion of proper algebraic k-schemes Xand Y where Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth over k. Then there is a natural isomorphism  $T^1 \xrightarrow{\cong} t_{D_i}$ . More precisely the following holds. Let  $I': \mathcal{Y}' \to \mathcal{X}'$  a deformation of i over R' such that  $I' \times_{S'} S = I$  where  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$ . Then:

(1) The map  $T^1_{I/R} \to D_i(R[\varepsilon])_I$  from (I.3.8) is a bijection and the diagram

is commutative, where we obtain  $T^1_{I'/R'} \to T^1_{I/R}$  by applying  $R^1g_*$  to the natural map  $T_{I'} \to T_I$ .

(2) There are natural maps  $D_i(R) \to T^2 \otimes J$  such that

$$D_i(R') \to D_i(R) \to T^2 \otimes J$$

is an exact sequence of pointed sets. Furthermore, for every diagram



of small extensions the diagram



commutes.

PROOF. ad (1): This is a straight forward generalization of [Ser06, Prop 3.4.17]. The sections of  $T_I$  are exactly those sections of  $T_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  restricting to sections of  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  on  $\mathcal{Y}$ . Sections of  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  correspond to locally trivial deformations of Y over  $S[\varepsilon] := \operatorname{Spec} R[\varepsilon]$  extending  $\mathcal{Y}$ . Now the proof works as the one of Lemma I.2.3.

ad (2): This is [**Ser06**, Prop 3.4.17].

## 

## I.4. Deformations of morphisms with fixed target

Let  $i: Y \to X$  be a k-morphism of algebraic k-schemes Y, X. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in Art_k$  and  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ .

DEFINITION I.4.1. A deformation of i with target X over S is a diagram



where  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is flat, together with an isomorphism  $\mathcal{Y} \times_S \operatorname{Spec} R/\mathfrak{m} \to Y$ such that  $I \times_S \operatorname{Spec} R/\mathfrak{m} \cong i$  under this isomorphism. If *i* is a closed immersion, the diagram (I.4.1) is also called a *deformation of Y as a subscheme of X* over *R*. An isomorphism between deformations of *i* with target *X* is defined in the obvious way. The functor

 $D_{i/X}$ : Art<sub>k</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Set,  $R \mapsto \{ \text{deformations of } i \text{ over } S \text{ with target } X \} / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of deformations* of *i* with target X. A deformation  $I : \mathcal{Y} \to X \times_k S$  as in (I.4.1) is called (Zariski) locally trivial, if for every  $y \in Y$  there is an open subset  $V \subseteq Y$  with  $y \in V$  and an isomorphism



In other words,  $I : \mathcal{Y} \to X \times_k S$  induces the trivial deformation on V. The functor  $D_{i/X}^{\mathrm{lt}} : \mathrm{Art}_k \to \mathrm{Set}$ ,

 $R \mapsto \{\text{locally trivial deformations of } i \text{ over } S \text{ with target } X \} / \sim$ 

where  $\sim$  is the relation of isomorphism, is called *functor of locally trivial* deformations of *i* with target X.

Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a closed immersion of proper algebraic k-schemes X and Y. The following satement is proven in [Ser06, Cor 3.2.2] for deformations of i with target X. The case of locally trivial deformations is proven in the same way.

PROPOSITION I.4.2. If  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper k-schemes. Then the functors  $D_{i/X}$  and  $D_{i/X}^{\text{lt}}$  are prorepresentable.

Let  $0 \to J \to R' \to R \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ . Let  $i: Y \to X$  be a closed immersion of proper algebraic k-schemes X and Y and



be a deformation i over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . As tangent and obstruction spaces will serve

(I.4.2) 
$$T^{1}_{I/X/R} := R^{0} f_{*} N_{\mathcal{Y}/X \times S}, \quad T^{1} := T^{1}_{i/X/k} = H^{0}(Y, N_{Y/X}),$$
$$T^{2} := H^{1}(Y, N_{Y/X}).$$

As in [Ser06, Prop 3.2.1] one constructs a natural map

(I.4.3) 
$$T^1_{I/X/R} \to D_{i/X}(R[\varepsilon])_I$$

where  $D_{i/X}(R[\varepsilon])_I$  is the fiber over I in the sense of Definition I.1.4.

LEMMA I.4.3. There is a natural isomorphism  $T^1 \xrightarrow{\cong} t_{D_{i/X}}$ . More precisely the following holds. Let  $I' : \mathcal{Y}' \hookrightarrow X \times S'$  be a deformation of i with fixed target X over  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  such that  $I' \times_{S'} S = I$ . Then: (1) The map  $T^1_{I/X/R} \to D_{i/X}(R[\varepsilon])_I$  from (I.4.3) is a bijection and the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} T^{1}_{I'/X/R'} & \longrightarrow & T^{1}_{I/X/R} \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ D_{i/X}(R'[\varepsilon])_{I'} & \longrightarrow & D_{i/X}(R[\varepsilon])_{I'} \end{array}$$

is commutative, where we obtain  $T^1_{I'/X/R'} \to T^1_{I/X/R}$  by applying  $R^0 f_*$  to the natural map  $N_{\mathcal{Y}'/X \times S'} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/X \times S}$ .

(2) Assume that *i* is a regular embedding. Then there are natural maps  $D_{i/X}(R) \to T^2 \otimes J$  such that

$$D_{i/X}(R') \to D_{i/X}(R) \to T^2 \otimes J$$

is an exact sequence of pointed sets. Furthermore, for every diagram

of small extensions the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} D_{i/X}(R'_1) & \longrightarrow & D_{i/X}(R_1) & \longrightarrow & T^2 \otimes J_1 \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ D_{i/X}(R'_2) & \longrightarrow & D_{i/X}(R_2) & \longrightarrow & T^2 \otimes J_2 \end{array}$$

commutes.

PROOF. ad (1): We will show more generally that given an arbitrary deformation  $I : \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  of *i* over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  there is a natural bijection between  $R^0 f_* N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  and the set of isomorphism classes of deformations of *I* over  $R[\varepsilon]$ . The proof is a straight forward generalization of [Ser06, Prop 3.2.1(ii)]. As for R = k one reduces to the case where  $\mathcal{Y}$  and  $\mathcal{X}$  are affine. Assume  $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec} A$ ,  $\mathcal{Y} = \operatorname{Spec} B$  and B = A/I where  $I = (f_1, \ldots, f_N)$ . Consider the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow A^N \longrightarrow I \longrightarrow 0$$

where the standard basis of  $A^N$  maps to the generators of I and M is the module of relations. We write  $(r_1, \ldots, r_N)$  for an element of  $M \subseteq A^N$ . Taking  $\operatorname{Hom}_A(\cdot, B)$  we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}_A(I, B) \to \operatorname{Hom}_A(A^N, B) \xrightarrow{\varphi} \operatorname{Hom}_A(M, B).$$

Here we observe that

$$\ker \varphi \cong \operatorname{Hom}_A(I,B) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_A(I/I^2,B) \cong R^0 f_* N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$$

and  $\operatorname{Hom}_A(A^N, B) \cong B^N$ . An element of ker  $\varphi \subseteq B^N$  can be represented by an N-tuple  $(h_1, \ldots, h_N) \in A^N$  with

$$\sum_{i} h_i r_i \in I \text{ for every } (r_1, \dots, r_N) \in M.$$

This means that we find  $s_1, \ldots, s_N \in A$  with

$$\sum_{i} h_i r_i = -\sum_{i} f_i s_i$$

or equivalently,

$$\sum_{i} (f_i + \varepsilon h_i) \cdot (r_i + \varepsilon s_i) = 0$$

in  $A \otimes_R R[\varepsilon]$ . Then it follows from Corollary A.1.3 that the ideal

$$(f_1 + \varepsilon h_1, \dots, f_N + \varepsilon h_N) \subseteq A \otimes_R R[\varepsilon]$$

defines a first-order deformation of  $\mathcal{Y}$  as a subscheme of  $\mathcal{X}$ , because every relation among the  $f_i$  extends to a relation among the  $f_i + \varepsilon h_i$ . As all arguments may be reversed, we obtain the other direction. ad (2): This is [Ser06, Prop 3.2.6].

In the same way one shows the following

LEMMA I.4.4. If (I.4.2) is replaced with

(I.4.4) 
$$T^{1}_{I/X/R} = R^{0} f_{*} N'_{\mathcal{Y}/X \times S}, \quad T^{1} := T^{1}_{i/X/k} = H^{0}(Y, N'_{Y/X}),$$
$$T^{2} = H^{1}(Y, N'_{Y/X}),$$

where  $N'_{Y/X}$  is the equisingular normal sheaf defined in section I.3.2, the analogous statements to Lemma I.4.3 hold for locally trivial deformations of *i* with fixed target *X*, i.e. with  $D_{i/X}$  replaced by  $D^{\text{lt}}_{i/X}$  everywhere.  $\Box$ 

REMARK I.4.5. There are natural morphisms  $D_{i/X} \to D_i$  and  $D_i \to D_X$ of functors. They preserve local triviality and therefore induce morphisms  $D_{i/X}^{\text{lt}} \to D_i^{\text{lt}}$  and  $D_i^{\text{lt}} \to D_X^{\text{lt}}$  of functors.

### I.5. Deformation theory in the analytic category

Some general remarks about the comparison between the algebraic and the analytic category are in order. As already mentioned, the deformation functors discussed may also be defined in the category of complex spaces and analogues of the results of the previous sections hold true in this context as well.

20

If  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  is an algebraic S-scheme where  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , one can associate a complex S-space  $g^{\operatorname{an}}: \mathcal{X}^{\operatorname{an}} \to S$  to it. Note that  $S^{\operatorname{an}} = S$ as a locally ringed space for every Artinian S-scheme. As  $T_{\mathcal{X}/S}^{\operatorname{an}} = T_{\mathcal{X}^{\operatorname{an}}/S}$ the natural map  $R^i g_* T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^i g_*^{\operatorname{an}} T_{\mathcal{X}^{\operatorname{an}}/S}$  is an isomorphism for proper g by [SGA1, Exp XII, Thm 4.2]. The functor  $\mathcal{X} \mapsto \mathcal{X}^{\operatorname{an}}$  induces natural transformations

$$(I.5.1) D_X \to D_{X^{\mathrm{an}}}, D_i \to D_{i^{\mathrm{an}}}, D_{i/X} \to D_{i^{\mathrm{an}}/X^{\mathrm{an}}}.$$

When  $k = \mathbb{C}$  one may also define functors  $D_X^{\text{lt}}, D_i^{\text{lt}}$  and  $D_{i/X}^{\text{lt}}$  where Y and X are complex spaces and  $i: Y \to X$  is a morphism of complex spaces. In the definition of local triviality, the sets U and V from Definitions I.2.1, I.3.1 and I.4.1 are requested to be open sets in the Euclidean topology instead.

LEMMA I.5.1. Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a closed immersion of proper algebraic  $\mathbb{C}$ -schemes, let X be smooth and let Y be a reduced locally complete intersection. Then the morphism

$$\operatorname{an}: D_i^{\operatorname{lt}} \longrightarrow D_{i^{\operatorname{an}}}^{\operatorname{lt}}$$

from (I.5.1) is an isomorphism of functors.

PROOF. We put  $D := D_i^{\text{lt}}, D^{\text{an}} := D_{i^{\text{an}}}^{\text{lt}}$  and write  $T^1$  and  $T^2$  for tangent and obstruction spaces of  $D_i^{\text{lt}}$ , see Lemma I.3.4. Let  $R \in \text{Art}_k$ . We will show by induction on the length  $\lg(R)$  that  $\operatorname{an}_R : D(R) \to D^{\text{an}}(R)$  is an isomorphism. Let  $0 \to J \to R \xrightarrow{p} R'' \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$ . Consider the diagram

We have a simply transitive action of  $T^1 \otimes J$  on the fibers of  $D(R) \to D(R'')$ , a simply transitive action of  $(T^1)^{\operatorname{an}} \otimes J$  on the fibers of  $D^{\operatorname{an}}(R) \to D^{\operatorname{an}}(R'')$ and an isomorphism  $T^1 \otimes J \to (T^1)^{\operatorname{an}} \otimes J$  such that  $\operatorname{an}_R$  is equivariant. Now the claim follows from a version of the five-lemma for pointed sets, where we use the group actions and the fact that  $\operatorname{an}_{R''}$  is an isomorphism by induction.

REMARK I.5.2. The proof above is quite general. It shows, roughly speaking, that deformation functors with the same tangent and obstruction spaces are isomorphic. Therefore it also holds, when  $D_i^{\text{lt}}$  is replaced by one of the following functors and the below-mentioned assumptions hold.

#### I. DEFORMATION THEORY

- $D_X^{\text{lt}}$ , where X is a proper k-scheme, which is a reduced, locally complete intersection.
- $D_{i/X}$ , where  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper k-schemes, Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth.
- $D_{i/X}^{\text{lt}}$ , where  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper k-schemes, Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth.

Furthermore, we see that the notion of local triviality does not depend on whether one uses Zariski or Euclidean open sets to define it, as long as one sticks to deformations over local Artin algebras.

**I.5.3.** Universality of deformations. We will conclude this chapter with some more terminology. Let  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  be a flat morphism of complex spaces or algebraic schemes and fix a closed point  $0 \in M$ . We call  $\pi$  or  $\mathfrak{X}$  a *deformation* of  $X = \pi^{-1}(0)$ . If M is the spectrum of an object in  $\operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , this definition clearly coincides with Definition I.2.1 or rather with its analogue in the analytic category. Let now

$$R = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M,0}} \in \widehat{\operatorname{Art}}_{\mathbb{C}}$$

be the completion of  $\mathcal{O}_{M,0}$  at 0 and  $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq R$  be the maximal ideal. Taking the limit

$$\lim_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mathfrak{X}\times_R R/\mathfrak{m}^n$$

defines a formal element  $u \in \widehat{D}_X(R)$ .

DEFINITION I.5.4. We say that the deformation  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  is universal at 0 respectively versal at 0 respectively semi-universal at 0, if u is a universal respectively versal respectively semi-universal formal element in the sense of Definition I.1.2. Furthermore, we call  $\pi$  universal respectively versal respectively semi-universal, if it has this property for every point  $t \in M$ . Sometimes, we call  $\mathfrak{X}$  instead of  $\pi$  universal or versal or semi-universal. The base space M of a universal deformation is sometimes called the universal deformations.

If  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  is universal at 0, then the ring  $R_X = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M,0}}$  prorepresents the functor  $D_X$ . We spell this out in a special case of deformations of a closed immersion in Lemma VI.3.4. Similar statements also hold true for deformations of other types of objects and similar terminology is applied.

22

## CHAPTER II

## Weil restriction and Hodge theory over an Artin ring

In this chapter we axiomatize the Hodge theory of locally trivial deformations  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  of an algebraic variety Y over an Artinian scheme  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ , where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . We introduce the notion of a *mixed Hodge structure over* R, see Definition II.2.1. Similar to an ordinary mixed Hodge structure, it consists of a free R-module H, which has a real structure, together with two filtrations on H and conditions on their graded objects. This concept plays a major role in the proofs of our main results. As far as we know, it has not been studied before. Mixed Hodge structures over R are intermediate objects between ordinary mixed Hodge structures and variations of mixed Hodge structures. For  $R = \mathbb{C}$  we recover the notion of a mixed Hodge structure in the usual sense. In Chapter III we construct such a structure on the de Rham cohomology of a simple normal crossing variety, but the construction should be possible in greater generality.

The purpose of this concept is to carry out Hodge theoretic arguments infinitesimally. Concrete instances of this idea are treated in Chapter III, here we work out the abstract framework. The problem for  $R \neq \mathbb{C}$  is that there is no analogue of the complex conjugation on the *R*-module *H*. We will cure this by introducing the notion of a *mixed Hodge-Weil structure over* R', where R' is now a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{R}$ . This notion is a formalization of the Weil restriction of a mixed Hodge structure over *R* and there is a canonical complex conjugation.

The foundations of the modern theory of Weil restriction were laid by Grothendieck in [**Gro59**, **Gro60**]. In our special case Weil restriction is a process of associating an  $\mathbb{R}$ -scheme  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  to a  $\mathbb{C}$ -scheme S such that the  $\mathbb{R}$ -valued points of  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  are exactly the  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued points of S. Of course, the correct way to phrase this is the language of functors and representability. However, we think of Weil restriction simply as the algebro-geometric analogue of the process of regarding a complex manifold as a differentiable manifold.

We extend the concept of Weil restriction to modules. We are not aware that this has been done systematically before. Nevertheless, it is an elementary byproduct of the functorial treatment of Weil restriction. The purpose of this is to be able to study the properties of a mixed Hodge structure over Ron an R-module H through the mixed Hodge-Weil structure on  $H_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  over  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  obtained by Weil restriction. Therefore, we establish some comparison results between R-modules and their Weil restrictions.

Let us begin with the discussion of the theory of Weil restriction.

## II.1. Weil restriction

Let  $S \xrightarrow{f} Z \xrightarrow{p} W$  be morphisms of schemes and consider the functor

(II.1.1) 
$$\underline{S_{Z/W}}: (\mathrm{Sch/W})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathrm{Set}, \quad S' \mapsto \mathrm{Mor}_{\mathrm{Sch/Z}}(S' \times_W Z, S).$$

In fact, we have  $\operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\operatorname{S'}\times\operatorname{WZ}}(S'\times_W Z, S\times_W Z) = \operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\operatorname{Z}}(S'\times_W Z, S)$ , which follows from the universal property of the fiber product. Therefore, the functor  $S_{Z/W}$  coincides with the one defined by Grothendieck in [**Gro59**, C.2, pp.12]. The functor  $S_{Z/W}$  is representable in the following cases.

- (1) If  $S \to Z$  is proper and flat and  $S \to W$  is quasiprojective, this functor is representable by [**Gro60**, 4.c., p.20] by a W-scheme  $S_{Z/W}$ .
- (2) Suppose that  $Z \to W$  is finite and locally free, i.e. finite, flat and of finite presentation, and that moreover for each  $x \in W$  and each finite set of points  $P \subseteq S \times_W k(x)$  there is an affine open  $U \subseteq S$ containing P. Then  $S_{Z/W}$  is representable by an W-scheme  $S_{Z/W}$ by [**BLR90**, 7.6, Thm 4].

The W-scheme  $S_{Z/W}$  is called the Weil restriction of S.

**II.1.1. Properties of Weil restriction.** We will collect some properties of the process of Weil restriction. If not otherwise stated, proofs are found in [**BLR90**, Ch 7.6]. Recall that a presheaf of sets on Sch/Z is a functor  $(\text{Sch/Z})^{\text{op}} \rightarrow \text{Set}$ . The category of presheaves of sets on Sch/Z is denoted by Psh(Z). By the Yoneda embedding a Z-scheme S may be interpreted as a prescheaf of sets on Sch/Z via

$$\underline{S} : (\operatorname{Sch}/\operatorname{Z})^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Set}, \quad T \mapsto \operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\operatorname{Z}}(T, S).$$

We will not distinguish between S and <u>S</u>. There is a notion of pushforward of presheaves along the morphism  $p: Z \to W$ . Pushforward is the functor

$$p_* : \operatorname{Psh}(Z) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Psh}(W), \quad F \mapsto (S' \mapsto F(S' \times_W Z))$$

and it coincides with Weil restriction on the full subcategory Sch/Z, i.e.  $S_{Z/W} = p_*S$ . Representability means that

(II.1.2) 
$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}/Z}(S' \times_W Z, S) = \operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}/W}(S', S_{Z/W}).$$

In other words,  $S \mapsto S_{Z/W}$  is right adjoint to the pullback  $S' \mapsto p^*S' = S' \times_W Z$ . In particular for a Z-scheme S there is a canonical morphism  $\eta: S_{Z/W} \times_W Z \longrightarrow S$ . If  $p: Z \longrightarrow W$  is proper, flat and of finite presentation, then  $p_*$  preserves open and closed immersions.

We will now specialize to  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$  and  $W = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{R}$ . In this case every quasi-projective  $\mathbb{C}$ -scheme S has a Weil restriction. We write  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  instead of  $S_{Z/W}$ . The functor  $p_*$  sends affine schemes to affine schemes, in other words,  $p_*S$  is representable by an affine scheme  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . If  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  we will write  $R_{Z/W}$  for the coordinate ring of  $S_{Z/W}$ . Equation (II.1.2) in particular gives  $S(\mathbb{C}) = S_{Z/W}(\mathbb{R})$ . If  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ , the morphism  $\eta$  from the adjointness property gives a canonical ring homomorphism  $\eta : R \to R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ .

Let  $S = \bigcup_i U_i$  be a covering by open affine subschemes, such that for given  $t_1, t_2 \in S$  there is an index  $i_0$  with  $t_1, t_2 \in U_{i_0}$ . The proof of representability in [**BLR90**, 7.6, Thm 4] shows that under this assumption the  $(U_i)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  will cover  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . For  $R = \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]/(f_1, \ldots, f_k)$  we have

(II.1.3) 
$$R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R}[x_1, y_1, \dots, x_n, y_n]/(g_1, h_1, \dots, g_k, h_k)$$

where  $f_j = g_j + ih_j$  when we evaluate at  $z_k = x_k + iy_k$ .

If we define  $\overline{S} := S \times_{\sigma} \mathbb{C}$  where  $\sigma : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  is the complex conjugation then (II.1.2) tells us that there is a canonical isomorphism  $\overline{S}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \cong S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  and by [**Sch94**, Ch 1, 4.11.3] there is a canonical isomorphism  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \to S \times_{\mathbb{C}} \overline{S}$ such that  $\eta$  is identified with projection on the first factor. In particular,  $\eta$ is faithfully flat as the projection  $S \times_{\mathbb{C}} \overline{S} \to S$  is faithfully flat.

LEMMA II.1.2. If R is a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra with residue field isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}$ , then  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra with residue field isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. By (II.1.3) we see that  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra of finite type. A maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m} \subset R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  will define a homomorphism  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}/\mathfrak{m} = k$ , where k is a finite field extension of  $\mathbb{R}$  by Hilbert's Nullstellensatz. So  $k = \mathbb{R}$ or  $\mathbb{C}$ . By the defining property of Weil restriction we have  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}) =$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(R,\mathbb{C})$  and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(R,\mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(R,\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C})$ both of which consist of one element. But the composition of the morphism  $R \to \mathbb{R}$  with the inclusion  $\mathbb{R} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  is the unique morphism  $R \to \mathbb{C}$ . Thus,  $R_{\mathbb{R}}$  is a local ring with unique maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  and residue field  $\mathbb{R}$ . As  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is of finite type,  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = P/I$  where P is a polynomial ring and  $I \subseteq P$  an ideal. The preimage  $\mathfrak{n}$  of  $\mathfrak{m}$  under the natural map  $P \to R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is the unique maximal ideal of P containing I. Let  $I \subseteq \mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}$  be a minimal prime ideal containing I. As P is a Jacobson ring by the general form of the Nullstellensatz, see [**Eis95**, Thm 4.19], the ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  is the intersection of maximal ideals, so that  $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{n}$ . Taking a primary decomposition of I we see that  $\mathfrak{n}^k \subseteq I$  for some k, so  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = P/I$  is Artinian.  $\Box$ 

DEFINITION II.1.3. Let S be a  $\mathbb{C}$ -scheme, F be a quasi-coherent sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_S$ -modules, denote by  $q: S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  the canonical projection and let  $\eta: S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow S$  be as in II.1.1. We define the  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ -module

$$F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} := q_* \eta^* F$$

and call it the Weil restriction of F.

If  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  and M is an R-module, then  $M_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = M \otimes_R (R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ considered as an  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  module. In the special case  $M = H \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R$  for some  $\mathbb{C}$ -vector space H, we find  $M_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = H \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . Weil restriction for modules has the following useful property.

LEMMA II.1.4. The functor  $F \mapsto F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is faithfully exact, i.e. the sequence  $K' \to K \to K''$  is exact if and only if  $K'_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to K_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to K''_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is exact.

PROOF. The morphism  $\eta$  is faithfully flat as noted at the end of section II.1.1. Therefore,  $\eta^*$  is faithfully exact. Also  $q_*$  is faithfully exact, as q is affine.

LEMMA II.1.5. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  be a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra and F be a finitely generated R-module. Then F is a free R-module if and only if  $F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is a free  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ -module.

PROOF. We will argue separately for  $\eta^*$  and  $q_*$ . For brevity we write  $(R', \mathfrak{m}')$  instead of  $(R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{m}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_R \mathbb{C})$ . Clearly  $\eta^* F = F \otimes_R R'$  is free, if F is. Suppose  $\eta^* F$  is free. We take a minimal set of generators for F and obtain a surjection  $\varphi : R^n \to F$  for some n. By Nakayama's Lemma  $n = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} F \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m}$  and as  $F \otimes_R R' \otimes_{R'} R'/\mathfrak{m}' = F \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m} \otimes_{R/\mathfrak{m}} R'/\mathfrak{m}'$  this is the rank of  $\eta^* F$ . But as  $\eta^*$  is faithfully exact,  $\eta^* \ker \varphi = \ker \eta^* \varphi = 0$ . So  $\ker \varphi = 0$  and F is free.

Let F' be an R'-module. If F' is free as an R'-module, then it is free as an  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ -module, for R' is free over  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . Suppose F' is free as an  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ module. Since F' is an  $R' = R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ -module, the submodule  $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}F'$ is a  $\mathbb{C}$ -vector space. Thus  $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}F' = \mathfrak{m}'F'$ . If we take  $x_1, \ldots, x_k \in F'$ whose residue classes modulo  $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  form a  $\mathbb{C}$ -basis of  $F'/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}F'$ , then F is freely generated over  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  by  $x_1, ix_1, \ldots, x_k, ix_k$ . In other words, F is freely generated over R' by  $x_1, \ldots, x_k$ . So F' is a free R'-module.

EXAMPLE II.1.6. For the projective space  $S = \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$  of lines in  $\mathbb{C}^2$  one finds that  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is isomorphic over  $\mathbb{R}$  to the quadric Q in  $\mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$  given by

$$x_1 x_2 - x_0^2 - x_3^2 = 0.$$

To verify this, take the universal line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$ . It fits into an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L} \to \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_S \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$$

of locally free sheaves on S. Taking the Weil restriction of this sequence, we obtain the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to q_* \left( \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{S'} \right) \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to 0,$$

locally free sheaves on  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $S' = S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  and  $q : S' \to S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is the canonical morphism. Moreover,

$$q_*\left(\mathbb{C}^2\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{O}_{S'}
ight)=\mathbb{C}^2\otimes_{\mathbb{R}}\mathcal{O}_{S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}}$$

and  $\operatorname{rk}\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = 2$ . So  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  parametrizes 2-dimensional real subspaces in  $\mathbb{C}^2$  and we obtain a classifying morphism  $\varphi : S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to \operatorname{Gr}(2,4)_{\mathbb{R}}$  to the corresponding Grassmanian. By construction,  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  parametrizes exactly those 2-dimensional subspaces, which are complex lines, hence  $\varphi$  is injective. To see that  $\varphi$  is a closed embedding, it suffices to show that its set-theoretical image is a smooth closed subvariety. We fix the  $\mathbb{R}$ -basis  $e_1, ie_1, e_2, ie_2$  where  $e_1, e_2$  are the standard basis vectors of  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Consider a real plane  $W \subseteq \mathbb{C}^2$  spanned by two vectors

$$w = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \beta_1 \\ \alpha_2 \\ \beta_2 \end{pmatrix}, \ w' = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_3 \\ \beta_3 \\ \alpha_4 \\ \beta_4 \end{pmatrix} \in W$$

and let  $\operatorname{Gr}(2,4)_{\mathbb{R}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^5_{\mathbb{R}}$  be the Plücker embedding. The Plücker coordinates of the point W are exactly the 2 × 2-minors of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & \beta_1 & \alpha_2 & \beta_2 \\ \alpha_3 & \beta_3 & \alpha_4 & \beta_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

If W is a complex line in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , then we can choose an  $\mathbb{R}$ -basis of W of the form w, w' with w' = iw. Thus, the Plücker coordinates of W are the  $2 \times 2$  minors of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & \beta_1 & \alpha_2 & \beta_2 \\ -\beta_1 & \alpha_1 & -\beta_2 & \alpha_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

These are

$$m_{12} = \alpha_1^2 + \beta_1^2 \qquad m_{13} = -\alpha_1\beta_2 + \alpha_2\beta_1 \qquad m_{14} = \alpha_1\alpha_2 + \beta_1\beta_2$$
$$m_{23} = -\alpha_1\alpha_2 - \beta_1\beta_2 \qquad m_{24} = -\alpha_1\beta_2 + \alpha_2\beta_1 \qquad m_{34} = \alpha_2^2 + \beta_2^2.$$

We observe that  $m_{14} = -m_{23}$  and  $m_{13} = m_{24}$ . These two equations cut out a  $\mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{R}} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^5_{\mathbb{R}}$ , which contains the image of  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . If we eliminate  $m_{14}$  and  $m_{24}$ , then the usual Plücker quartic

$$m_{12}m_{34} - m_{13}m_{24} + m_{14}m_{23} = 0$$

takes the form  $m_{12}m_{34} - m_{13}^2 - m_{23}^2 = 0$ , which is what we claimed up to renaming the variables. A calculation shows that there are no additional relations. Note, that indeed  $Q \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}} \times_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{P}^1_C$  so  $S_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \cong S \times \overline{S}$  as claimed in section II.1.1.

The usage of Weil restriction here may be seen as an analogue of the process of regarding a complex manifold as a differentiable manifold. The points in complex space of the former correspond to points in real space of the latter.

## II.2. Hodge-Weil theory

We introduce the notion of mixed Hodge structure and mixed Hodge-Weil structure *over an Artin ring*. The term *mixed Hodge structure* with no further decoration will always stand for the classical notion, which we recorded in Definition B.1.2.

DEFINITION II.2.1. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{C}$ . A mixed Hodge structure over R is a triple  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet}, W_{\bullet})$ , which consists of a finite dimensional  $\mathbb{R}$ -vectorspace  $H_{\mathbb{R}}$  and two filtrations  $F^{\bullet}$  and  $W_{\bullet}$  on  $H := (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R$ . These are a finite decreasing filtration

$$H \supseteq \ldots \supseteq F^p \supseteq F^{p+1} \supseteq \ldots \supseteq 0$$

and a finite increasing filtration

$$0 \subseteq \ldots \subseteq W_m \subseteq W_{m+1} \subseteq \ldots \subseteq H$$

satisfying the following properties.

- (1) All graded objects  $\operatorname{Gr}_{F}^{p}\operatorname{Gr}_{m}^{W}H$  are free *R*-modules.
- (2) The fiber  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{C} = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}, F^{\bullet} \otimes_R \mathbb{C}, W_{\bullet} \otimes_R \mathbb{C})$  over the unique point of  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  is a mixed Hodge structure.

Note, that condition (1) implies that the  $W_m$  and the  $F^p$  are free *R*-modules. We will also call  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{C}$  the *central fiber* of  $\mathcal{H}$ . In case  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{C}$  is a pure Hodge structure of weight k, we call  $\mathcal{H}$  a *pure Hodge structure* over R of weight k.

28

By Lemma A.2.3 the freeness of  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p H$  and  $\operatorname{Gr}_m^W H$  is automatic as soon as  $F^p H$  and  $W_m H$  are free. However the following example shows that freeness of  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p \operatorname{Gr}_m^W H$  is not automatic.

EXAMPLE II.2.2. We take  $R = \mathbb{C}[t]/t^2$  and  $H_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R}^3$ . We define a Hodge filtration and weight filtration on  $H = H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R = R^3$  as follows.

$$H = F^0 \supseteq F^1 = \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1+t\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\i \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle \supseteq F^2 = \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\i \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle$$

and

$$H = W_1 \supseteq W_0 = \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle$$

where  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  denotes the *R*-span and all other  $F^p$ ,  $W_m$  are zero. A calculation shows that indeed  $(H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^p/t, W_m/t)$  is a mixed Hodge structure with  $h^{1,0} = h^{0,1} = h^{0,0} = 1$  as only non-zero Hodge numbers. But

$$W_0 \cap F^1 = \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} t \\ t \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle,$$

which is not a free module. As  $W_0 \cap F^2 = 0 = W_{-1}$  we have  $W_0 \cap F^1 = F^1 \operatorname{Gr}_0^W = \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 \operatorname{Gr}_0^W$  and  $(H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet}, W_{\bullet})$  does not define a mixed Hodge structure over R.

DEFINITION II.2.3. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -Algebra and  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F, W)$ ,  $\mathcal{H}' = (H'_{\mathbb{R}}, F', W')$  be mixed Hodge structures over R. A morphism of mixed Hodge structures over R is a linear map  $f_{\mathbb{R}} : H_{\mathbb{R}} \to H'_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that the induced morphism  $f = f_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes \operatorname{id}_R : H \to H'$  preserves both filtrations, i.e.  $f(F^p) \subseteq F^{p'}$  and  $f(W_m) \subseteq W_m'$ . Here again  $H = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R$  and H' is defined analogously. We will often call f instead of  $f_{\mathbb{R}}$  a morphism of mixed Hodge structures over R when there is no danger of confusion.

Remark II.2.4. -

(1) If  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F, W)$  is a pure Hodge structure of weight k over an Artin ring R, then Nakayama's Lemma implies that W is a trivial filtration, i.e.  $H = W_k \supseteq W_{k-1} = 0$ . We will therefore suppress W in the notation and speak of a pure Hodge structure  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F)$  over R.

(2) There is a complex conjugation  $H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \to H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $\overline{h \otimes \lambda} := h \otimes \overline{\lambda}$ . However this does not canonically extend to an  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear map  $H \to H$ , as H is a tensor product over  $\mathbb{C}$  and complex conjugation is only  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear.

The notion of a mixed Hodge structure over R is an infinitesimal version of a variation of mixed Hodge structures. The problem in replacing the base manifold S of the variation with an Artin ring R (or rather its spectrum  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ ) is that there is just one point in S and simply asking the fiber over that point to be a mixed Hodge structure is not enough for our purposes. It is known that the (pointwise) complex conjugates  $\overline{F^p}$  of the Hodge filtration of a variation of Hodge structures do not in general form holomorphic vector bundles in case S is a complex manifold. This is because there is no analogue of the complex conjugate of an holomorphic vector bundle in the algebraic category. To have a substitute we introduce the following notion.

DEFINITION II.2.5. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{R}$ . A mixed Hodge-Weil structure over R is a triple  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet}, W_{\bullet})$ , which consists of a finite dimensional  $\mathbb{R}$ -vectorspace  $H_{\mathbb{R}}$  and two filtrations  $F^{\bullet}$  and  $W_{\bullet}$  on  $H := (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R$ . These are a finite decreasing filtration

$$H \supseteq \ldots \supseteq F^p \supseteq F^{p+1} \supseteq \ldots \supseteq 0$$

and a finite increasing filtration

$$0 \subseteq \ldots \subseteq W_m \subseteq W_{m+1} \subseteq \ldots \subseteq H$$

satisfying the following properties.

- (1) All graded objects  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p \operatorname{Gr}_m^W H$  are free *R*-modules.
- (2) The fiber  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{R} = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}, F^{\bullet} \otimes_R \mathbb{R}, W_{\bullet} \otimes_R \mathbb{R})$  over the unique point of  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  is a mixed Hodge structure.

Note, that as in Definition II.2.1 condition (1) implies that the  $W_m$  and the  $F^p$  are free *R*-modules. We will also call  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{R}$  the *central fiber* of  $\mathcal{H}$ . In case  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{C}$  is a pure Hodge structure of weight k, we call  $\mathcal{H}$  a *pure* Hodge-Weil structure over R of weight k.

DEFINITION II.2.6. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -Algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{R}$ and  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F, W), \ \mathcal{H}' = (H'_{\mathbb{R}}, F', W')$  be mixed Hodge-Weil structures over R. A morphism of mixed Hodge-Weil structures over R is a linear map  $f : H_{\mathbb{R}} \to H'_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that the induced morphism  $f_R = f \otimes \operatorname{id}_R : H \to H'$ preserves both filtrations, i.e.  $f_R(F^p) \subseteq F^{p'}$  and  $f_R(W_m) \subseteq W_m'$ . Here

30
again  $H = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R$  and H' is defined analogously. We will write f instead of  $f_R$  when there is no danger of confusion.

Remark II.2.7. -

- (1) As in the Hodge-case, we write  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F)$  for a pure Hodge-Weil structure.
- (2) The complex conjugation  $H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  extends canonically to an  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear map  $H \longrightarrow H$ . Since morphisms of mixed Hodge-Weil structures are defined over  $\mathbb{R}$ , they are compatible with complex conjugation.

Recall that for a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -Algebra R the ring  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  is a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -Algebra with residue with residue field  $\mathbb{R}$  by Lemma II.1.2. Therefore the statement of the following Lemma makes sense.

LEMMA II.2.8. Let  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet}, W_{\bullet})$  be a mixed Hodge structure over a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -Algebra R. Then  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = \left(H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}, (W_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}})_{\bullet}\right)$  is a mixed Hodge-Weil structure over  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  and the central fibers of  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  are isomorphic as mixed Hodge structures. Moreover the Weil restriction of a morphism of mixed Hodge structures is a morphism of mixed Hodge-Weil structures.

**PROOF.** The remark after Definition II.1.3 tells us that

(II.2.1) 
$$H_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}.$$

By Lemma II.1.4 we see that the  $F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}^p$  and  $(W_m)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  are submodules of  $H_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = (H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . By Lemma II.1.5 the modules  $(\operatorname{Gr}_F^p \operatorname{Gr}_m^W H)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  are free and by Lemma II.1.4 they are the graded objects of the filtrations  $F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}^p$  and  $(W_m)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m}'$  be the maximal ideal of  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . As  $R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}/\mathfrak{m}' = \mathbb{R}$  we see from II.2.1 that  $H_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}/\mathfrak{m}' = H_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ . For the same reason  $F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}^p \otimes \mathbb{R} = F^p \otimes \mathbb{C}$  and  $(W_m)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes \mathbb{R} = W_m \otimes \mathbb{C}$  so that  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \otimes \mathbb{R}$  is a mixed Hodge structure. The proof also shows the statement about the central fibers and the statement about morphisms is immediate from the functoriality of the Weil restriction.  $\Box$ 

LEMMA II.2.9. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{R}$ -Algebra with residue field  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F^{\bullet})$  a pure Hodge-Weil structure of weight k. Then

(II.2.2)  $H = F^p \oplus \overline{F^{q+1}}, \qquad \forall p, q, p+q = k,$ 

(II.2.3) 
$$H = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H^{p,q}, \quad H^{p,q} = F^p \cap \overline{F^q}$$
 and

(II.2.4) 
$$F^p = \bigoplus_{r \ge p} H^{r,k-r}.$$

In particular the last statement implies that the  $H^{p,q}$  are free and lift the subquotients  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p H$  to subobjects of H.

PROOF. As  $\mathcal{H} \otimes_R \mathbb{R}$  is a pure Hodge structure, we have

$$H \otimes_R \mathbb{R} = F^p \otimes_R \mathbb{R} \oplus \overline{F^{q+1} \otimes_R \mathbb{R}} \quad \forall p, q, p+q = k.$$

Hence (II.2.2) follows from Nakayama's Lemma. Now (II.2.2) implies (II.2.3) just as in the case of ordinary Hodge structures. We will recall the proof. Let  $\alpha \in F^p \subseteq H$  and write  $\alpha = \beta + \gamma$  where  $\beta \in F^{p+1}$ ,  $\gamma \in \overline{F^{k-p}}$  according to  $H = F^{p+1} \oplus \overline{F^{k-p}}$ . Then  $\gamma = \alpha - \beta \in F^p \cap \overline{F^{k-p}} = H^{p,k-p}$ . This shows that  $F^p = F^{p+1} \oplus H^{p,q}$ , and (II.2.3) and (II.2.4) follow by induction on p.

LEMMA II.2.10. Let R be a local Artin  $\mathbb{C}$ -Algebra, let  $\mathcal{H} = (H_{\mathbb{R}}, F, W)$  and  $\mathcal{H}' = (H'_{\mathbb{R}}, F', W')$  be mixed Hodge structures over R and let  $f : H \to H'$  be a morphism of mixed Hodge structures over R. Then  $f^{p,q} := f|_{H^{p,q}}$  satisfies  $f^{p,q}(H^{p,q}) \subseteq (H')^{p,q}$  and  $f = \sum_{p,q} f^{p,q}$ . Moreover, all  $f^{p,q}$  have constant rank in the sense of Definition A.2.1.

PROOF. By (II.2.3) the image of  $f^{p,q}$  in contained in  $(H')^{p,q}$ , because f is defined over  $\mathbb{R}$  and preserves the Hodge filtration. Again, as f is defined over  $\mathbb{R}$  its cokernel is

$$\operatorname{coker} f = \operatorname{coker} \left( f_{\mathbb{R}} : H_{\mathbb{R}} \to H'_{\mathbb{R}} \right) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R,$$

so it is free. Then

$$\operatorname{coker} f = \bigoplus_{p,q} \operatorname{coker} f^{p,q}$$

implies that coker  $f^{p,q}$  is free. So the claim follows from Lemma A.2.2.

### CHAPTER III

## Mixed Hodge structures for normal crossing varieties

Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of a proper simple normal crossing  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety Y. We will construct a complex  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$ , which calculates the cohomology with coefficients in the constant sheaf  $\underline{R}_{Y^{\operatorname{an}}}$  on  $Y^{\operatorname{an}}$ . It may be seen as a replacement for the de Rham complex  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  for smooth f. In the absolute case  $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$ the complex  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{Y/\mathbb{C}}^{\bullet}$  has been studied in great detail. As in [Fri83, Lem 1.5], we will construct a resolution for  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{k}$  from a semi-simplicial resolution of  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  all of whose terms are smooth over S. For this in turn will show that the canonical resolution of the central fiber extends.

Using the resolution of the complex  $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  thus obtained, we contruct a mixed Hodge structure over R on  $H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}})$  where  $Y^{\mathrm{an}}$  denotes the complex space associated to Y. The construction is very explicit and is a direct generalization of the treatment in the absolute case  $R = \mathbb{C}$  described in [**GS75**, § 4].

We know that Hodge numbers of compact Kähler manifolds are constant in families. In [**Del68**] Deligne established among other things an algebraic analogue of this fact over arbitrary, in particular, over non-reduced base schemes. Deligne showed that for a smooth and proper morphism  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$  of algebraic schemes the  $\mathcal{O}_S$ -modules  $R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  are locally free and compatible with arbitrary base change. This serves as a basis to carry out the following Hodge theoretic arguments over Artinian schemes.

Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . We show in Theorem III.4.3 that for a smooth and proper morphism  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$ , a locally trivial deformation  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  of a proper simple normal crossing variety and an S-morphism  $i : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  the induced morphism

$$i^*: R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{V}/S}$$

has a free cokernel, or equivalently, has constant rank, see Definition A.2.1 and Lemma A.2.2. The essence of the argument can be captured by looking at the case where  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is smooth. In fact, also the proof is by reduction to the smooth case. There the morphism  $i^*$  from above is identified as a graded component of a certain morphism  $H_X \to H_Y$  of pure Hodge structures over R. Such morphisms have constant rank by Lemma II.2.10. After Weil restriction, the graded pieces can be lifted to direct summands and therefore have constant rank as well. The comparison results between Hodge and Hodge-Weil structures from Chapter II allow to conclude that  $i^*$  itself has constant rank.

## III.1. The complex $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S}$

DEFINITION III.1.1. Let  $\mathcal{Y}$  be an algebraic scheme, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a morphism of schemes. Assume that f is smooth on a dense open subset of  $\mathcal{Y}$ . We define the subsheaf  $\tau_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k \subseteq \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k$  to be the subsheaf of sections supported on the singular locus of  $Y = \mathcal{Y} \times_S k$ . By abuse of language we speak of it as the *torsion subsheaf* of  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k$ . We put  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k := \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k/\tau_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k$ . In the same way we define  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k$  when  $\mathcal{Y}$  is a complex space.

If  $\alpha \in \Omega^k_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  vanishes on  $Y^{\text{reg}}$ , then  $d\alpha$  vanishes there as well. Therefore,  $\tau^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \subseteq \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is a subcomplex and  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is a complex. Next we will show that irreducible components of a variety extend to flat subschemes on locally trivial deformations. This will take some commutative algebra.

LEMMA III.1.2. Let A be a reduced noetherian ring and  $\mathfrak{p}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{p}_n$  be the pairwise distinct minimal prime ideals of A. Then  $\operatorname{Ann} \mathfrak{p}_j = \bigcap_{i \neq j} \mathfrak{p}_i$  for each j.

PROOF. Let  $A_i = A/\mathfrak{p}_i$  and  $\phi : A \to A_1 \times \ldots \times A_n$  be the canonical map. It is injective, because  $\cap_i \mathfrak{p}_i = \operatorname{nil}(A) = 0$ . Suppose  $a \in \cap_{i \neq j} \mathfrak{p}_i$ ,  $b \in \mathfrak{p}_j$  and write  $\phi(a) = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$  and  $\phi(b) = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$ . Then  $\phi(ab) =$  $(a_1b_1, \ldots, a_nb_n) = 0$  because  $a_i = 0$  for  $i \neq j$  and  $b_j = 0$ . But  $\phi$  is injective, hence ab = 0, in other words  $a \in \operatorname{Ann} \mathfrak{p}_j$ , so  $\operatorname{Ann} \mathfrak{p}_j \supseteq \cap_{i \neq j} \mathfrak{p}_i$ .

Let  $a \in \operatorname{Ann} \mathfrak{p}_j$ . Then for every  $b \in \mathfrak{p}_j$  we have  $0 = \phi(ab) = (a_1b_1, \ldots, a_nb_n)$ in the above notation, where  $b_j = 0$ . As the  $\mathfrak{p}_i$  are minimal and pairwise distinct,  $\mathfrak{p}_j \setminus \mathfrak{p}_k \neq \emptyset$  for every  $k \neq j$ . If we fix k and choose  $b \in \mathfrak{p}_j \setminus \mathfrak{p}_k$ , then  $b_k \neq 0$ . So  $a_k b_k = 0$  implies that  $a_k = 0$  as  $A_k$  is an integral domain, so  $a \in \mathfrak{p}_k$ . Choosing different b we see that  $a \in \bigcap_{i \neq j} \mathfrak{p}_i$  completing the proof.  $\Box$ 

LEMMA III.1.3. Let A be a reduced noetherian ring,  $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$  be a minimal prime ideal and  $\psi : \mathfrak{p} \longrightarrow A/\mathfrak{p}$  be an A-module homomorphism. Then  $\psi = 0$ .

PROOF. Let  $\mathfrak{p}, \mathfrak{p}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{p}_n$  be the pairwise distinct minimal prime ideals of A and  $N := \operatorname{im} \psi \subseteq A/\mathfrak{p}$ . We will show that N = 0. By Lemma III.1.2 we have Ann  $\mathfrak{p} = \bigcap_i \mathfrak{p}_i$ . So  $\mathfrak{p} \notin \operatorname{supp}(\mathfrak{p}) = V(\operatorname{Ann} \mathfrak{p})$ , for otherwise  $\bigcap_i \mathfrak{p}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{p}$ 

34

35

and thus  $\mathfrak{p}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{p}$  for some *i* as  $\mathfrak{p}$  is prime, contradicting the fact that  $\mathfrak{p} \neq \mathfrak{p}_i$ and  $\mathfrak{p}$  is minimal. Thus,  $\mathfrak{p} \otimes_A A_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$  and the surjection

$$0 = \mathfrak{p} \otimes_A A_\mathfrak{p} \longrightarrow N \otimes_A A_\mathfrak{p}$$

yields that  $N_{\mathfrak{p}} = N \otimes_A A_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ . Therefore, N is torsion. This implies N = 0, as it is an  $A/\mathfrak{p}$ -submodule of the torsion-free module  $A/\mathfrak{p}$ .

LEMMA III.1.4. Let A be a reduced noetherian ring,  $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq A$  a minimal prime ideal,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and  $\mathfrak{P} \subseteq A \otimes_k R$  an ideal such that  $A \otimes_k R/\mathfrak{P}$  is a flat deformation of  $A/\mathfrak{p}$  over R. Then  $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{p} \otimes R$ .

PROOF. Let  $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq R$  be the maximal ideal. As R is Artinian, there is  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{m}^n = 0$ . So we may argue inductively and assume that  $\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{m}^k = \mathfrak{p} \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^k \subseteq A \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^k$ . By flatness, we obtain the commutative diagram

(III.1.1)

with exact rows and columns. If we denote the inclusion

$$\mathfrak{p} \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1} \hookrightarrow A \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$$

by  $\psi$ , then  $\varphi \circ \psi$  factors as

$$\begin{array}{c} A/\mathfrak{p} \otimes \mathfrak{m}^{k}/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1} \\ \downarrow^{\exists} & \downarrow^{\pi} \\ \mathfrak{p} \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1} \xrightarrow{\forall \circ \psi} A \otimes R/(\mathfrak{P} + \mathfrak{m}^{k+1}) \end{array}$$

Indeed, this can be seen as follows. Consider the commutative diagram

Then  $\chi \circ \varphi \circ \psi = 0$  as the bottom row is exact. Therefore  $\varphi \circ \psi$  factors through ker  $\chi$  as claimed.

Now observe that  $\mathfrak{p} \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1} \to A/\mathfrak{p} \otimes \mathfrak{m}^k/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$  is zero by Lemma III.1.3, hence so is  $\varphi \circ \psi$ . Therefore  $\psi$  factors through ker  $\varphi = \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$  as



But  $\mathfrak{p} \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$  becomes an isomorphism after tensoring with  $R/\mathfrak{m}^k$ , thus it is itself an isomorphism by flatness of  $\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$ , see [Ser06, Lem A.4].

LEMMA III.1.5. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of a reduced noetherian scheme Y over an Artinian base  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R, R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . Then the irreducible components  $Y_{\alpha}$  of Y lift uniquely to subschemes  $\mathcal{Y}_{\alpha} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{Y}$  flat over S. Moreover, each  $\mathcal{Y}_{\alpha}$  is a locally trivial deformation of  $Y_{\alpha}$ .

PROOF. Let  $Y = \bigcup_i U_i$  be an open affine covering of Y such that there are R-algebra isomorphisms  $\theta_i : A_i \otimes_k R \to \Gamma(U_i, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}})$  where  $A_i := \Gamma(U_i, \mathcal{O}_{Y})$ . An irreducible component  $Y_\alpha$  of Y gives a minimal prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}^i_\alpha$  in each  $A_i$ . We define  $\mathcal{Y}^i_\alpha$  to be the closed subscheme of  $\mathcal{Y}|_U$  whose ideal is  $\theta_i(\mathfrak{p}_\alpha)$ . Then  $\mathcal{Y}^i_\alpha$  is a flat lifting of  $Y_\alpha|_{U_i}$  for all i. Therefore, on  $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$  also  $\mathcal{Y}^j_\alpha|_{U_{ij}}$  is a flat lifting of  $Y_\alpha|_{U_{ij}}$  for all j. Then by Lemma III.1.4 we conclude that  $\mathcal{Y}^i_\alpha|_{U_{ij}} = \mathcal{Y}^j_\alpha|_{U_{ij}}$  and so the  $\mathcal{Y}^i_\alpha$  are the restrictions of a closed subscheme  $\mathcal{Y}_\alpha$  of  $\mathcal{Y}$ . The argument also shows that  $\mathcal{Y}_\alpha$  is unique.

### **III.2.** Semi-simplicial resolutions

We define the notion of a semi-simplicial resolution for locally trivial deformations of simple normal crossing varieties. For this we recall some standard notions. Fix an arbitrary category  $\mathscr{C}$ .

DEFINITION III.2.1. The semi-simplicial category  $\Delta$  is the category whose objects are the ordered sets  $[n] = \{0, \ldots, n\} \subseteq (\mathbb{N}_0, \leq)$  and whose morphisms are strictly increasing maps. A semi-simplicial object in  $\mathscr{C}$  is a functor  $X : \Delta^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathscr{C}$ . A semi-cosimplicial object in  $\mathscr{C}$  is a functor  $X : \Delta \to \mathscr{C}$ .

A semi-simplicial object in  $\mathscr{C}$  is given by objects  $Y^n := Y([n])$  in  $Ob \mathscr{C}$ and morphisms  $Y(\iota)$  for every  $\iota \in Mor \Delta$ . In  $\Delta$  there are exactly n + 1morphisms  $[n-1] \to [n]$ , all of them injective. So dually, there are morphisms  $d^j : Y^n \to Y^{n-1}$  for  $j = 0, \ldots, n$ . As every morphism  $[n] \to [m]$  in  $\Delta$  can be factored as  $[n] \to [n+1] \to \ldots \to [m]$ , a semi-simplicial object is determined by the objects  $Y^n$  and the morphisms  $d^j : Y^n \to Y^{n-1}$  between them. We will write  $Y^{\bullet}$  for a semi-simplicial object. An object Y in  $\mathscr{C}$  may be considered as a trivial semi-simplicial object, that is, as the simplicial object having  $Y^n = Y$  for all n and all  $d^j = \operatorname{id}_Y$ . Dual statements hold, if Y is a semi-cosimplicial object in  $\mathscr{C}$ .

A morphism of semi-simplicial objects is a natural transformation of functors. Such a morphism  $a: Y \to X$  is determined by a collection of morphisms  $a_k: Y^k \to X^k$  in  $\mathscr{C}$  compatible with the  $d^j$ . For a morphism  $a: Y^{\bullet} \to Y$  from a semi-simplicial object to a trivial semi-simplicial object the morphism  $a_m$  coincides with the composition

$$Y^m \xrightarrow{d^{i_1}} Y^{m-1} \xrightarrow{d^{i_2}} \dots \xrightarrow{d^{i_r}} Y^{m-r} \xrightarrow{a_{m-r}} Y, \quad 0 \le i_k \le m-k+1$$

for every choice of the  $i_k$ . We also say that  $a: Y^{\bullet} \to Y$  is an *augmentation* of  $Y^{\bullet}$  to Y or that  $Y^{\bullet}$  is *augmented* towards Y. We will also write an augmented semi-simplicial object  $Y^{\bullet} \to Y$  in the form

$$\ldots \Longrightarrow Y^{[1]} \rightrightarrows Y^{[0]} \to Y \; .$$

Finally, if  $\mathscr{C}$  is an additive category, we put

(III.2.1) 
$$\delta := \delta^n := \sum_{j=0}^n (-1)^j d^j : Y^n \to Y^{n-1}$$

for a semi-simplicial object  $Y_{\bullet}$  and

(III.2.2) 
$$\delta := \delta_{n-1} := \sum_{j=0}^{n} (-1)^{j} d_{j} : Y_{n-1} \to Y_{n}$$

for a semi-cosimplicial object  $Y_{\bullet}$ . A calculation shows that these make  $Y^{\bullet}$  and  $Y_{\bullet}$  into complexes.

DEFINITION III.2.2. Let S be a C-scheme and  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a proper scheme over S. A semi-simplicial resolution of  $\mathcal{Y}$  over S is a semi-simplicial Sscheme  $\mathcal{Y}^{\bullet}$  together with a morphism  $a : \mathcal{Y}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{Y}$  of semi-simplicial Sschemes such that all  $a_k : \mathcal{Y}^k \to \mathcal{Y}$  are proper and  $\mathcal{Y}^k \to S$  is smooth for all k.

Note that for  $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$  this definition does *not* coincide with Deligne's definition [**Del71**, **Del74**]. Deligne defines semi-simplicial resolutions for varieties over  $\mathbb{C}$ . In his definition such a resolution is *of cohomological descent*. He uses it to construct a functorial mixed Hodge structure on the cohomology an algebraic  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety. In this treatise, we do not need to include any properties in the definition of such a resolution as all our resolutions are

explicitly given. Moreover, we prove all our Hodge theoretical statements "by hand". However, we took Deligne's definition as a guideline, to see in practice which resolutions are the right ones to look at. Certainly, it requires further investigation to figure out a good class of *S*-schemes, where one can built a relative Hodge theory in the spirit of [**Del71**, **Del74**], see the discussion in section VIII.3.

III.2.3. Canonical resolution for locally trivial deformations of simple normal crossing varieties. Let Y be a proper simple normal crossing k-variety and let  $Y = \bigcup_i Y_i$  be a decomposition into irreducible components. By definition this means that the  $Y_i$  are smooth over k. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . Lemma III.1.5 allows us to write

$$\mathcal{Y} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{Y}_i$$

with flat S-schemes  $\mathcal{Y}_i$ . This union is a decomposition into irreducible components and  $\mathcal{Y}_i$  is a locally trivial deformation of  $Y_i$ . By flatness

$$\mathcal{Y}^{[0]} := \coprod_i \mathcal{Y}_i \to S$$

is smooth as well. For a subset  $I \subseteq [n]$  we put

(III.2.3) 
$$\mathcal{Y}^{I} := \bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{Y}_{i}, \quad \mathcal{Y}^{[k]} := \coprod_{|I|=k+1} \mathcal{Y}^{I}.$$

Here by  $\mathcal{Y}_i \cap \mathcal{Y}_j$  we denote the scheme  $\mathcal{Y}_i \times_{\mathcal{Y}} \mathcal{Y}_j$ . There exists one map  $a_k : \mathcal{Y}^{[k]} \to \mathcal{Y}$  over S and k + 1 canonical maps  $d_j : \mathcal{Y}^{[k]} \to \mathcal{Y}^{[k-1]}$  for  $j = 0, \ldots, k$  over S coming from the k + 1 inclusions  $[k] \hookrightarrow [k+1]$ . In other words, the collection of the  $\mathcal{Y}^{[k]}$  together with the  $d_j$  is a semi-simplicial S-scheme and the  $a_k$  form an augmentation of  $\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}$  to  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

LEMMA III.2.4. The semi-simplicial S-scheme  $\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}$  together with the augmentation  $a: \mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]} \to \mathcal{Y}$  is a semi-simplicial resolution of  $\mathcal{Y}$ . We call it the *canonical resolution* of  $\mathcal{Y}$  over S.

PROOF. We have to show that all  $\mathcal{Y}^{[m]} \to S$  are smooth morphisms. Lemma III.1.5 tells us (or rather the choice of  $\mathcal{Y}_i$ , which was made using Lemma III.1.5) that  $\mathcal{Y}_i$  is a flat deformation of the smooth variety  $Y_i$  and therefore smooth as well. For  $m \geq 1$  we use that  $\mathcal{Y}^{[m]}$  is a disjoint union of schemes of the form  $\mathcal{Y}^I = \mathcal{Y}_{i_0} \times \mathcal{Y} \ldots \times \mathcal{Y} \mathcal{Y}_{i_m}$ , where  $I = \{i_0, \ldots, i_m\}$  and |I| = m + 1. Moreover, smoothness is a local property, so let us assume that all schemes are affine, say

$$\mathcal{Y} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{A}, \quad \mathcal{Y}_i = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{A}_i, \quad Y = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{A}, \quad Y_i = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{A}_i,$$

where

$$A = \mathcal{A} \otimes_R k, \quad A_i = \mathcal{A}_i \otimes_R k$$

for  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . But all morphisms  $\mathcal{Y}_i \to \mathcal{Y}$  are S-morphisms and  $\mathcal{Y}_i$ respectively  $\mathcal{Y}$  are locally trivial deformations of  $Y_i$  respectively Y. Thus, we may assume that  $\mathcal{A}_i \cong A_i \otimes_k R$  and  $\mathcal{A} \cong A \otimes_k R$ . Note that by Lemma III.1.4 the trivialization  $\mathcal{A} \cong A \otimes_k R$  already induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{A}_i \cong A_i \otimes_k R$ so that we obtain an R-algebra isomorphism

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}^{I},\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}^{I}})=\mathcal{A}_{i_{0}}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\ldots\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{A}_{i_{m}}\cong(A_{i_{0}}\otimes_{A}\ldots\otimes_{A}A_{i_{m}})\otimes_{k}R.$$

The ring  $A_{i_0} \otimes_A \ldots \otimes_A A_{i_m}$  is the coordinate ring of the smooth k-variety  $Y^I := \mathcal{Y}^I \times_S k = Y_{i_0} \times_Y \ldots \times_Y Y_{i_m}$ . Smoothness of  $Y^I$  is immediate from the normal crossing condition. This shows that also  $\mathcal{Y}^I$  is smooth over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  completing the proof.

III.2.5. Semi-cosimplicial resolution for  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{p}$ . For  $\mathcal{Y}$  as in section III.2.3 the semi-simplicial S-scheme  $\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}$  induces semi-cosimplicial  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ -modules  $a_*\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}/S}^{p}$ . The formula (III.2.2) makes

$$a_*\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}/S}: \qquad a_{0*}\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[0]}/S} \xrightarrow{\delta_0} a_{1*}\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[1]}/S} \xrightarrow{\delta_1} \dots$$

a complex. The augmentation  $a: \mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]} \to \mathcal{Y}$  induces a coagumentation

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \xrightarrow{a_0^*} a_{0*} \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}^{[0]}/S}^p \xrightarrow{\delta_0} a_{1*} \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}^{[1]}/S}^p \xrightarrow{\delta_1} \dots$$

As  $\mathcal{Y}^{[0]} \to S$  is smooth, the morphism  $a_0^*$  factors through  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$  from Definition III.1.1. Clearly, the composition  $\delta_0 \circ a_0^*$  is zero and we obtain a complex

(III.2.4) 
$$0 \to \tau^k_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \Omega^k_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to a_{0*}\Omega^k_{\mathcal{Y}^{[0]}/S} \to a_{1*}\Omega^k_{\mathcal{Y}^{[1]}/S} \to \dots$$

All following theory is based on the important

LEMMA III.2.6. Let Y be a proper simple normal crossing  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety and  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation over an Artinian base  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

- (1) The sequence (III.2.4) is exact and so is the sequence with  $\mathcal{Y}$  replaced by  $\mathcal{Y}^{an}$ .
- (2)  $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$  is a resolution of the constant sheaf <u> $R_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}$ </u>.

PROOF. The question is local in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , so we may assume that  $\mathcal{Y} = Y \times S$  is the trivial deformation. Then the resolution (III.2.4) is simply the pullback of the analogous resolution for Y along the flat morphism  $Y \times S \longrightarrow Y$ . This implies the claim, as the statement of the lemma is true for Y by [**Fri83**, Prop 1.5]. LEMMA III.2.7. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of a simple normal crossing variety Y over an Artinian base  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

- (1) The canonical map  $\left(\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^k\right)^{\mathrm{an}} \to \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}^k$  is an isomorphism.
- (2) The canonical map  $R^i f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^k_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to R^i f^{\mathrm{an}}_* \widetilde{\Omega}^k_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$  is an isomorphism.

PROOF. We clearly have  $(\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S})^{\mathrm{an}} \cong \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$ . Now (1) follows from (1) of Lemma III.2.6 because analytification is an exact functor by [**SGA1**, Exp XII, Prop 1.3.1] and compatible with taking the wedge product. Moreover (1) implies (2) by [**SGA1**, Exp XII, Thm 4.2].

REMARK III.2.8. In [Ser56] several comparison theorems are proven for projective varieties over  $\mathbb{C}$ . A generalization of Serre's work to proper schemes of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$  is given in Raynaud's exposé [SGA1, Exp XII]. The references in the proof are to generalizations of Serre's results [Ser56, Prop 10] and [Ser56, Thm 1].

LEMMA III.2.9. Let Y be an algebraic scheme and  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . Let  $S' \to S$  be a morphism where  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  with  $R' \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . Consider the fiber product  $\mathcal{Y}' = \mathcal{Y} \times_S S'$  and denote by  $\sigma: \mathcal{Y}' \to \mathcal{Y}$  the induced morphism, then the canonical morphism  $\sigma^* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  is an isomorphism.

PROOF. As the canonical morphism  $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  is always an isomorphism, we only have to check that the torsion is preserved. The question is local in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , so the claim follows immediately from local triviality.

The following result is due to Deligne, see [**Del68**, Thm 5.5], for smooth morphisms  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$ . His proof also works in our situation. As his arguments are part of the proof of a more general statement, we reproduce them here.

THEOREM III.2.10 (**Deligne**). Let Y be a simple normal crossing variety, which is proper over  $\mathbb{C}$ , let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \longrightarrow S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y over S. Let  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  for  $R' \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ and let  $S' \longrightarrow S$  be a morphism. Then the following holds.

(1) The associated spectral sequence

(III.2.5) 
$$E_1^{p,q} = R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p \Rightarrow R^{p+q} f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} = H^{p+q} (Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}})$$

degenerates at  $E_1$ .

(2) The R-modules  $R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  are free and compatible with arbitrary base change in the sense that for  $\mathcal{Y}' = \mathcal{Y} \times_S S'$  the morphism

$$R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \otimes_R R' \longrightarrow R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$$

is an isomorphism.

PROOF. We argue as in [**Del68**], Théorème 5.5. By [**Del68**, (3.5.1)] a complex K of R-modules satisfies

$$\lg_R(H^n(K)) \le \lg(R) \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(H^n(K \otimes_R^{\mathbb{L}} \mathbb{C}))$$

and  $H^n(K)$  is a free *R*-module, if equality holds. Here lg denotes the length of a module. To apply this to the  $E_1$ -term of the spectral sequence (III.2.5) we need [**EGAIII2**], Théorème (6.10.5) saying that there is a bounded below complex *L* of free *R*-modules and an isomorphism of  $\partial$ -functors  $R^q f_*\left(\widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \otimes f^*Q\right) \to H^q(L \otimes Q)$  in the bounded complex *Q* of quasi-coherent *R*-modules. Here we use that  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is flat over *R*. Let  $\bar{f}: Y \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$  be the restriction of *f* to the central fiber. We will compare the spectral sequence (III.2.5) with the spectral sequence of  $\bar{f}$ . Again by [**Del68**, (3.5.1)] we have

(III.2.6)  

$$\lg_{R}(R^{q}f_{*}\Omega^{p}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}) = \lg_{R}(H^{q}(L))$$

$$\leq \lg(R)\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(H^{q}(L\otimes_{R}\mathbb{C}))$$

$$= \lg(R)\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R^{q}\bar{f}_{*}\widetilde{\Omega}^{p}_{Y/\mathbb{C}})$$

and  $R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$  is a free *R*-module, if equality holds. The last equality is the base change property for  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  from Lemma III.2.9. We have

$$\begin{split} \lg(R^n f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}) &\leq \sum_{p+q=n} \lg_R(R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}) \\ &\leq \lg(R) \sum_{p+q=n} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R^q \bar{f}_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{Y/\mathbb{C}}) \\ &= \lg(R) \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R^n \bar{f}_* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{Y/\mathbb{C}}), \end{split}$$

where the first inequality comes from the existence of the spectral sequence, the second inequality is (III.2.6) and the last equality comes from the degeneration of the spectral sequence for Y, which is [**Fri83**, Prop 1.5]. But Lemma III.2.6 (2) implies that  $\lg(R^n f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{S}}^{\bullet}) = \lg(R) \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R^n \bar{f}_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{Y/\mathbb{C}}^{\bullet})$ , so we have equality everywhere. Hence (1) and the first assertion of (2) follows. The second assertion of (2) follows from the first by [**EGAIII2**, (7.8.5)].

REMARK III.2.11. The proof only uses the following abstract properties of the complex  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S}$ .

- $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S}$  is flat over S.
- For  $\sigma: S' \to S$  and  $\mathcal{Y}' = \mathcal{Y} \times_S S' \to S'$  we have  $\sigma^* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \cong \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S'}$ .
- There is a functorial quasi-isomorphism  $\underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}} \to \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$ .
- For  $f: Y \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$  the spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q} = R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^p \quad \Rightarrow \quad R^{p+q} f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet}$$

degenerates at  $E_1$ .

In particular, the proof works for smooth  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$  where  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ .

### III.3. Pure Hodge structures on smooth families

Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a smooth and proper morphism where  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . We are going to put a pure Hodge structure over R on  $H^k(Y^{\operatorname{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\operatorname{an}}})$ . We define a decreasing filtration

(III.3.1) 
$$F^p \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} := \Omega^{\geq p}_{\mathcal{Y}/S},$$

which is called the *Hodge filtration*. It gives rise to a filtration  $F^p H^k(Y^{\text{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\text{an}}})$ on  $H^k(Y^{\text{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\text{an}}})$  by putting

(III.3.2) 
$$F^{p}R^{k}f_{*}\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = \operatorname{im}\left(R^{k}f_{*}F^{p}\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow R^{k}f_{*}\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}\right)$$

and using the isomorphisms  $H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}) \to R^k f^{\mathrm{an}}_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$  from [**Del68**, Lem 5.5.3] and  $R^k f_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to R^k f^{\mathrm{an}}_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  and  $\cong R^k f^{\mathrm{an}}_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}$  from [**SGA1**, Exp XII, Thm 4.2].

LEMMA III.3.1. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a smooth and proper morphism and  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R, R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{H}^{k}(\mathcal{Y}) = \left(H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R}), F^{p}H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}})\right)$$

is a pure Hodge structure of weight k over R, whose central fiber is the usual Hodge structure on  $H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R})$ . Moreover, the canonical morphism  $R^k f_* F^p \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S} \to R^k f_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S}$  is injective, so that

$$R^k f_* F^p \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}/S} \cong F^p H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}).$$

If  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  is smooth and proper, every S-morphism  $i: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  induces a morphism  $i^*: \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{X}) \to \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{Y})$  of pure Hodge structures.

PROOF. The filtration defined in (III.3.2) is the one, whose graded objects are found on  $E_{\infty}$  of the spectral sequence (III.2.5). By [**Del68**, Thm

42

5.5] we have  $E_{\infty} = E_1$ , so  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p R^k f_* \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} = R^{k-p} f_* \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p = R^{k-p} f_* \operatorname{Gr}_F^p \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$ . The same theorem tells us that  $R^{k-p} f_* \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$  is free. Therefore using

we find inductively that  $R^k f_* F^p \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \cong F^p R^k f_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  and that these are free submodules. Again by [**Del68**, Thm 5.5], all graded objects are compatible with base change and therefore restrict to a pure Hodge structure on the central fiber. The statement about morphisms is clear.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY III.3.2. There is a natural isomorphism

$$R^{k-p}f_*\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \mathrm{Gr}^p_F H^k(Y),$$

where  $H^k(Y) = H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R.$ 

PROOF. Consider the sequences (III.3.3)

where the first two vertical maps are isomorphisms by Lemma III.3.1. These isomorphisms imply that the upper sequence is exact on the left. As it is part of the long exact sequence associated to the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\geq p+1} \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\geq p} \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{p}[-p] \longrightarrow 0$$

of complexes, injectivity at (k + 1)-st direct image yields surjectivity at the k-th, hence exactness of the upper sequence. Therefore, the morphism  $R^{k-p}f_*\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}^p_F H^k(Y)$  exists and by the five-lemma it is an isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

According to Lemma II.2.8 the Weil restriction

$$\mathcal{H}^{k}(\mathcal{Y})_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = \left(H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{R}),F^{p}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}\right)$$

of  $\mathcal{H}^{k}(\mathcal{Y})$  is a pure Hodge-Weil structure. So by Lemma II.2.9 the submodules  $H^{p,q}(Y) := F^{p}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \cap \overline{F^{q}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}}$  of  $H^{k}(Y)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = \left(H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}},\mathbb{R}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}\right) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  lift the subquotients  $\mathrm{Gr}^{p}_{F_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}} H^{k}(Y)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = \left(\mathrm{Gr}^{p}_{F} H^{k}(Y)\right)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ .

COROLLARY III.3.3. There is a natural isomorphism

$$\left(R^{k-p}f_*\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}\right)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to H^{p,q}(Y)$$

compatible with morphisms in the sense that for every smooth and proper  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  and every  $i: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  over S the diagram

commutes.

PROOF. This follows directly by applying Weil restriction to the diagram (III.3.3) and using Lemma II.2.9.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Recall that a module homomorphism has constant rank if and only if its cokernel is free by Lemma A.2.2.

PROPOSITION III.3.4. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$ ,  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be proper and smooth over an Artinian base  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ ,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $i : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an *S*-morphism. Then the induced morphisms  $i^* : R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ have constant rank.

PROOF. By Lemma III.3.1 we know that the morphism i induces a morphism  $\mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{X}) \to \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{Y})$  between the pure Hodge structures over Rassociated to  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$ . Taking Weil restrictions this gives a morphism  $\mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \to \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{Y})_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  of Hodge-Weil structures by Lemma II.2.8. Let  $i^{p,q}: H^{p,q}(X) \to H^{p,q}(Y)$  be the induced map.

By Corollary III.3.3 the diagram

commutes and the first two vertical maps are isomorphisms. Therefore also the third vertical map is an isomorphism. We know that coker  $i^{p,q}$  is free by Lemma II.2.10, hence so is coker  $i^*_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$ . Now the claim follows from Lemma II.1.5, as coker  $i^*_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} = (\text{coker } i^*)_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}$  by Lemma II.1.4.

Proposition III.3.4 together with Lemma II.2.10 can be seen as a formalization of the idea that if S is the base manifold of a small deformation and  $t \in S$ , the maps  $H^q(X_t, \Omega^p_{X_t}) \to H^q(Y_t, \Omega^p_{Y_t})$ , the rank of which is semicontinuous in t, add up to the topological map  $H^i(X, \underline{R}_X) \to H^i(Y, \underline{R}_Y)$  by the Hodge decomposition. The rank of the latter is certainly constant and by semi-continuity the summands also have constant rank.

### III.4. Mixed Hodge structures on normal crossing families

By Lemma III.2.6 there is a quasi-isomorphism  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \simeq \mathfrak{s}((a_{\bullet})_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}^{[\bullet]}/S})$ , where  $\mathfrak{s}(\cdot)$  denotes the single complex associated to a double complex. Therefore we may define filtrations

$$W_{-m}\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} := \mathfrak{s}((a_{\geq m})_*\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\geq m}/S}) \quad \text{and} \quad F^p\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} := \widetilde{\Omega}^{\geq p}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}.$$

These give rise to filtrations  $F^{p}H^{k}(Y, R)$  and  $W_{m}H^{k}(Y, R)$  on  $H^{k}(Y, R)$  by putting

(III.4.1) 
$$W_m R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = \operatorname{im} \left( R^k f_* W_{m-k} \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \right)$$

and

(III.4.2) 
$$F^{p}R^{k}f_{*}\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} = \operatorname{im}\left(R^{k}f_{*}F^{p}\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} \to R^{k}f_{*}\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}\right).$$

and using the isomorphisms  $H^k(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}) \to R^k f_*^{\mathrm{an}} \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}^{\bullet}$  from (2) of Lemma III.2.6 and  $R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} \to R^k f_*^{\mathrm{an}} \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\mathrm{an}}/S}^{\bullet}$  from (2) of Lemma III.2.7.

LEMMA III.4.1. Let Y be a proper simple normal crossing variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Then

(III.4.3) 
$$\mathcal{H}^{k}(\mathcal{Y}) = (H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \mathbb{R}), W_{m}H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}), F^{p}H^{k}(Y^{\mathrm{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\mathrm{an}}}))$$

is a mixed Hodge structure over R. Moreover,  $R^k f_* F^p \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \longrightarrow R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ is injective.

PROOF. Literally as in the pure case, see Lemma III.3.1 and Corollary III.3.2, one shows that the *R*-modules  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  are free and isomorphic to  $R^k f_* \operatorname{Gr}_F^p \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} = R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$  and that  $R^k f_* F^p \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet} \longrightarrow R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$ is injective. As only difference one has to use Theorem III.2.10 instead of [**Del68**, Thm 5.5]. To verify that (III.4.3) is a mixed Hodge structure over R, we have to show that the graded objects  $\operatorname{Gr}_m^W \operatorname{Gr}_F^p H^k(Y^{\operatorname{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\operatorname{an}}})$  are free R-modules, or equivalently that the  $\operatorname{Gr}_m^W \operatorname{Gr}_F^p R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  are free R-modules, and that the central fiber is a mixed Hodge structure in the ordinary sense. The free R-module  $R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$  is the abutment of the spectral sequence

(III.4.4) 
$$E_1^{k,m} = R^m f_* \left( a_{k*} \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[k]}/S} \right) \Rightarrow R^{k+m} f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$$

induced by the resolution (III.2.4) for fixed p. The filtration defined in (III.4.1) induces a weight filtration  $\operatorname{Gr}_F^p R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  in the obvious way and the graded objects with respect to this filtration are the  $E_{\infty}$  terms of the spectral sequence (III.4.4). By [**Del68**, Thm 5.5] the *R*-modules  $E_1^{k,m}$  are free and compatible with base change. Moreover, the differential  $d_1$  on  $E_1^{k,m}$  is given by the semi-simplicial differential

$$\delta: R^m f_*\left(a_{k*}\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[k]}/S}\right) \longrightarrow R^m f_*\left(a_{k*}\Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[k+1]}/S}\right).$$

This morphism has constant rank by Proposition III.3.4. Hence  $E_2^{k,m}$  is free, too, and compatible with base change by Lemma A.2.6. In the case  $R = \mathbb{C}$ the spectral sequence is known to degenerate at  $E_2$ , see [**PS08**, Thms 3.12, 3.18]. As all  $E_2$ -terms of (III.4.4) are compatible with base change we have for all n that

$$\sum_{k+m=n} \lg_R \left( E_2^{k,m} \right) = \lg_R(R) \sum_{k+m=n} \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \left( E_2^{k,m} \otimes \mathbb{C} \right)$$
$$= \lg_R(R) \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \left( R^n f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{Y/\mathbb{C}}^p \right)$$
$$= \lg_R \left( R^n f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{Y/S}^p \right).$$

Thus, the spectral sequence III.4.4 also degenerates at  $E_2$  and the *R*-modules  $E_{\infty}^{k,m} = \operatorname{Gr}_m^W R^{k+m} f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p = \operatorname{Gr}_m^W \operatorname{Gr}_F^p R^{k+m} f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  coincide with the free *R*-modules  $E_2^{k,m}$ . Again, as all graded objects are compatible with base change,  $\mathcal{H}$  restricts to a mixed Hodge structure on the central fiber, which is the usual mixed Hodge structure on Y.

For later use we isolate an observation from the proof of the previous lemma.

COROLLARY III.4.2. Let Y be a proper simple normal crossing variety over  $\mathbb{C}$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y over S = Spec R for  $R \in \text{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Then the spectral sequence (III.4.4) degenerates at  $E_2$ .  $\Box$ 

Now we are able to deduce the main result of this chapter.

THEOREM III.4.3. Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , let Y be a proper simple normal crossing  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety and let  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  and  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be proper, algebraic S-schemes. Assume that  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is a locally trivial deformation of Y and  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is smooth. Let  $i : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an S-morphism. Then for all p, q the morphism  $i^* : R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  has constant rank.

PROOF. Let  $\ldots \not\equiv \mathcal{Y}^{[1]} \not\supset \mathcal{Y}^{[0]} \rightarrow \mathcal{Y}$  be the semi-simplicial resolution of  $\mathcal{Y}$  over S from Lemma III.2.4. This means in particular that  $\mathcal{Y}^{[0]}$  is a locally trivial deformation of the normalization. By Theorem III.2.10 the

47

*R*-modules  $R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S}$ ,  $R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  and  $R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[k]}/S}$  are free and compatible with base change. By Corollary III.4.2 we know that the spectral sequences (III.4.4) degenerate at  $E_2$  for each p. As

$$E_2^{0,q} = \ker \left( R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[0]}/S} \longrightarrow R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{[1]}/S} \right)$$

this implies that the first row in

(III.4.5)

is exact.

Here im  $i^*$  does not intersect  $W_{p+q-1}R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p$ , as it does not on the central fiber. This last claim can be shown using Deligne's weak splitting as follows. We denote  $X := \mathcal{X} \times_S \mathbb{C}$  and put  $H_Y^{p+q} := H^{p+q}(Y, \mathbb{C})$  and  $H_X^{p,q} := H^{p+q}(X, \mathbb{C})$ . We identify  $H_Y^{p+q}$  and  $H_X^{p+q}$  with the hypercohomology of  $\widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet}$  respectively  $\Omega_X^{\bullet}$  and obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} W_{p+q-1}R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbb{C} & \longrightarrow \begin{pmatrix} R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^p \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbb{C} \stackrel{i^*}{\longleftarrow} \begin{pmatrix} R^q g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S}^p \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbb{C} \\ \| & \| & \| \\ W_{p+q-1}R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^p & \longrightarrow R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^p & \longleftarrow R^q g_* \Omega_X^p \\ \| & \| & \| \\ W_{p+q-1} \mathrm{Gr}_F^p H_Y^{p+q} & \longrightarrow \mathrm{Gr}_F^p H_Y^{p+q} & \longleftarrow \mathrm{Gr}_F^p H_X^{p+q}$$

Deligne's weak splitting [PS08, Ex 3.3 and Lem-Def 3.4] is a decomposition

$$H_Y^k = \bigoplus_{r,s} \, I_Y^{r,s}$$

such that

$$F^p H_Y^k = \bigoplus_{r \ge p} I_Y^{r,s}$$
 and  $W_m H_Y^k = \bigoplus_{r+s \le m} I_Y^{r,s}$ .

The subspaces  $I_Y^{r,s} \subseteq H_Y^{r+s}$  project isomorphically onto the subquotients  $\operatorname{Gr}_{r+s}^W \operatorname{Gr}_F^r H_Y$ . The Deligne weak splitting is preserved under morphisms of mixed Hodge structures. As the Hodge structure on  $H_X^{p+q}$  is pure of weight p+q, this yields im  $i^* \subseteq I_Y^{p,q}$  and therefore

$$\operatorname{im} i^* \cap W_{p+q-1} \operatorname{Gr}_F^p H_Y^{p+q} \subseteq I_Y^{p,q} \cap \bigoplus_{r+s \le p+q-1} I_Y^{r,s} = 0.$$

as claimed. We come back to diagram (III.4.5) and observe that  $\varphi$  has constant rank by Proposition III.3.4. Also  $\eta$  has constant rank as  $\delta$  has constant rank by Proposition III.3.4 and hence coker  $\eta = \ker \delta$  is free. As im  $i^* \cap \ker \eta = 0$ , Lemma A.2.5 implies that  $i^*$  has constant rank completing the proof.

### III.5. The case of Kähler manifolds

When X is a compact Kähler manifold, Theorem III.2.10 is true as well. But the references to [**EGAIII2**] have to be replaced.

THEOREM III.5.1 (**Deligne**). Let X be a compact Kähler manifold, let S =Spec R for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a deformation of X over S. Let  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  for  $R' \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $S' \to S$  be a morphism. Then the following holds.

(1) The associated spectral sequence

(III.5.1) 
$$E_1^{p,q} = R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \Rightarrow R^{p+q} g_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}/S} = H^{p+q} (X, \underline{R}_X)$$

degenerates at  $E_1$ .

(2) The R-modules  $R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  are free and compatible with arbitrary base change in the sense that for  $\mathcal{X}' = \mathcal{X} \times_S S'$  the morphism

$$R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes_R R' \longrightarrow R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}'/S'}$$

is an isomorphism.

PROOF. This works literally as in the proof of Theorem III.2.10 We only have to replace the reference to [EGAIII2, Thm 6.10.5] by [BS77, Ch 3, Thm 4.1] and the reference to [EGAIII2, 7.8.5] by [BS77, Ch 3, Cor 3.10]. The rest of the proof of Theorem III.2.10 goes through, if we note that the spectral sequence associated to  $\Omega_X^{\bullet}$  degenerates as X is a compact Kähler manifold.

With this theorem at hand, the analogues of the other results of this chapter hold true as well. We record them for the sake of referenceability.

With the definitions (III.3.1) and (III.3.2) the analogue of Lemma III.3.1 holds.

LEMMA III.5.2. Let  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a deformation of a compact Kähler manifold X, where  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ ,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{H}^{k}(\mathcal{X}) := \left( H^{k}(X, \mathbb{R}), F^{p}H^{k}(X, \underline{R}_{X}) \right)$$

is a pure Hodge structure of weight k over R. Moreover the morphism  $R^kg_*F^p\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^kg_*\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  is injective, so that  $R^kg_*F^p\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}/S} \cong F^pH^k(X,\underline{R}_X)$ . If  $h: \mathcal{Z} \to S$  is a deformation of a compact Kähler manifold, every S-morphism  $i: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Z}$  induces a morphism  $i^*: \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{Z}) \to \mathcal{H}^k(\mathcal{X})$  of pure Hodge structures.

48

PROOF. The reference to [**Del68**, Thm 5.5] has to be replaced by Theorem III.5.1. Then the proof of Lemma III.3.1 works literally.  $\Box$ 

The proof of the analogues to Corollary III.3.2 and Corollary III.3.3 is straight forward. As this and abstract Hodge-Weil theory is all we needed for the proof of Proposition III.3.4, we have

PROPOSITION III.5.3. Let X and Y be compact Kähler manifolds and let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  and  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be deformations of Y and X over S and let  $i : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an S-morphism. Then the induced morphisms  $i^* : R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  have constant rank.  $\Box$ 

The analogue of Theorem III.4.3 will be formulated in a way that is appropriate for applications in Chapter VI.

THEOREM III.5.4. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold, let Y be a simple normal crossing proper algebraic  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety and let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for some  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Let  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a deformation of X over S, let  $f: \mathcal{Y} \to S$ be a locally trivial deformation of Y over S and let  $i: \mathcal{Y}^{\operatorname{an}} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an S-morphism. Then for all p, q the morphism  $i^*: R^q g_* \Omega^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}^{\operatorname{an}}/S}$ has constant rank.  $\Box$ 

### III.6. Lifting the normalization

Let Y be a k-variety, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y. We will show that the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  of Y has a lifting to a flat S-scheme.

Let  $0 \to J \to R \to R' \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  with  $J = t \cdot R$  and let A be a flat R-algebra. Tensoring with A we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to I \to A \to A' \to 0,$$

where flatness implies that  $I = J \otimes A$ . As  $t \cdot \mathfrak{m} = 0$  the A-module structure on I factors through the projection  $p : A \to A \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m} =: A_0$ , where  $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq R$ is the maximal ideal, and write  $p(a) =: \overline{a}$ . Let  $\sigma : A \to A$  be an R-algebra automorphism that restricts to the identity on  $A_0$  and let  $\delta \in \text{Der}_k(A_0)$ . Then  $\sigma' = \sigma + t\delta \circ p$  is again an R-algebra automorphism as the following calculation shows.

$$\sigma'(a) \ \sigma'(b) = \sigma(ab) + t\sigma(a)\delta(b) + t\sigma(b)\delta(\bar{a})$$
$$= \sigma(ab) + t \left(a\delta(\bar{b}) + b\delta(\bar{a})\right)$$
$$= (\sigma + t\delta \circ p)(ab)$$
$$= \sigma'(ab)$$

Here we used that  $\sigma(a)t = at = \bar{a}t$ . We will frequently write  $\sigma + t\delta$  for simplicity. The following lemma is a straight forward generalization of [Ser06, Lem 1.2.6].

LEMMA III.6.1. Let A be a flat R-algebra. Let  $0 \to J \to R \to R' \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  with  $J = t \cdot R$  and  $A' = A \otimes_R R'$ . Let  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  be Ralgebra automorphisms of A which restrict to the identity on  $A_0 = A \otimes_R k$ and coincide on A'. Then there is a derivation  $\delta \in \operatorname{Der}_k(A_0)$  such that  $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 + t\delta$ .

PROOF. It is enough to show that  $\sigma := \sigma_2^{-1} \circ \sigma_1 = \mathrm{id} + t\delta$  because  $\sigma_2$  restricts to id on  $A_0$  and hence  $\sigma_2 \circ t\delta = t\delta$ . We define  $t\delta := \sigma - \mathrm{id}$ . This is clearly *R*-linear and easily seen to be a derivation.

Let Y be a k-scheme, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$ be a deformation of Y. We denote by  $T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} := \mathfrak{m}T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \subseteq T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  the subsheaf of sections vanishing on Y and by  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0 \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)$  be the subgroup sheaf of automorphisms of  $\mathcal{Y}$  over S that restrict to the identity on Y. Note that the continuous map underlying an automorphism  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)$  is the identity on Y. Therefore we will identify such a  $\varphi$  with the corresponding automorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ . The following lemma seems to be well-known, but we were unable to find a reference.

LEMMA III.6.2. Let Y be a k-scheme, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $(R, \mathfrak{m}) \in \operatorname{Art}_k$  and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y. Then

$$T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0, \quad \vartheta \mapsto \exp(\vartheta) = \operatorname{id} + \vartheta + \frac{1}{2}\vartheta \circ \vartheta + \dots$$

is an isomorphism of sheaves of sets. In particular the logarithm

$$\log \varphi = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\mathrm{id} - \varphi)^n}{n}$$

of an automorphism  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  is a derivation.

PROOF. Note that  $\exp: T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  is well-defined as  $\mathfrak{m}^n$  and hence also  $\vartheta^{\circ n}$  vanish for  $n \gg 0$  The statement is local in  $\mathcal{Y}$  hence we may assume that  $\mathcal{Y} = \operatorname{Spec} A$  is affine. The proof is by induction on the length  $\lg(R)$ . Let  $0 \to J \to R \to R' \to 0$  be a small extension in  $\operatorname{Art}_k$  with  $J = t \cdot R$ . We write  $S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$  and  $\mathcal{Y}' = \mathcal{Y} \times_S S' = \operatorname{Spec} A'$  where  $A' = A \otimes_R R'$ . Let  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  be given and  $\sigma' \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}'/S')^0$  be the restriction of  $\sigma$  to  $\mathcal{Y}'$ . By the inductive hypothesis there is  $\vartheta' \in T^0_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  with  $\exp(\vartheta') = \sigma'$ . Now we have

$$T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'} = \operatorname{Hom}_{A'}(\Omega_{A'/R'}, A')$$
  
=  $\operatorname{Hom}_{A'}(\Omega_{A/R} \otimes_A A', A')$   
=  $\operatorname{Hom}_A(\Omega_{A/R}, A')$ 

and in order to lift  $\vartheta'$  to some  $\vartheta \in T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  we consider the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\Omega_{A/R}, A) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\Omega_{A/R}, A') \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{1}(\Omega_{A/R}, JA).$$

$$\overset{\parallel}{T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}} \qquad \overset{\parallel}{T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}}$$

In general  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  does not need to be surjective. But here  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is a locally trivial deformation of  $Y = \mathcal{Y} \times_S k \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ , so we may assume that  $A = A_0 \otimes_k R$  for some k-algebra  $A_0$  and hence  $A' = A_0 \otimes_k R'$ . This implies that

$$T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'} = \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\Omega_{A/R}, A') = \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\Omega_{A_{0}/k} \otimes_{A_{0}} A, A')$$
$$= \operatorname{Hom}_{A_{0}}(\Omega_{A_{0}/k}, A_{0} \otimes_{k} R') = \operatorname{Hom}_{A_{0}}(\Omega_{A_{0}/k}, A_{0}) \otimes_{k} R'$$
$$= T_{Y} \otimes_{k} R'$$

and in the same way that  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = T_Y \otimes_k R$ . So  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  is surjective for a locally trivial deformation. Let  $\vartheta \in T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  be a lift of  $\vartheta'$ . Clearly,  $\vartheta \in T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = \mathfrak{m}T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  as  $\vartheta' \in \mathfrak{m}'T_{\mathcal{Y}'/S'}$  and the preimage of  $\mathfrak{m}'$  is  $\mathfrak{m}$ . The automorphisms  $\exp(\vartheta)$  and  $\sigma$  both restrict to  $\sigma'$  on  $\mathcal{Y}'$ . Thus by Lemma III.6.1 there is  $\delta \in \operatorname{Der}_k(A_0) = T_Y$  such that  $\sigma = \exp(\vartheta) + t\delta = \exp(\vartheta + t\delta)$ . As  $\vartheta \in T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  we have  $\vartheta + t\delta \in T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ . So  $\exp : T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  is surjective.

For injectivity assume  $\exp(\vartheta) = \operatorname{id}$ . Then  $0 = \exp(\vartheta) - \operatorname{id} = \vartheta + \frac{1}{2}\vartheta \circ \vartheta + \dots$ If  $\vartheta \neq 0$  there is  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{m}^k T_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \setminus \mathfrak{m}^{k+1} T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ . Then this equation means  $\vartheta = 0 \mod \mathfrak{m}^{k+1}$ , a contradiction.

The isomorphism  $\exp: T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  of sheaves of sets is in general not an isomorphism of groups as  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{Y}/S)^0$  is non-commutative in general.

LEMMA III.6.3. Let Y be a reduced algebraic k-scheme and  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$ be a locally trivial deformation of Y over an Artinian base  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . Then there exists a scheme  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  and a morphism  $\nu : \widetilde{\mathcal{Y}} \to \mathcal{Y}$  such that the composition  $\mu = f \circ \nu : \widetilde{\mathcal{Y}} \to S$  is a locally trivial deformation of the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  of Y. Moreover, the pair  $(\widetilde{Y}, \nu)$  is unique. In particular,  $\mu$ is flat.

PROOF. By Lemma III.1.5, we may assume that Y is integral. Let  $Y = \bigcup_i U_i$  be a covering by open affine subsches  $U_i = \operatorname{Spec} A_i$  and put

 $A_{ij} = \Gamma(U_{ij}, \mathcal{O}_Y)$ . The scheme  $\mathcal{Y}$  is determined by the  $\mathcal{Y}_i := \mathcal{Y}|_{U_i}$  and by the collection of R-algebra isomorphisms  $\theta_{ij} := \theta_j^{-1} \circ \theta_i : A_{ij} \otimes_k R \to A_{ij} \otimes_k R$ , which satisfy the cocyle conditions on the triple intersections  $U_{ijk}$  and which reduce to the identity modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Let  $\widetilde{A}_i$  be the normalization of  $A_i$ , then we will obtain  $\nu : \widetilde{\mathcal{Y}} \to \mathcal{Y}$  by gluing  $\nu_i : \operatorname{Spec}(\widetilde{A}_i) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A_i \otimes R)$  along  $\nu_i^{-1}(U_{ij}) \to \nu_j^{-1}(U_{ij})$ . Therefore we have to find a morphism  $\widetilde{\theta}_{ij}$  to make the diagramm

$$\begin{array}{c|c} A_{ij} \otimes R & \xrightarrow{\theta_{ij}} & A_{ij} \otimes R \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & \widetilde{A}_{ij} \otimes R - - \stackrel{\exists \widetilde{\theta}_{ij}?}{- - - - \widetilde{A}_{ij} \otimes R} \end{array}$$

commutative, where  $\widetilde{A}_{ij}$  is the normalization and the cocycle conditions remain valid. Observe that such  $\widetilde{\theta}_{ij}$  and also  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  will be unique. The  $\theta_{ij}$  are determined by a section  $s_{ij} \in \Gamma(U_{ij}, T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S})$ , hence the existence of  $\widetilde{\theta}_{ij}$  is implied by Lemma III.6.2 as follows. The restriction of  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  to  $U_{ij}$  is a trivial deformation, so  $\Gamma(U_{ij}, T^0_{\mathcal{Y}/S}) = \Gamma(U_{ij}, T_Y \otimes_k \mathfrak{m})$  and the  $s_{ij}$  are determined by derivations on Y. These derivations extend to the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  by a theorem of Seidenberg, see [Sei66, p. 168]. Thus,  $s_{ij}$  extends to  $\widetilde{A}_{ij} \otimes R$  determining a morphism  $\widetilde{\theta}_{ij}$ .

### CHAPTER IV

### Symplectic geometry

We recall basic definitions an results regarding irreducible symplectic manifolds.

### IV.1. Basic definitions and results

DEFINITION IV.1.1. An *irreducible symplectic manifold* is a compact, connected, simply connected Kähler manifold X with  $H^0(X, \Omega_X^2) = \mathbb{C} \cdot \omega$  where  $\omega$  is symplectic, i.e. everywhere non-degenerate.

We fix once and for all a holomorphic symplectic form  $\omega$  on X. Irreducible symplectic manifolds are quite special. As  $\omega$  is symplectic, they are evendimensional. By contraction, the symplectic form gives an isomorphism

$$\omega': T_X \xrightarrow{\cong} \Omega_X.$$

and its top exterior power is by definition nowhere vanishing, hence a trivialization of the canonical bundle

$$\omega^{\wedge n}: \mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{\cong} \omega_X,$$

where dim X = 2n. As a consequence,  $c_1(X) = c_1(T_X) = c_1(\omega_X) = 0$ . As  $\pi_1(X) = 0$ , also

$$H_1(X,\mathbb{Z}) = \pi_1^{\mathrm{ab}}(X) = 0$$

and thus by the universal coefficient theorem also  $H^1(X, \mathbb{C}) = 0$ . Hodge decomposition and the Dolbeault isomorphism imply

$$H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0 = H^0(X, \Omega_X).$$

Again using the symplectic form we find that  $H^0(X, T_X) = 0$ ; a fact that will guarantee the existence of a universal formal deformation for such manifolds, see Proposition I.2.2.

Gradually one is led to believe that such manifolds have a very special geometry. Another manifestation of the fact that symplectic manifolds are central in the study of compact complex manifolds with vanishing first chern class is Bogomolov's famous decomposition theorem [**Bog74**]. The version stated below is found in [**Bea83**, Thm 2].

THEOREM IV.1.2 (**Bogomolov**). Let X be a compact Kähler manifold with  $c_1(X) = 0$ . Then there is a finite etale covering  $X' \to X$  and an isomorphism

$$X' \xrightarrow{\cong} T \times \prod_i V_i \times \prod_j X_j,$$

where T is a complex torus,  $V_i$  are Calabi-Yau manifolds and  $X_j$  are irreducible symplectic manifolds.

Here Calabi-Yau is meant in the strong sense. A Calabi-Yau manifold is a simply connected projective manifold of dimension  $\geq 3$  such that  $H^{p,0}(V_i) = 0$  holds for all 0 .

Irreducible symplectic manifolds have a differential geometric counterpart: compact hyperkähler manifolds. These are compact Riemannian manifolds X of dimension dim<sub> $\mathbb{R}</sub> X = 4n$  with holonomy group exactly Sp(n), the unitary symplectic group. The group Sp(n) is the compact real form of Sp(2n,  $\mathbb{C}$ ) and is obtained as Sp(n) = Sp(2n,  $\mathbb{C}$ )  $\cap$  U(2n). The following theorem connects these two classes of manifolds.</sub>

THEOREM IV.1.3. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold of dimension 2n. The following conditions on X are equivalent.

- X admits a Kähler metric with holonomy exactly Sp(n).
- X is simply connected and admits a symplectic form which is unique up to scalars.

This theorem is proven in [**Bea83**, Prop 4] as a consequence of Yau's theorem [**Yau78**] and Bogomolov's Theorem IV.1.2, see also [**GHJ03**, Thm 23.5]. We will not dwell on this side of the theory; the article [**Huy99**] however can also serve as an introduction.

DEFINITION IV.1.4. A closed subvariety Y of a symplectic manifold  $(X, \omega)$  is called *Lagrangian*, if dim  $Y = \frac{1}{2} \dim X$  and  $i_{\text{reg}}^* \omega = 0$  where  $i_{\text{reg}} : Y_{\text{reg}} \to X$  is the inclusion of the regular part of Y.

If Y is smooth, the above definition coincides with the classical definition of a Lagrangian submanifold, namely that for every  $y \in Y$  the tangent space  $T_{Y,y} \subseteq T_{X,y}$  is Lagrangian, i.e. maximal isotropic with respect to  $\omega_y$ .

DEFINITION IV.1.5. Let X be a symplectic manifold and B a normal complex space. A proper morphism  $f: X \to B$  is a Lagrangian fibration, if  $f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_B$  and if the reduction of every fiber of f is a Lagrangian subvariety of X. We postpone the discussion of the theory of Lagrangian fibrations until Chapter VII. We only want to mention here Voisin's argument that a Lagrangian submanifold of X is always projective, even if X is only Kähler, see [**Cam06**, Prop 2.1].

PROPOSITION IV.1.6 (Voisin). Let  $Y \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion of a Lagrangian submanifold into an irreducible symplectic manifold. Then Y is projective.

This result will be generalized to some special types of singular Lagrangian subvarieties in Chapter VI.

### IV.2. Examples of symplectic manifolds

There are not many examples known of irreducible symplectic manifolds and to find new examples is one of the most difficult problems in this area. Up to deformation all known examples are K3 surfaces, Hilbert schemes of points on K3 surfaces, generalized Kummer varieties and two sporadic examples constructed by O'Grady from moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 and abelian surfaces [O'G99, O'G03].

**IV.2.1. K3 surfaces.** A K3 surface is a compact complex surface S with  $\omega_X \cong \mathcal{O}_X$  and  $H^1(S, \mathcal{O}_S) = 0$ . In dimension 2 irreducible symplectic manifolds are exactly K3 surfaces. The non-trivial part is to see that K3 surfaces are irreducible symplectic, see [K3a85].

K3 surfaces which admit a fibration where the generic fiber is an elliptic curve are called *elliptic*. Such a fibration is automatically Lagrangian. An example of an elliptic K3 surface is obtained as follows. Take generic homogenous polynomials  $f_0, f_1, f_2 \in \mathbb{C}[x, y, z]$ . Then

$$\left\{s^2 f_0 + st f_1 + t^2 f_2 = 0\right\} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^2$$

can be seen to define an elliptic K3 surface via the projection to  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Another example is the Fermat surface

$$S = \left\{ x_0^4 + x_1^4 + x_2^4 + x_3^4 = 0 \right\} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^3.$$

The map  $x_i \mapsto x_i^2$  gives a morphism from S to the ruled surface

$$\mathbb{P}^3 \supseteq \left\{ x_0^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = 0 \right\} \cong \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1.$$

Now a projection to one of the factors gives a fibration on S.

**IV.2.2.** Hilbert schemes. Let S be a K3 surface. Then the Hilbert scheme Hilb<sup>n</sup>(S) of n points on S is an irreducible symplectic manifold, see [Bea83, Thm 3]. If S is elliptic, then also Hilb<sup>n</sup>(S) will admit a Lagrangian fibration. It is obtained as the composition of the Hilbert-Chow morphism  $\rho$ : Hilb<sup>n</sup>(S)  $\rightarrow$  Sym<sup>n</sup>S to the symmetric product and the morphism Sym<sup>n</sup> $S \rightarrow$  Sym<sup>n</sup> $\mathbb{P}^1 = \mathbb{P}^n$  obtained by applying the functor Sym to the elliptic fibration of S.

Other examples of at least rational Lagrangian fibrations on Hilbert schemes are obtained as follows, see [**Bea91**]. Take a quartic K3 surface  $S \subseteq \mathbb{P}^3$ . Then every subscheme  $\xi \hookrightarrow S \subseteq \mathbb{P}^3$  of length 3 spans a plane  $H_{\xi}$  unless it is contained in a line  $\ell \subseteq S \subseteq \mathbb{P}^3$ . Therefore we obtain a rational fibration

$$\mathrm{Hilb}^3(S) \dashrightarrow (\mathbb{P}^3)^{\vee}$$

to the dual projective space by mapping  $\xi \mapsto H_{\xi}$ . If S is a double covering  $S \to \mathbb{P}^2$  of  $\mathbb{P}^2$ , then we have a rational fibration

$$\operatorname{Hilb}^2(S) \dashrightarrow (\mathbb{P}^2)^{\vee}$$

defined by sending a subscheme  $\xi \hookrightarrow S$  of length 2 to the line  $\ell_{\xi}$  determined by the image of  $\xi$  in  $\mathbb{P}^2$ . This is well-defined only if  $\xi$  is not contained in a fiber of  $S \to \mathbb{P}^2$ .

**IV.2.3. Generalized Kummer varieties.** Let A be an abelian surface. Then the Hilbert scheme Hilb<sup>n</sup>(A) of n points on A has a symplectic structure just as in the K3 case, but is not irreducible symplectic as  $\pi_1(\text{Hilb}^n(A))$  is non-trivial. Consider the morphisms

$$\operatorname{Hilb}^{n}(A) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{n} A \xrightarrow{+} A,$$

where the first is the Hilbert-Chow morphism and the second is the addition in the group law on A. The composition  $\operatorname{Hilb}^n(A) \to A$  is a holomorphic fiber bundle and the fiber  $K_{n-1}(A)$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold, the generalized Kummer variety. This is shown in [**Bea83**, Thm 4]. If  $A \to E$ is a fibration to an elliptic curve, then similar to the case of the Hilbert scheme of a K3 surface also  $K_{n-1}(A)$  will admit a Lagrangian fibration.

### IV.3. The Beauville-Bogomolov quadratic form

There is a quadratic form  $q_X : H^2(X, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{C}$  on the second cohomology of an irreducible symplectic manifold defined by

(IV.3.1)  

$$q_X(\alpha) = \frac{n}{2} \int_X \alpha^2 . \omega^{n-1} . \bar{\omega}^{n-1} + (1-n) \left( \int_X \alpha . \omega^n . \bar{\omega}^{n-1} \right) \left( \int_X \alpha . \omega^{n-1} . \bar{\omega}^n \right).$$

56

It was discovered by Beauville [**Bea83**] and is called the *Beauville-Bogomolov*form, see also [**GHJ03**, Def 22.8 ff]. It resembles the intersection pairing on surfaces, in particular it coincides with the intersection pairing up to a scalar, if X is a K3 surface. This form has a rich theory. It is to be held responsible for many things we know about irreducible symplectic manifolds. On the other side its existence is mysterious and a natural explanation for it would be a wonderful thing to have.

We will also write  $q_X$  for the extension of this form to  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ . Using the Hodge decomposition  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}\omega \oplus H^{1,1}(X) \oplus \mathbb{C}\bar{\omega}$ , writing  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ accordingly as  $\alpha = \lambda \omega + \beta + \mu \bar{\omega}$  with  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$  and normalizing  $\omega$  such that  $\int_X \omega^n . \bar{\omega}^n = 1$  the formula (IV.3.1) takes the form

(IV.3.2) 
$$q_X(\alpha) = \lambda \mu + \int_X \beta^2 . \omega^{n-1} . \bar{\omega}^{n-1}.$$

We list two properties of  $q_X$ ; for proofs see § 23 of Huybrecht's lectures in [**GHJ03**] and references therein. We will not distinguish between the quadratic form  $q_X$  and the bilinear form obtained from  $q_X$  by polarization.

PROPOSITION IV.3.1. The Beauville-Bogomolov form  $q_X$  is non-degenerate and has signature  $(3, b_2(X) - 3)$  on  $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ . If  $\kappa$  is a Kähler class, then  $q_X$ is positive on the subspace generated by  $\kappa$  and the real and imaginary parts Re $\omega$  and Im $\omega$  of the symplectic form. Moreover,  $q_X$  can be renormalized to be a primitive integral quadratic form on  $H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ .

PROPOSITION IV.3.2. There are constants  $a_p$  only depending on the deformation type of X such that

$$a_p q_X(\alpha)^{n-p} = \int_X c_p(X) . \alpha^{2(n-p)}$$

for all  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  where  $c_p(X)$  are the Chern classes of X.

### CHAPTER V

# The universal deformation space of an irreducible symplectic manifold

In this chapter we explain existence and basic properties of a universal deformation space M for an irreducible symplectic manifold X. We define and discuss certain subspaces. Those results of Voisin's article [Voi92], which we use in Chapter VI, are explained and for convenience proofs are reproduced.

#### V.1. Existence and properties of the universal deformation space

By Kuranishi's theorem [**Kur62**] for every compact complex space X there exists a versal deformation space M for deformations of X. This means that there is a flat morphism  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  of complex spaces and a point  $0 \in M$  with  $\pi^{-1}(0) = X$  and  $\pi$  is versal at 0 in the sense of Definition I.5.4. Moreover,  $\pi$  is also versal in an open neighbourhood of  $0 \in M$ . As  $H^0(X, T_X) = 0$  for irreducible symplectic manifolds, M is a universal deformation space, that is,  $\pi$  is universal at 0. We call  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  the universal family. Close to  $0 \in M$  the fibers of  $\pi$  are again irreducible symplectic manifolds, see [**Bea83**, §8]. Universality at 0 implies that

 $\dim_0 M = \dim t_{D_X} = \dim H^1(X, T_X) = \dim H^1(X, \Omega_X) = \dim H^{1,1}(X),$ 

where the third equality comes from the isomorphism  $T_X \xrightarrow{\cong} \Omega_X$  induced by the symplectic form. The universal deformation space M of X is known to be smooth by the Bogomolov-Tian-Todorov theorem [**Bog78**, **Tia87**, **Tod89**], see also [**GHJ03**, Thm 14.10] for an introduction. It is convenient to consider the pointed complex space (M, 0) as a germ of complex spaces. This means that instead of (M, 0) we look at the equivalence class of (M, 0) in the category of pointed complex spaces, where two pointed complex spaces are considered equivalent if they are biholomorphic locally around their respective distinguished points. As M is smooth at 0 we may take as a representative of M a polydisc at the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

V.1.1. Local Torelli theorem. Let M be a simply connected representative of the universal deformation space of X and consider the universal family  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$ . Then  $\pi$  is a  $C^{\infty}$ -trivial fiber bundle by Ehresmann's theorem. We choose once and for all a trivialization

(V.1.1) 
$$X \times M \xrightarrow[C^{\infty}\cong]{\pi} \mathfrak{X}$$

and a relative symplectic form  $\omega \in R^0 \pi_* \Omega^2_{\mathfrak{X}/M}$ . We put  $X_t := \pi^{-1}(t)$  and write  $\omega_t := \omega|_{X_t}$  for the symplectic form on  $X_t$ . The restriction of  $\alpha$  to the fiber over  $t \in M$  is a diffeomorphism  $\alpha_t : X \to X_t$ . Consider the *period* map

(V.1.2) 
$$\mathcal{P}: M \to \mathbb{P}\left(H^2(X, \mathbb{C})\right), \quad t \mapsto [\alpha_t^* \omega_t]$$

Beauville showed in [**Bea83**, Thm 5] that a local Torelli theorem holds for irreducible symplectic manifolds. This means that locally at 0 the period map identifies M with its period domain

(V.1.3) 
$$Q_X := \left\{ [v] \in \mathbb{P}(H^2(X, \mathbb{C})) : q_X(v, v) = 0, q_X(v, \bar{v}) > 0 \right\}$$

where  $q_X$  is the Beauville-Bogomolov form on  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ , see section IV.3.

### V.2. Subspaces of M

V.2.1. Hodge bundles and the Gauß-Manin connection. The material presented here is taken from [VoiI, Ch 5.1.2], where we also refer to for proofs. We use the notation of section V.1 and define the vector bundle  $\mathcal{H}^k$  on M as

$$\mathscr{H}^k := R^k \pi_* \underline{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathfrak{F}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_M.$$

We obtain a filtration by subbundles  $\mathscr{F}^p\mathscr{H}^k$  of  $\mathscr{H}^k$  by applying the isomorphism

$$R^k \pi_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}/M} \cong R^k \pi_* \underline{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_M$$

to the subbundles

$$\operatorname{im}\left(R^k\pi_*\Omega_{\mathfrak{X}/M}^{\geq p} \to R^k\pi_*\Omega_{\mathfrak{X}/M}^{\bullet}\right)$$

of  $R^k \pi_* \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}/M}$ . The fiber of  $\mathscr{F}^p \mathscr{H}^k$  at  $t \in M$  is canonically identified with the *p*-term  $F^p H^k(X_t)$  of the Hodge filtration on  $H^k(X_t)$ . We define the bundles

$$\mathscr{H}^{p,q} := \mathscr{F}^p \mathscr{H}^{p+q} / \mathscr{F}^{p+1} \mathscr{H}^{p+q}$$

The fiber of  $\mathscr{H}^{p,q}$  at  $t \in M$  is canonically identified with  $H^q(X_t, \Omega_{X_t}^p)$ . The bundle  $\mathscr{H}^k$  as well as the bundles  $\mathscr{H}^{p,q}$  are sometimes called *Hodge* bundles. There is a local system  $\mathscr{H}^k_{\mathbb{C}} := R^k \pi_* \underline{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{H}^k$  and the associated flat connection

$$\nabla: \mathscr{H}^k \to \mathscr{H}^k \otimes \Omega_M$$

is called the  $Gau\beta$ -Manin connection. It can be calculated as follows. If we take local sections  $s_1, \ldots, s_m \in \mathscr{H}_{\mathbb{C}}$  which trivialize  $\mathscr{H}^k$  over some open subset, any section  $s \in \mathscr{H}$  can be written as a sum  $\sum_i f_i s_i$  with local sections  $f_i \in \mathcal{O}_M$ . Then by definition we have  $\nabla(s) = \sum_i s_i \otimes df_i$  where d is just the ordinary differential  $d : \mathcal{O}_M \to \Omega_M$ . In particular, the sheaf  $\mathscr{H}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is exactly the sheaf of flat sections of  $\mathscr{H}$ . The Gauß-Manin connection fulfills the so-called *Griffiths transversality* 

$$abla \left( \mathscr{F}^{p} \mathscr{H}^{k} \right) \subseteq \mathscr{F}^{p-1} \mathscr{H}^{k} \otimes \Omega_{M}.$$

Therefore, it induces morphisms  $\bar{\nabla}_p : \operatorname{Gr}_{\mathscr{F}}^p \mathscr{H}^k \to \operatorname{Gr}_{\mathscr{F}}^{p-1} \mathscr{H}^k \otimes \Omega_M$  between the graded objects of the filtration. This map is  $\mathcal{O}_M$ -linear and therefore corresponds to a map  $\bar{\nabla}_p : \operatorname{Gr}_{\mathscr{F}}^p \mathscr{H}^k \to \operatorname{Hom}(T_M, \operatorname{Gr}_{\mathscr{F}}^{p-1} \mathscr{H}^k)$ . By a theorem of Griffiths its fiber at the point  $t \in M$  can be identified with the map

(V.2.1) 
$$H^{k-p}(X_t, \Omega^p_{X_t}) \to \operatorname{Hom}\left(H^1(X_t, T_{X_t}), H^{k-p-1}(X_t, \Omega^p_{X_t})\right)$$

given by cup-product and contraction.

**V.2.2. Hodge loci.** Let  $\beta \in H^k(X, \mathbb{C})$  be a cohomology class of type (p,q) with respect to the Hodge decomposition  $H^k(X, \mathbb{C}) = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H^{p,q}(X)$ . Suppose that M is simply connected. Then the local system  $\mathscr{H}^k_{\mathbb{C}}$  from section V.2.1 is trivial and  $\beta$  extends to a global section of  $\mathscr{H}^k_{\mathbb{C}}$  also denoted by  $\beta$ . We interpret  $\beta$  as a flat section of  $\mathscr{H}^k$  and write  $\beta_t$  for its fiber at t. The following definition and some basic properties can be found in [VoiII, Ch 5.3].

DEFINITION V.2.3. The *Hodge locus* associated to  $\beta$  is the complex subspace  $M_{\beta} \hookrightarrow M$  defined by the vanishing of the induced section

$$\bar{\beta}: \mathcal{O}_M \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^k \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^k / \mathscr{F}^p \mathscr{H}^k.$$

So the Hodge locus  $M_{\beta}$  is the locus of all  $t \in M$ , where  $\beta_t \in F^p H^k(X_t)$ . If  $\beta$  is an integral or at least real cohomology class of Hodge type (p, p), then

(V.2.2) 
$$M_{\beta} = \{t \in M \mid \beta_t \in H^{p,p}(X_t)\}$$

as  $\beta$  is fixed under complex conjugation and  $F^p H^{2p}(X_t) \cap \overline{F^p H^{2p}(X_t)} = H^{p,p}(X_t).$ 

V.2.4. Subspaces of M associated to Lagrangian subvarieties. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion of a Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold X of dimension 2n. Let M be a simply connected representative of the universal deformation space of X, let  $0 \in M$  be the point corresponding to X and let  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  be the universal family. Following Voisin [Voi92], we define three subspaces of M associated to Y. We denote by  $\nu : \widetilde{Y} \to Y$  a resolution of singularities and by  $j = i \circ \nu$ the composition. We take a relative symplectic form  $\omega \in R^0 \pi_* \Omega^2_{\mathfrak{X}/M}$  and write  $\omega_t := \omega|_{X_t}$  for the symplectic form on the fiber  $X_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ . For the  $C^{\infty}$ -trivialization  $\alpha$  of the universal family from (V.1.1) we put  $j_t = \alpha_t \circ j$ .

DEFINITION V.2.5. We define

(V.2.3) 
$$M'_Y := \left\{ t \in M \mid j_t^* \omega_t = 0 \text{ in } H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \right\}.$$

The Lagrangeian property of Y means  $j_0^*\omega_0 = 0$ .

If  $[Y] \in H^{2n}(X, \mathbb{Z})$  denotes the Poincaré dual of the fundamental cycle of Y, we write  $\mu_0$  for the map  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^{2+2n}(X, \mathbb{C})$  given by cup product with [Y]. This map is a morphism of Hodge structures and can be factored as

$$\mu_0: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{j^*} H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{j_*} H^{2+2n}(X, \mathbb{C}).$$

Let us lift [Y] to a flat section of  $\mathscr{H}^2$ . Then  $\mu_0$  can be extended to a map  $\mu : \mathscr{H}^2 \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^{2+2n}$ . Interpreting the relative symplectic form  $\omega$  as a section  $\omega : \mathcal{O}_M \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^2$  we give the following definition.

DEFINITION V.2.6. We put  $M'_{[Y]} := V(\mu \circ \omega)$ . In other words,

(V.2.4) 
$$M'_{[Y]} = \{t \in M \mid \mu(\omega)_t = 0\} = \{t \in M \mid [Y]_t \cup \omega_t = 0\}.$$

By the Lagrangian property we have  $\mu_0(\omega_0) = 0$ , so  $0 \in M'_{[Y]}$ .

Finally, we denote by  $M_{[Y]}$  the Hodge locus associated to the class [Y] of Y in  $H^{2n}(X,\mathbb{C})$ , see section V.2.2. As [Y] is integral and of type (n,n), its Hodge locus is set-theoretically given by

(V.2.5) 
$$M_{[Y]} = \{t \in M \mid [Y]_t \in H^{n,n}(X_t)\},\$$

where as above  $[Y]_t$  is the restriction to the fiber over t of the unique flat section of  $\mathscr{H}^{2n}$  extending [Y]. In particular, we have  $0 \in M_{[Y]}$ .

REMARK V.2.7. Observe that the spaces  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  may be defined for arbitrary subvarieties  $Y \hookrightarrow X$ . Singularities do not cause any harm, as  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  only depend on the class [Y] and  $M'_Y$  is defined via a resolution of singularities. As we are only interested in the germs at 0 of these subspaces, we may and will assume that  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  are connected.

Let us collect some simple observations on the relation among the spaces  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$ . As  $\mu = j^* j_*$  we have  $M'_Y \subseteq M'_{[Y]}$ . If  $Y = \bigcup_i Y_i$  is a decomposition into irreducible components, then  $M'_Y = \bigcap_i M'_{Y_i}$  as a direct consequence of the definitions. Moreover, the inclusions  $M'_{[Y]} \supseteq \bigcap_i M'_{[Y_i]}$  and  $M_{[Y]} \supseteq \bigcap_i M_{[Y_i]}$  are immediate.

62

**V.2.8.** Line bundles and Hodge loci of divisors. The subspaces of M defined here will be used in applications of Chapter VII. Let L be a line bundle on X. By [**Huy99**, 1.14], there is a universal deformation space  $M_L$  for deformations of the pair (X, L). Thus there is a family  $\pi_L : \mathcal{X} \to M_L$  and a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on the total space  $\mathcal{X}$  which have the universal property for deformations of (X, L). If L is non-trivial,  $M_L$  is a smooth hypersurface in M. This is a consequence of  $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ , see [**Huy99**].

When we identify M with the quadric  $Q_X$  from (V.1.3), then  $M_L$  is given by the equation  $q_X(c_1(L), \cdot) = 0$  in  $Q_X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(H^2(X, \mathbb{C}))$  as explained in [**GHJ03**, Lem 26.3]. More generally, if  $\beta \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R}) \subseteq H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  is a class of type (1,1) with respect to the Hodge decomposition  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) =$  $H^{2,0}(X) \oplus H^{1,1}(X) \oplus H^{0,2}(X)$ , then under this identification the Hodge locus  $M_\beta \hookrightarrow M$  parametrizing deformations of X, where  $\beta$  remains of type (1,1) is given by the equation  $q_X(\beta, \cdot) = 0$  in  $Q_X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(H^2(X, \mathbb{C}))$ .

### V.3. Voisin's results adapted

Essentially everything in this section is taken from [Voi92], but with some slight modifications to our situation. So unless the contrary is explicitly stated, all results presented are Voisin's. We will freely use the notations of section V.2.

PROPOSITION V.3.1.  $M_{[Y]} = M'_{[Y]}$  as sets.

PROOF. We first show  $M'_{[Y]} \subseteq M_{[Y]}$ . For  $t \in M'_{[Y]}$  we write  $[Y]_t = \sum_{p+q=2n} [Y]_t^{p,q}$  with respect to the Hodge decomposition at t. We want to show that  $[Y]_t = [Y]_t^{n,n}$ . As [Y] is integral, we have  $\overline{[Y]_t^{p,q}} = [Y]_t^{q,p}$  and so it suffices to show that  $[Y]_t^{p,q} = 0$  for p < n. As  $\omega_t$  is of type (2,0) on  $X_t$  the assumption  $\mu(\omega_t) = 0$  gives  $\omega_t \cup [Y]_t^{p,q} = 0$  for all p, q. But  $\omega_t^k \cup : \Omega_{X_t}^{n-k} \to \Omega_{X_t}^{n+k}$  is an isomorphism for  $k \ge 0$ , which can be seen pointwise by linear algebra. Hence the map  $\omega_t \cup$  is injective for p < n, which yields that  $[Y]_t^{p,q} = 0$  for p < n, as needed.

For the inclusion  $M_{[Y]} \subseteq M'_{[Y]}$  it suffices to show that  $M_{[Y]} \cap M'_{[Y]}$  is nonempty and open in  $M_{[Y]}$  as it is automatically closed and we may assume that  $M_{[Y]}$  is connected, see Remark V.2.7. This is the only point where we use that Y is Lagrangian, namely for the nonemptiness. For  $t \in M_{[Y]}$  the morphism  $\mu : H^2(X_t, \mathbb{C}) \to H^{2n+2}(X_t, \mathbb{C})$  is a morphism of Hodge structures of degree (n, n) and hence gives morphisms  $\mu^{p,q} : \mathscr{H}^{p,q} \to \mathscr{H}^{p+n,q+n}$ for p + q = 2. By semi-continuity they satisfy  $\operatorname{rk}\mu^{p,q}(t') \ge \operatorname{rk}\mu^{p,q}(t)$  for all t' in a small neighborhood U of t. As  $\mu = \mu^{2,0} \oplus \mu^{1,1} \oplus \mu^{0,2}$  as a  $C^{\infty}$ morphism on U, the rank of the summands remains constant in t. So as for  $t = 0 \in M_{[Y]} \cap M'_{[Y]}$  we have  $\mu^{2,0} = 0 = \mu^{0,2}$  this remains true in a neighbourhood and so the claim follows.

PROPOSITION V.3.2. The varieties  $M_{[Y]}$  and  $M'_{[Y]}$  are smooth near t = 0and their codimension in M is  $r_{[Y]} = \operatorname{rk} \left( \mu : H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^{2n+2}(X, \mathbb{C}) \right)$ . In particular,  $M_{[Y]} = M'_{[Y]}$  as varieties by the preceding proposition.

PROOF. We argue only for  $M'_{[Y]}$ , the case of  $M_{[Y]}$  is similar. Consider the sheaf  $\mathscr{H}_{\mu} := \mu(\mathscr{H}^2) \subseteq \mathscr{H}^{2n+2}$ . As  $\mu$  is defined on the level of local systems its rank is locally constant, so this is a vector bundle of rank  $r_{[Y]}$ . The variety  $M'_{[Y]}$  is defined by the vanishing of the section  $\mu(\omega) \in \mathscr{H}_{\mu}$ , hence codim  $M'_{[Y]} \leq r_{[Y]}$ . So it suffices to show that the rank of the system of equations  $\mu(\omega) = 0$  is equal to  $r_{[Y]}$ . Recall that the Gauß-Manin connection is given by the differential d if we trivialize with flat sections. This implies that for  $\mu$  to have rank  $r_{[Y]}$  at 0 the  $\overline{\nabla}_{\chi,0}(\mu_0(\omega_0))$  for  $\chi \in T_{M,0} = H^1(X, T_X)$ have to span a vector space of dimension  $r_{[Y]}$ .

We have  $\nabla_{\chi}(\mu(\omega_t)) = \mu(\nabla_{\chi}\omega_t)$  and by (V.2.1) the Gauß-Manin connection  $\bar{\nabla} : \mathscr{F}^2 \mathscr{H}^2 \to \operatorname{Hom}(T_M, \mathscr{F}^1 \mathscr{H}^2 / \mathscr{F}^2 \mathscr{H}^2)$  at t is identified with the morphism

$$H^0(\Omega^2_{X_t}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}\left(H^1(T_{X_t}), H^1(\Omega_{X_t})\right)$$

given by the cup product and contraction. As  $\omega_0$  is non-degenerate and of type (2,0) the  $\nabla_{\chi}\omega_t$  span the whole of  $H^{1,1}(X)$  at t = 0.

LEMMA V.3.3. The tangent space of  $M'_Y$  at 0 is given by (V.3.1)

$$T_{M'_Y,0} = \ker \left( j^* \circ \omega' : H^1(X, T_X) \xrightarrow{\omega'} H^1(X, \Omega_X) \xrightarrow{j^*} H^1(\widetilde{Y}, \Omega_{\widetilde{Y}}) \right)$$

where  $\omega'$  is the isomorphism induced by the symplectic form on X.

PROOF. Locally at  $0 \in M$  the space  $M'_Y$  is cut out by the equation  $j_t^* \omega_t = 0$ . Therefore the tangent space at 0 is given by the equation

$$0 = \left(\nabla j_t^* \omega_t\right)|_{t=0} = j^* \left(\nabla \omega_t\right)|_{t=0}.$$

The Gauß-Manin conection at 0 can be identified with the map

$$H^0(X, \Omega^2_X) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^1(X, T_X), H^1(X, \Omega_X)), \quad \psi \mapsto (u \mapsto \psi(u))$$

given by cup product and contraction, which concludes the proof.

LEMMA V.3.4. Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold of dimension dim X = 2n. Let  $Y \subseteq X$  be an irreducible Lagrangian subvariety, let  $\nu : \widetilde{Y} \longrightarrow Y$  a resolution of singularities and put  $j = i \circ \nu$ . If  $n \ge 2$ , assume that there is a Kähler class  $\kappa \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $j^*\kappa$  is a Kähler form on  $\widetilde{Y}$ . Then

$$\ker\left(\mu: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow H^{2n+2}(X, \mathbb{C})\right) = \ker\left(j^*: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})\right).$$

PROOF. We show equality of the respective kernels with real coefficients. From  $\mu = j_*j^*$  we immediately have ker  $j^* \subseteq \ker \mu$ . For the other inclusion we choose a Kähler class  $\kappa \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ . We have to show that  $j_*$  is injective on im  $j^*$ .

Assume n = 1. As  $\widetilde{Y}$  is connected,  $H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathbb{C}$  and the map  $j_* : H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  is given by  $1 \mapsto [Y]$ . As X is Kähler,  $[Y] \neq 0$ . So  $j_*$  is injective and the claim follows.

If  $n \ge 2$  and define a bilinear form

$$q_{\kappa}(\alpha,\beta) := \int_{\widetilde{Y}} (j^* \kappa^{n-2}) . \alpha . \beta \qquad \alpha, \beta \in H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})$$

on  $H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})$ . For  $\alpha, \beta \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  this gives

$$q_{\kappa}(j^*\alpha, j^*\beta) = \int_{\widetilde{Y}} j^*(\kappa^{n-2} \cdot \alpha \cdot \beta) = \int_X j_*j^*(\kappa^{n-2} \cdot \alpha \cdot \beta) = \int_X \kappa^{n-2} \cdot \mu(\alpha) \cdot \beta.$$

So if  $\mu(\alpha) = 0$ , then  $q_{\kappa}(j^*\alpha, j^*\beta) = 0$  for all  $\beta \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ . To conclude that  $j^*\alpha = 0$  it would be sufficient to see that  $q_{\kappa}$  is non-degenerate on im  $j^* \subseteq H^2(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{R})$ . On the whole of  $H^2(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{R})$  the form  $q_{\kappa}$  is non-degenerate by the Hodge index theorem, see [VoiI, Thm 6.33]. Here we need that  $j^*\kappa$ is a Kähler class. That  $q_{\kappa}$  remains non-degenerate on the subspace im  $j^*$ can also be deduced as follows. As we have seen im  $j^* \subseteq H^{1,1}(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{R}) :=$  $H^{1,1}(\tilde{Y}) \cap H^2(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{R})$  and on  $H^{1,1}(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{R})$  the form  $q_{\kappa}$  is non degenerate and has signature  $(1, h^{1,1} - 1)$ . We know that  $q_{\kappa}(j^*\kappa, j^*\kappa) > 0$  and so  $q_{\kappa}$  is negative definite on  $j^*\kappa^{\perp}$ . Write  $j^*\alpha = c \cdot j^*\kappa + \alpha'$  where  $\alpha' \in j^*\kappa^{\perp}$ . The decomposition shows that  $\alpha' \in \text{im } j^*$  as well. Then if  $j^*\alpha \neq 0$  at least one of the numbers  $q_{\kappa}(j^*\alpha, j^*\kappa), q_{\kappa}(j^*\alpha, \alpha')$  is nonzero and so  $\mu(\alpha) \neq 0$  completing the proof.  $\Box$ 

In [Voi92] the condition that  $j^*\kappa$  be a Kähler class is automatic, as Y is a smooth submanifold there. We show that the condition is fulfilled in the following cases.

LEMMA V.3.5. Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold, let  $Y \subseteq X$  be an irreducible Lagrangian subvariety, let  $\nu : \tilde{Y} \to Y$  a the normalization and put  $j = i \circ \nu$ . Assume that one of the following holds.

- (1) Y has normal crossing singularities.
- (2) X is projective and  $\widetilde{Y}$  is smooth.

Then there is a Kähler class  $\kappa$  on X such that  $j^*\kappa$  is a Kähler class on  $\widetilde{Y}$ .

PROOF. Assume that Y has normal crossings. If  $\kappa$  is a Kähler class represented by a positive (1,1)-form  $\psi$ , then  $j^*\psi$  is also positive. Indeed, analytically locally in  $\widetilde{Y}$  the map j is a closed embedding and positivity of forms is a local property. The class of  $j^*\psi$  is  $j^*\kappa$  and thus positive.

If X is projective and the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  of Y is smooth, then we can take the first Chern class of any ample line bundle for  $\kappa$ , as the pullback of an ample line bundle along a finite morphism is ample.

COROLLARY V.3.6. Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold, let  $Y \subseteq X$  be an irreducible Lagrangian subvariety, let  $\nu : \tilde{Y} \to Y$  the normalization and put  $j = i \circ \nu$ . We have

$$\ker\left(\mu: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^{2n+2}(X, \mathbb{C})\right) = \ker\left(j^*: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})\right)$$

in each of the following cases:

- (1)  $\dim X = 2$ .
- (2) Y has normal crossing singularities.
- (3) X is projective and  $\tilde{Y}$  is smooth.

PROOF. The case dim X = 2 is contained in Lemma V.3.4 and in the other cases Lemma V.3.5 guarantees that Lemma V.3.4 can be applied.  $\Box$ 

So in these cases we can imitate [Voi92, Prop 1.7].

PROPOSITION V.3.7. Let  $Y \subseteq X$  be an irreducible Lagrangian subvariety, let  $\widetilde{Y} \to Y$  be the normalization and assume that one of the following cases holds:

- (1)  $\dim X = 2.$
- (2) Y has normal crossing singularities.
- (3) X is projective and  $\widetilde{Y}$  is smooth.

Then we have  $M'_{[Y]} = M'_Y$ . In particular,  $M'_Y$  is smooth at 0.

PROOF. We observed that  $M'_Y \subseteq M'_{[Y]}$  in Remark V.2.7. As  $M'_{[Y]}$  is smooth by Proposition V.3.2 it suffices to show that  $M'_Y \supseteq M'_{[Y]}$  holds settheoretically. By definition  $t \in M'_{[Y]}$  if  $\omega_t \cup [Y]_t = 0$  and  $t \in M'_Y$  if  $j_t^* \omega_t = 0$ . But  $\omega_t \cup [Y]_t = 0$  if and only if  $j_t^* \omega_t = 0$  by Lemma V.3.4.

66
## CHAPTER VI

# **Deformations of Lagrangian subvarieties**

Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion of a Lagrangian subvariety. In this chapter we construct a universal deformation space  $M_i$  for locally trivial deformations of i as an easy application of results of Flenner and Kosarew [**FK87**]. It comes with a canonical map  $p: M_i \to M$ , where M is the universal deformation space of X. If Y has simple normal crossings, we prove smoothness of  $M_i$  in Theorem VI.3.12. Moreover, we show that the image  $M_Y$  of p is well-defined and smooth in Theorem VI.4.3. The difficulty is that these objects are germs of complex spaces and taking the image does in general depend on the chosen representative.

The proofs of our smoothness results are elaborations of Ran's ideas [**Ran92b**], [**Ran92a**] and the method is related to the  $T^1$ -lifting principle. Here, all theory of the preceding chapters is put together. The main point is to show that the cohomology sheaves  $T^1_{I/R}$  for a deformation  $I : \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  of i over  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are free R-modules and compatible with base change, see Lemma I.3.4. The strategy is to link them to other modules via the exact sequence (VI.3.5). These modules can be related to Hodge theory using the symplectic form.

These smoothness results play an important role in the proof of our main result, Theorem VI.5.3. It generalizes Voisin's theorem [Voi92] to simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvarieties. The other ingredients in the proof are essentially the same as Voisin's.

One can find similar or related smoothness statements in the literature, for which full proofs never seemed to be written down, or this has happened only more or less explicitly in proves of other statements. As those facts are freely used in the literature, it might be helpful to have an explicit reference. So we use the opportunity to collect other smoothness results in section VI.6 with proofs derived from our main results.

## VI.1. Projectivity of Lagrangian subvarieties

If  $Y \subseteq X$  is a smooth Lagrangian subvariety, then Y is projective by Proposition IV.1.6. If  $Y \subseteq X$  is a singular Lagrangian subvariety, it is natural to

ask whether Y is still projective. Later on we want to apply the results of the preceding sections, which involve mixed Hodge structures on the cohomology of Y, to Lagrangian subvarieties in symplectic manifolds. Therefore we at least need to know that Y is an algebraic variety or more precisely, that  $Y = \mathfrak{Y}^{an}$  for an algebraic variety  $\mathfrak{Y}$ . We have

LEMMA VI.1.1. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a complex Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $\nu: \tilde{Y} \to Y$  be the normalization. There is a line bundle L on Y such that  $c_1(\nu^*L) = \nu^*i^*\lambda$  for some Kähler class  $\lambda$  on X. If moreover Y has normal crossings, then  $\nu^*L$  is ample and  $\tilde{Y}$  is projective. In particular,  $\tilde{Y}$  is a projective algebraic variety.

PROOF. Isomorphism classes of line bundles on Y are classified by the group  $H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y^{\times})$ , see [**GR77**, Kap V, § 3.2]. This cohomology group appears in the commutative diagram

where the first line is the long exact sequence associated to the exponential sequence, see [GR77, Kap V,  $\S 2.4$ ], and the right vertical column comes from the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\geq 1} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Y \longrightarrow 0.$$

Here we need that  $\widetilde{\Omega}_Y^0 = \mathcal{O}_Y$ . This is true, as Y is reduced, because then Y does not have embedded points. To obtain a holomorphic line bundle L on Y it is sufficient to find a class  $\alpha \in H^2(Y, \mathbb{Z})$ , such that the image in  $\mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet})$  comes from  $\mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\geq 1})$ . Such L will have  $c_1(L) = \alpha$ .

Let  $H_X := \operatorname{im}(i^* : \mathbb{H}^2(X, \Omega_X^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet}))$  where  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  is the inclusion. From the spectral sequence for  $\Omega^{\bullet}$  we obtain maps

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^0(X, \Omega^2_X) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{H}^2(X, \Omega^{\bullet}_X) \xleftarrow{\cong} & H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \\ & & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ H^0(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^2_Y) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_Y) \xleftarrow{} & H^2(Y, \mathbb{C}) \end{array}$$

As Y is Lagrangian and by definition  $\widetilde{\Omega}_Y^2$  is torsion free we have  $i^*\omega = 0$  in  $H^0(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^2)$  where  $\omega \in H^0(X, \Omega_X^2)$  is the symplectic form on X. By Hodgedecomposition  $\mathbb{H}^2(X, \Omega_X^{\bullet}) \cong H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \cong H^{2,0}(X) \oplus H^{1,1}(X) \oplus H^{0,2}(X)$  and by Dolbeault's theorem  $H^0(X, \Omega_X^2) \cong H^{2,0}(X)$  we see that  $H^{2,0}(X) \cong \mathbb{C}\omega$ maps to zero under  $i^*$ . From the left square of the above diagram, we see that also the complex conjugate  $H^{0,2}(X) \cong \mathbb{C}\overline{\omega}$  maps to zero, as the map  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(Y, \mathbb{C})$  is defined over  $\mathbb{R}$ . Thus

(VI.1.1)  
$$H_X = \operatorname{im}(i^* : H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_Y))$$
$$= \operatorname{im}(i^* : H^{1,1}(X) \to \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_Y)).$$

Let  $H_{X,\mathbb{R}} = \operatorname{im}(i^* : H^2(X,\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet}))$ . The last description in (VI.1.1) implies that  $i^*(\mathcal{K}_X)$  is open in  $H_{X,\mathbb{R}}$  where  $\mathcal{K}_X$  is the Kähler cone of X. Indeed,  $\mathcal{K}_X$  is open in  $H^{1,1}(X)_{\mathbb{R}} = H^{1,1}(X) \cap H^2(X,\mathbb{R})$  and the map  $H^{1,1}(X) \to H_X$  is surjective. Therefore also  $H^{1,1}(X)_{\mathbb{R}} \to H_{X,\mathbb{R}}$  is surjective and so that  $i^*(\mathcal{K}_X)$  is open in  $H_{X,\mathbb{R}}$ . We show next that  $i^*(\mathcal{K}_X)$  meets the image of  $H^2(Y,\mathbb{Z})$ . Let us consider

$$H_{X,\mathbb{Q}} = \operatorname{im}(i^* : H^2(X,\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}^2(Y,\widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet})) \subseteq H_X.$$

This is dense in  $H_{X,\mathbb{R}}$  as  $H^2(X,\mathbb{Q})$  is dense in  $H^2(X,\mathbb{R})$  and so it meets  $i^*(\mathcal{K}_X)$ , say in  $\alpha' \in H_{X,\mathbb{Q}} \cap i^*(\mathcal{K}_X)$ . Then a multiple  $\alpha = m \cdot \alpha'$  is contained in  $\operatorname{im}(H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}_Y^{\bullet})) \cap i^*\mathcal{K}_X$  and we obtain a line bundle L on Y with the desired property by using the exponential sequence as explained above.

Now, suppose that Y has normal crossings. Then we have  $c_1(\nu^*L) = \nu^* \alpha$ , where we define  $\nu^* : \mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_Y) \to H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})$  as the composition of the natural map  $\mathbb{H}^2(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_Y) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\widetilde{Y}, \Omega^{\bullet}_{\widetilde{Y}})$  with the inverse of the isomorphism  $H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\widetilde{Y}, \Omega^{\bullet}_{\widetilde{Y}})$ . To show that  $\nu^*L$  is ample, we will show that the class  $\nu^* \alpha \in H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})$  is represented by a positive (1, 1)-form. Indeed, classes in  $\mathcal{K}_X$  may be represented by (1, 1)-forms, whose restrictions to every submanifold are positive. Since  $\alpha \in i^*\mathcal{K}_X$ , there is such a positive (1, 1)form  $\psi$  on X, whose cohomology class  $[\psi] \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  restricts to  $\alpha$  on Y. Analytically locally in  $\widetilde{Y}$ , the composition  $i \circ \nu : \widetilde{Y} \to X$  is a closed immersion as Y has normal crossings. Thus,  $\nu^*\psi$  is positive, as positivity is a local property. Pullback of differential forms is compatible with taking cohomology classes, so  $\nu^* \alpha$  is represented by the positive form  $\nu^* \psi$ . This concludes the proof via Kodaira's embedding theorem and Chow's theorem. PROPOSITION VI.1.2. If  $Y \subseteq X$  is a complex Lagrangian simple normal crossing subvariety in a symplectic manifold, then Y is a projective algebraic variety.

PROOF. As the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  is a projective algebraic variety by Lemma VI.1.1, so is every component  $Y_i$  of Y. If we knew that Y itself were an algebraic variety, we would be done, because an algebraic variety is projective, if all its irreducible components are. By induction on the number of irreducible components, we may write  $Y = Y_1 \cup Y_2$  where  $Y_1$  is irreducible and both  $Y_i$  are projective algebraic varieties. In particular  $\Sigma = Y_1 \cap Y_2$  is a projective algebraic variety. Then the diagram



is cocartesian in the category of complex spaces. This is clear for the underlying topological space and is shown by an explicit computation using local descriptions  $Y_2 \cong \{x_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot x_k = 0\}, Y_1 \cong \{x_{k+1} = 0\}.$ 

In detail it works like this. Suppose  $n = \dim Y$  and Y is locally isomorphic to  $x_1 \ldots x_{k+1} = 0$  in a small polydisc in  $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  with coordinates  $x_1, \ldots, x_{n+1}$ . Let  $B = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}^{n+1}}(\Delta)$ . We have to show that the diagram

$$B/(x_1 \dots x_k, x_{k+1}) \longleftarrow B/(x_{k+1})$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow$$

$$B/(x_1 \dots x_k) \longleftarrow B/(x_1 \dots x_{k+1})$$

is cartesian. Therefore it suffices to show that given  $f, g \in B$  representing  $[f] \in B/(x_1 \dots x_k)$  and  $[g] \in B/(x_{k+1})$  with [f] = [g] modulo  $(x_1 \dots x_k, x_{k+1})$  there is  $h \in B$  unique up to  $(x_1 \dots x_{k+1})$  mapping to [f] respectively [g]. By the condition on f and g there are  $\alpha, \beta \in B$  with  $f-g = -\alpha x_1 \dots x_k + \beta x_{k+1}$ . Then  $h = f + \alpha x_1 \dots x_k = g + \beta x_{k+1}$  maps to [f] respectively [g]. For uniqueness assume we find  $h' \in B$  mapping to [f], [g], then  $h' - h = x_1 \dots x_k \gamma = x_{k+1}\delta$  for some  $\gamma, \delta \in B$ . Thus  $x_1 \dots x_{k+1}$  divides h' - h so that [h] = [h'] in  $B/(x_1 \dots x_{k+1})$ .

Hence by [Fer03, Scolie 4.3] the above diagram is also cocartesian in the category of ringed spaces. Thus Y is an algebraic variety by [Fer03, Thm 5.4] and projective by [Har70, Ch 1, Prop 4.3, 4.4].

#### VI.2. Deformation theory on symplectic manifolds

Suppose  $g: \mathcal{X} \to S$  is a deformation of an irreducible symplectic manifold X over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ . The symplectic form  $\omega_0$  on X extends to a section  $\omega \in R^0 g_* \Omega^2_{\mathcal{X}/S}$ , as this module is free. For the same reason all such extensions differ by a factor in  $R^{\times}$ . As  $\omega$  is nondegenerate on the central fiber and R is local, it is non-degenerate everywhere.

LEMMA VI.2.1. Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvariety. If  $I : \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  is a locally trivial deformation of i over S, then  $\mathcal{Y}$ is Lagrangian with respect to the symplectic form  $\omega$  on  $\mathcal{X}$ .

PROOF. Let  $\tilde{f}: \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \to S$  be the locally trivial deformation of the normalization of Y obtained from Lemma III.1.5. Note, that Y is projective by Proposition VI.1.2, so Lemma III.1.5 can be applied. As Y has simple normal crossings,  $f \circ \nu : \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \to S$  is smooth and for  $j = i \circ \nu$  the restriction  $j^*: R^0g_*\Omega^2_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^0f_*\Omega^2_{\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}/S}$  has constant rank by Proposition III.3.4. As  $\mathrm{rk}(j^* \otimes \mathbb{C}) = 0$  on the central fiber,  $j^*$  is identically zero and thus  $\mathcal{Y}$  is Lagrangian.

LEMMA VI.2.2. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a locally complete intersection Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold X, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let

be a locally trivial deformation of *i* over *S*. Then the symplectic form  $\omega \in R^0 g_* \Omega^2_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  induces a morphism between the exact sequences from (I.3.3) to (I.3.4).

PROOF. Since  $\omega$  is non-degenerate, the map  $\omega^{-1} : \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to T_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  is an isomorphism. This will induce the other morphisms in the diagram as explained below. The composition  $\varphi : \mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2 \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}})$ is zero at smooth points. This follows from linear algebra and the remark after Definition IV.1.4. So  $M := \operatorname{im} \varphi$  is torsion. But  $\mathcal{Y}$  is a locally complete intersection, so  $\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2$  is locally free and by [Mat80, 16, Thm 30] the submodule M is zero. So the restriction of  $\omega^{-1}$  to  $\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2$  factors through  $T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ . Once we have this, we obtain a morphism  $\omega' : \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$ , as the first line of (VI.2.2) is exact, by lifting sections to  $\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ .

COROLLARY VI.2.3. In the situation of the preceding lemma assume in addition that  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  is smooth. Then  $\omega$  gives an isomorphism  $\omega' : \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$ .

PROOF. As f is smooth,  $T^1_{\mathcal{Y}/S} = 0$ . So (VI.2.2) gives a surjection  $\omega$ :  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$ . As both  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  and  $N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  are locally free, the claim follows.

Note that  $\mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2 \to T_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is not in general an isomorphism as  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  might have a kernel. The following Proposition determines this kernel.

PROPOSITION VI.2.4. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a locally complete intersection Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold X, let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let  $I: \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  be a locally trivial deformation of i over S as in (VI.2.1). Let  $\omega': \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  be as in (VI.2.2) and let  $N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  be the equisingular normal sheaf defined in (I.3.5). Then the diagram

can be completed and  $\widetilde{\omega} : \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  is an isomorphism. The analogue is true in the analytic setting.

PROOF. As  $\mathcal{Y}$  is a locally complete intersection,  $N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$  is locally free, hence Cohen-Macaulay. Therefore it has no embedded primes by [Mat80, 16, Thm 30], hence  $\tau^1_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  maps to zero and  $\tilde{\omega}$  exists. But as  $\omega$  is an isomorphism at smooth points of f, the support of ker  $\omega$  is contained in the singular locus of f, hence ker  $\omega \subseteq \tau^k_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  and  $\tilde{\omega}$  is injective. Moreover  $\tilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ maps onto ker $(N_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \to T^1_{\mathcal{Y}/S})$  by (VI.2.2), hence is identified with  $N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}}$ . All arguments are equally valid in the analytic category.

This proposition determines the sheaf  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  as one of the main objects in our studies. The complex  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  calculates the cohomology with coefficients in the constant sheaf  $\underline{R}_Y$  by Lemma III.2.6 and is used to put a mixed Hodge structure on the cohomology groups  $H^k(Y,\underline{R}_Y)$ , see section III.4.

## VI.3. The space $M_i$ and the $T^1$ -lifting principle

**VI.3.1.** The space  $M_i$ . Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion of a closed subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold. We explain here, why a universal deformation space  $M_i$  for locally trivial deformations of i in the sense of Definition I.5.4 exists as a germ of complex spaces. Given a deformation of a holomorphic map over a complex space S, the existence of a complex subspace of S parametrizing locally trivial deformations is due to [**FK87**], as we explain in Remark VI.3.3. So we have to pick a suitable candidate for S, obtain a subspace  $M_i$  and argue about universality.

For an irreducible symplectic manifold X there exists a universal deformation space M as explained in Chapter V. Let  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  be the universal family and  $q : \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M) \to M$  the relative Douady space of  $\pi$  constructed by Pourcin, see [**Pou69**, Thm2]. The Douady space is the complex analogue to the Hilbert scheme and parametrizes complex subspaces of  $\mathfrak{X}$  relative over M. The inclusion  $Y \hookrightarrow X \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$  gives a point  $0 \in \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$ .

PROPOSITION VI.3.2. There is a complex subspace  $M_i \hookrightarrow \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$  containing 0, whose germ at 0 is a universal deformation space for locally trivial deformations of *i*. Furthermore, there is a canonical map  $p: M_i \to M$ .

PROOF. Let  $I: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be a locally trivial deformation of  $Y \to X$  over a complex space S. After shrinking S we may assume that I is fiberwise a closed embedding and that there is a holomorphic classifying map  $S \to M$ so that  $\mathcal{X} = \mathfrak{X} \times_M S$ . Then we obtain a classifying map  $S \to \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$  such that I is the pullback of  $\mathscr{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \times_M \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$ , where  $\mathscr{U}$  is the universal family of subspaces of  $\mathfrak{X}$  over  $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$ . Now it follows from [**FK87**, Thm 5.3] that there is a maximal complex subspace  $M_i$  of  $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$  parametrizing locally trivial deformations. The map p is simply the composition of the inclusion  $M_i \hookrightarrow \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M)$  and the projection  $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{X}/M) \to M$ .

REMARK VI.3.3. Flenner and Kosarew show in [**FK87**] that every compact complex space X has a semi-universal locally trivial deformation  $\mathcal{X}^{\text{lt}} \to M^{\text{lt}}$ in the sense of space germs [**FK87**, (0.3) Cor]. The space  $M^{\text{lt}}$  is constructed as a subspace of a semi-universal deformation space M of X. If  $\mathcal{X} \to M$  is the semi-universal deformation over M, Flenner and Kosarew show that for every point  $x \in X \subseteq \mathcal{X}$  there is a maximal subgerm  $M_x \hookrightarrow M$ , the so-called *trivial locus* for x, such that the map of germs  $(\mathcal{X}, x) \to (M_x, 0)$  is the trivial deformation [**FK87**, (0.2) Cor]. Then the subspace

(VI.3.1) 
$$M^{\mathrm{lt}} := \bigcap_{x \in X} M_x$$

has the semi-universality property for locally trivial deformations. They remark [**FK87**, p. 630] that in the same article they also obtain similar results for deformations of other types of analytic objects and introduce the concept of *data of structure preserving maps* to have a unified treatment. In particular, this notion can be used to handle deformations of holomorphic maps as explained in [**FK87**, (1.5) Example]. If



is a universal or semi-universal deformation of a map  $f: Y \to X$ , then [**FK87**, Thm 5.3] shows the existence of a trivial locus  $M_y \hookrightarrow M_f$ , that is, a subspace where  $(\mathcal{Y}, y) \xrightarrow{F} (\mathcal{X}, f(y))$  is the trivial deformation of the map germ  $(Y, y) \xrightarrow{f} (X, f(y))$ . This theorem holds under the condition that the relative  $T^1$  has finite rank, which is fulfilled for proper maps. So one can define the subspace  $\bigcap_{y \in Y} M_y$  of  $M_f$ , which in complete analogy to (VI.3.1) is a universal or semi-universal deformation for locally trivial deformations of f.

By construction there is a forgetful morphism  $p: M_i \to M$  of complex spaces together with  $p^{\#}: \mathcal{O}_{M,0} \to \mathcal{O}_{M_i,0}$ . Let  $R_X = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M,0}}$  and  $R_i = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M_i,0}}$ be the completions at 0 and denote again  $p^{\#}: R_X \to R_i$ .

LEMMA VI.3.4. The algebras  $R_i$  and  $R_X$  prorepresent  $D_i^{\text{lt}}$ ,  $D_X$  so that

 $D_i^{\text{lt}} = \text{Hom}(R_i, \cdot)$  and  $D_X^{\text{lt}} = \text{Hom}(R_X, \cdot)$ 

and the ring homomorphism  $R_X \to R_i$  induced by the map of functors is just  $p^{\#}$ .

PROOF. We argue for  $R_i$  only, the case of  $R_X$  is similar. Every locally trivial deformation  $\mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is itself a morphism of complex spaces, so there is a classifying map  $\varphi : S \to M_i$ . As the underlying map of topological spaces is just the inclusion  $\{0\} \hookrightarrow M_i$ , the morphism  $\varphi$  is determined by the ring homomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_{M_i,0} \to R$ . This morphism decends to  $\varphi^{\#} : \mathcal{O}_{M_i,0}/\mathfrak{m}^k \to R$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{m}$  is the maximal ideal. But  $\mathcal{O}_{M_i,0}/\mathfrak{m}^k \xrightarrow{\cong} R_i/\mathfrak{m}_i^k$  where  $\mathfrak{m}_i = \mathfrak{m}R_i$  and so  $\varphi$  is determined by a morphism  $R_i \to R$ . The last statement is clear, as a morphism of complete local rings is determined by its truncations modulo powers of the maximal ideal.  $\square$ 

REMARK VI.3.5. The results of Proposition VI.3.2 and Lemma VI.3.4 depend on X being symplectic only in so far that there exists a universal deformation space M for X, which is true for every compact complex manifold with  $H^0(X, T_X) = 0$ . The results do not at all depend on Y being Lagrangian.

VI.3.6. The  $T^1$ -lifting Principle. In this section we will prove smoothness of  $M_i$  at 0. Therefore we use Ran's  $T^1$ -lifting principle [**Ran92a**], a technique to prove unobstructedness of a given prorepresentable deformation functor D: Art<sub>k</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Set having relative tangent spaces  $T_R^1$  and an obstruction space  $T^2$  as in Lemma I.3.4. Ran's ideas were developed further by Kawamata [**Kaw92**, **Kaw97**]. The method works in two steps.

The first step works for every prorepresentable deformation functor D, which has an obstruction space  $T^2$ . Put  $A_n := k[t]/t^{n+1}$  and let  $A_{n+1} \to A_n$  be the canonical projection. To prove unobstructedness of D it suffices to show that the induced map  $D(A_{n+1}) \to D(A_n)$  is always surjective by Corollary I.1.7. However we want to replace this by a different criterion. Therefore we introduce the k-algebras  $B_n := A_n[\varepsilon]$  and  $C_n := A_n[\varepsilon]/\varepsilon t^n$ . There are canonical projections  $C_n \to B_{n-1}$  and  $B_n \to C_n \to A_n$ . The last one is split by the inclusion  $A_n \to B_n$ .

LEMMA VI.3.7. Let  $B_n \to C_n$  be the canonical surjection. If the induced map  $D(B_n) \to D(C_n)$  is surjective, then  $D(A_{n+1}) \to D(A_n)$  is surjective.

**PROOF.** We have a morphism of small extensions in  $Art_k$ :

(VI.3.2) 
$$\begin{array}{ccc} 0 \longrightarrow (t^{n+1}) \longrightarrow A_{n+1} \longrightarrow A_n \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & \downarrow \delta & & \downarrow \delta \\ 0 \longrightarrow (\varepsilon t^n) \longrightarrow B_n \longrightarrow C_n \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

where  $\delta(t) = t + \varepsilon$ . The morphism  $(t^{n+1}) \rightarrow (\varepsilon t^n)$  is multiplication by n+1and hence an isomorphism as char k = 0. If we apply D to diagram (VI.3.2), we obtain

(VI.3.3) 
$$D(A_{n+1}) \longrightarrow D(A_n) \longrightarrow T^2 \otimes (t^{n+1})$$
$$\downarrow^{\delta} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\delta} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\cong}$$
$$D(B_n) \longrightarrow D(C_n) \longrightarrow T^2 \otimes (\varepsilon t^n)$$

Since  $D(B_n) \to D(C_n)$  is surjective,  $D(C_n) \to T^2 \otimes (\varepsilon t^n)$  is the zero map. The claim now follows by diagram chase. For an element  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  we denote by  $\xi_n|_{A_{n-1}}$  the image of  $\xi_n$  under the canonical map  $D(A_n) \to D(A_{n-1})$ . Recall that  $D(B_n)_{\xi_n} = \varphi_B^{-1}(\xi_n)$  where  $\varphi_B : D(B_n) \to D(A_n)$  is the canonical map.

LEMMA VI.3.8. The morphism  $D(B_n) \to D(C_n)$  is surjective if for all  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  and  $\xi_{n-1} := \xi_n|_{A_{n-1}}$  the map

$$D(B_n)_{\xi_n} \longrightarrow D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$$

between the fibers over  $\xi_n$  and  $\xi_{n-1}$  is surjective.

PROOF. To see this, we consider the diagram

where all morphisms are induced by the canonical projections, see section VI.3.6. Let  $\eta \in D(C_n)$  be given and put  $\xi_n := \varphi_C(\eta) \in D(A_n)$ . The lower square is cocartesian, as D is prorepresentable and already the square of rings is cocartesian. Therefore the restriction of  $\psi$  to the fiber  $D(C_n)_{\xi_n} = \varphi_C^{-1}(\xi_n)$  gives a bijection

$$D(C_n)_{\xi_n} \xrightarrow{\psi} D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$$

onto the fiber over  $\xi_{n-1}$ . By assumption,  $D(B_n)_{\xi_n} \to D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$  is surjective. Hence, there is  $\eta' \in D(B_n)_{\xi_n}$  with  $\chi(\eta') = \psi(\eta)$ , so  $\eta'$  is a preimage of  $\eta$  and the claim follows.

We summarize Lemma I.1.6, Lemma VI.3.7 and Lemma VI.3.8 in

LEMMA VI.3.9. Let D be a prorepresentable deformation functor, which has an obstruction space  $T^2$ . Then D is unobstructed, if for all  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  and  $\xi_{n-1} := \xi_n|_{A_{n-1}}$  the map

$$D(B_n)_{\xi_n} \longrightarrow D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$$

is surjective.

REMARK VI.3.10. We have seen in Chapter I that the following functors are prorepresentable and have an obstruction space if the below-mentioned assumptions hold.

- D<sup>lt</sup><sub>i</sub> by Lemma I.3.3 and Lemma I.3.4, if i : Y → X is a closed immersion of proper schemes, Y is a reduced locally complete intersection, X is smooth and we have H<sup>0</sup>(X, T<sub>i</sub>) = 0.
- $D_X = D_X^{\text{lt}}$  by Lemma I.2.2 and Lemma I.2.3, if X is a smooth and proper k-scheme with  $H^0(X, T_X) = 0$ .
- $D_{i/X}$  by Lemma I.4.2 and Lemma I.4.3, if  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper schemes, Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth.
- $D_{i/X}^{\text{lt}}$  by Lemma I.4.2 and Lemma I.4.4, if  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  is a closed immersion of proper schemes, Y is a reduced locally complete intersection and X is smooth.

Therefore, the previous lemma applies in these cases.

The second step of the  $T^1$ -lifting principle is to actually prove surjectivity of the map  $D(B_n)_{\xi_n} \to D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$  for all  $\xi_n$  and  $\xi_{n-1}$  as in Lemma VI.3.9. This is not in general fulfilled and needs more input from the concrete geometric situation. We deduce this for  $D = D_i^{\text{lt}}$  from the fact that the cohomology sheaves controlling the deformation problem are locally free and compatible with base change, see Lemma VI.3.11. To achieve this, we link some related deformation problems by an exact sequence.

Consider a locally complete intersection Lagrangian subvariety  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  in an irreducible symplectic manifold X. Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  for  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and let



be a locally trivial deformation of i over S. Consider the long exact sequence

(VI.3.5) 
$$0 \to R^0 g_* T_I \to R^0 g_* T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^0 f_* N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \to R^1 g_* T_I \to \dots$$

obtained from the sequence (I.3.6). If Y is a simple normal crossing subvariety, then  $\mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  is Lagrangian by Lemma VI.2.1. The symplectic form gives an isomorphism  $T_{\mathcal{X}/S} \cong \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  and by Proposition VI.2.4 we have  $N'_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathcal{X}} \cong \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$ . Moreover, the module  $R^0 g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  is free and compatible with base change by Theorem III.5.1. This gives  $R^0 g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \otimes_R k = H^0(X, \Omega_X) = 0$ , where the last equality holds as X is irreducible symplectic. By Nakayama's Lemma this implies  $R^0 g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} = 0$ . Put together this gives the following long exact sequence

(VI.3.6) 
$$0 \to R^0 f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to R^1 g_* T_I \to R^1 g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^1 f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S} \to \dots$$

LEMMA VI.3.11. Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $I : \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  be a locally trivial deformation of i over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Then the modules  $R^k g_* T_I$  are free for all k and all morphisms in (VI.3.6) have constant rank. In particular, all morphisms in (VI.3.5) have constant rank.

PROOF. By Theorem III.5.1 we know that  $R^k g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S}$  is free. By Proposition VI.1.2 we know that Y is a projective variety, so Theorem III.2.10 applies and  $R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is free. Then by Theorem III.5.4 also the cokernel (and hence the kernel) of  $R^k g_* \Omega_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^k f_* \widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  is free. So if we break up the sequence (VI.3.6) into pieces and use that if  $0 \to F' \to F \to F'' \to 0$  is exact and F', F'' are free, then so is F we obtain freenes of  $R^k g_* T_I$  for all k.

Thus, the  $T^1$ -lifting principle may be applied.

THEOREM VI.3.12. Let Y be a Lagrangian simple normal crossing subvariety. Then the complex space  $M_i$  is smooth at 0.

PROOF. We put  $D := D_i^{\text{lt}}$  and denote by  $A_n, B_n$  and  $C_n$  the algebras introduced in section VI.3.6. For  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  we put  $\xi_{n-1} := \xi_n|_{A_{n-1}}$ . By Lemma VI.3.9 the functor D is unobstructed, if for all  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  the map

$$D(B_n)_{\xi_n} \longrightarrow D(B_{n-1})_{\xi_{n-1}}$$

is surjective. For a given class  $\xi_n \in D(A_n)$  take a deformation locally trivial



of *i* over  $S_n = \text{Spec } A_n$  representing  $\xi_n$ . Let  $i_{n-1} : \mathcal{Y}_{n-1} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}_{n-1}$  be the restriction of  $i_n$  to  $S_{n-1}$ . Then by Lemma I.3.4 the diagram

is commutative and the vertical maps are bijections. By Lemma VI.3.11 the module  $R^1g_*T_{i_n}$  is free and hence by [**EGAIII2**, Prop 7.8.5] it is compatible with base change. This means that  $R^1g_*T_{i_{n-1}} = R^1g_*T_{i_n} \otimes_{A_n} A_{n-1}$ . Clearly,  $R^1g_*T_{i_n} \to R^1g_*T_{i_n} \otimes_{A_n} A_{n-1}$  is surjective, which completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

#### VI.4. Definition and Smoothness of $M_Y$

Let  $p: M_i \to M$  be the canonical morphism from section VI.3.1. We learned in Chapter V that M is smooth. Also  $M_i$  is smooth by Theorem VI.3.12, so p is just a holomorphic map between complex manifolds. We prove that its differential Dp has constant rank in a neighbourhood 0. This makes the image  $M_Y$  of p well-defined and smooth. Our proof is an elaboration of an idea of Ran from [**Ran92a**] related to the  $T^1$ -lifting principle.

First let us spend a word about why the definition of the image of a morphism of space germs is subtle. The naive definition of the image could be to choose representatives  $p: M_i \to M$ , take the image and then its germ. But this is not well-defined because shrinking  $M_i$  does not commute with taking the image. The following example will illustrate this.

EXAMPLE VI.4.1. Let  $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^2$  be given by  $t \mapsto (t^2 - 1, t^3 - t)$ . The image of f is the nodal cubic  $x^2 + x^3 = y^2$  and the preimages of the node are  $t = \pm 1$ . So the image is not smooth, although the differential  $D_t f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^2$  has constant rank 1 everywhere. But if we take  $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  around 1 small enough, then f(U) will be smooth, namely one of the two branches of the nodal singularity. Thus, shrinking does not commute with taking the image.

LEMMA VI.4.2. Let  $U' \subseteq \mathbb{C}^m$  be an open neighbourhood of a point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{C}^m$ and let  $p: U' \to \mathbb{C}^n$  be a holomorphic map such that the differential Dphas constant rank k on U'. Then there are open neighbourhoods  $U \subseteq U'$ of  $x_0$  and  $V \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$  of  $p(x_0)$  such that  $p(U) \subseteq V$  is a closed k-dimensional submanifold and  $p: U \to p(U)$  is a smooth morphism.

PROOF. We may assume that  $x_0 = 0$  and  $p(x_0) = 0$ . By a suitable choice of coordinates in  $\mathbb{C}^m$  and  $\mathbb{C}^n$  we achieve that the differential of p at 0 is given by

$$Dp(0) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{k \times k} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We consider the decompositions of

(VI.4.1) 
$$\mathbb{C}^m = \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{m-k}$$
 and  $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ 

corresponding to these coordinates. We write  $p = (p_1, p_2)$  according to the decomposition  $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ . As Dp has constant rank k on U', the differential  $Dp_1$  still has constant rank k in a neighbourhood of 0. Therefore the differential of the map

$$\varphi := (p_1, \mathrm{id}) : U' \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{m-k}$$

has rank m in a neighbourhood of 0. Thus, we find open neighbourhoods  $U \subseteq U'$  of 0 and  $W \subseteq \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{m-k}$  of 0 such that  $\varphi|_U : U \to W$  is biholomorphic. Put  $\psi := \varphi^{-1}$  and  $g := p \circ \psi$ . Then the diagram



is commutative by construction, where  $\operatorname{pr}_1^m$  and  $\operatorname{pr}_1^n$  are the projections on the first factor in the decompositions (VI.4.1) of  $\mathbb{C}^m$  and  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . In particular,  $g_1 := g \circ \operatorname{pr}_1^n = \operatorname{pr}_1^m$ . Let u, v be coordinates on  $W \subseteq \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{m-k}$  and write  $g = (g_1, g_2) = (\operatorname{pr}_1^m, g_2)$  with respect to the decomposition  $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^k \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ . Then

$$Dg(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{k \times k} & 0\\ \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial u} & \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial v} \end{pmatrix}$$

But  $\operatorname{rk} Dg(x) = \operatorname{rk} Dp(\psi(x)) = k$  for all  $x \in W$ , so  $\frac{\partial g_2}{\partial u} = 0$  identically on Wand  $g_2(u, v) = g_2(u)$ . This means that if we put  $V := \operatorname{pr}_1^m(W) \times \mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ , then

$$g(W) = \{(z, w) \in V \mid w = g_2(z)\}.$$

Observe that  $V \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$  is open and g(W) is a closed submanifold of V. This completes the proof.

For a subvariety  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  of an irreducible symplectic manifold X we denote by  $0 \in M$  and  $0 \in M_i$  the points corresponding to X and i.

THEOREM VI.4.3. Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a Lagrangian simple normal crossing subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold X. Then there are open neighbourhoods  $U \subseteq M_i$  of  $0 \in M_i$  and  $V \subseteq M$  of  $0 \in M$  such that  $M_Y :=$  $p(U) \subseteq V$  is a closed submanifold and  $p : U \longrightarrow M_Y$  is a smooth morphism.

PROOF. By Theorem VI.3.12 and the Bogomolov-Tian-Todorov theorem we know that  $M_i$  and M are smooth at 0. By Lemma VI.4.2 we have to show that the differential Dp of  $p: M_i \to M$  has constant rank in a neighborhood of 0. The rank of Dp is constant near 0, if the stalk of

$$\operatorname{coker}(p_*: T_{M_i} \to p^* T_M)$$

at 0 is free. Freeness may be tested after completion, so we have to verify that  $p_*: T_{R_i} \to T_{R_X}$  has constant rank, where  $R_X = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M,0}}$  and  $R_i = \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{M_i,0}}$ ,

compare to Lemma VI.3.4. By the local criterion for flatness [Ser06, Thm A.5] this follows, if

(VI.4.2) 
$$T_{R_i} \otimes_{R_i} R_i / \mathfrak{m}_i^n \to T_{R_X} \otimes_{R_X} R_i / \mathfrak{m}_i^n$$

has constant rank for all n. Let  $\eta : R_i \to A$  be a  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra homomorphism corresponding to a locally trivial deformation



of i over  $S = \operatorname{Spec} A$  and let  $q: A[\varepsilon] \to A$  be given by  $\varepsilon \mapsto 0$ . Then

$$D_i^{\mathrm{lt}}(A[\varepsilon])_{\eta} = \mathrm{Hom}(R_i, A[\varepsilon])_{\eta} = \mathrm{Der}_{\mathbb{C}}(R_i, A) = \mathrm{Hom}_{R_i}(\Omega_{R_i/k}, A)$$
$$= T_{R_i} \otimes_{R_i} A$$

where  $\operatorname{Hom}(R_i, A[\varepsilon])_{\eta}$  are those morphisms, which composed with q give  $\eta$ . Similarly, we find that

$$D_X(A[\varepsilon])_{\xi} = T_{R_X} \otimes_{R_X} A$$

for  $\xi : R_X \to A$ . Now let  $A = R_i/\mathfrak{m}_i^n$ , let  $\eta : R_i \to R_i/\mathfrak{m}_i^n$  be the canonical projection and let  $\xi = \eta \circ p^{\#}$  where  $p^{\#} : R_X \to R_i$  is the canonical map. Then we have a another description of the fibers over  $\eta$  and  $\xi$ 

$$D_i^{\text{lt}}(A[\varepsilon])_\eta = R^1 g_* T_I$$
 and  $D_X(A[\varepsilon])_\xi = R^1 g_* T_{\mathcal{X}/S}$ 

by Lemma I.3.4 and Lemma I.2.3. Moreover, the map (VI.4.2) is identified with the map

$$R^1g_*T_I \longrightarrow R^1g_*T_{\mathcal{X}/S}.$$

from (VI.3.5), which is of constant rank by Lemma VI.3.11. This completes the proof.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## VI.5. Main results

Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion of a simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvariety. We denote by  $\nu: \tilde{Y} \to Y$  the normalization and by  $j = i \circ \nu$  the composition. Let M be a simply connected representative of the universal deformation space of the irreducible symplectic manifold X. Let  $M_i$  be the universal deformation space for locally trivial deformations of i as in section VI.3.1 and let  $p: M_i \to M$  be the canonical map. Assuming we shrinked  $M_i$  and M sufficiently we define

(VI.5.1) 
$$M_Y := \operatorname{im}(M_i \to M)$$

as in Theorem VI.4.3. In [Voi92] the space  $M_Y$  was defined pointwise and later identified as the image of a suitable component of the relative Douady space of the universal family over M. Then, Voisin concluded that  $M_Y$ is analytic using properness of the relative Douady space over M. The difference is that we consider locally trivial deformations here, where no Douady space is known to exist. Therefore, at the moment we can only show analyticity of  $M_Y$  for simple normal crossing subvarieties using Theorem VI.4.3.

LEMMA VI.5.1. Suppose Y has simple normal crossings. Then

$$\ker\left(j^*: H^1(\Omega_X) \to H^1(\Omega_{\widetilde{Y}})\right) = \ker\left(i^*: H^1(\Omega_X) \to H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y)\right),$$

where  $\nu: \widetilde{Y} \longrightarrow Y$  is the normalization.

PROOF. As  $j^* = \nu^* \circ i^*$  the inclusion  $\supseteq$  is obvious. For the other direction it suffices to show that  $\nu^*$  is injective on im  $i^*$ . By Proposition VI.1.2 the subvariety Y is projective, hence by [**Del71**, **Del74**] there is a functorial mixed Hodge structure on  $H_Y^k := H^k(Y, \mathbb{C})$  for every k. We denote by  $F^{\bullet}$  the Hodge filtration on  $H_Y^2$  and by  $W_{\bullet}$  the weight filtration on  $H_Y^2$ . As a special case of Corollary III.3.2 we deduce that

$$H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y) = \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 = F^1 H_Y^2 / F^2 H_Y^2.$$

Let  $\ldots \Longrightarrow Y^{[1]} \rightrightarrows Y^{[0]} \to Y$  be the canonical semi-simplicial resolution from Lemma III.2.4. Note that  $\tilde{Y} = Y^{[0]}$ . Consider the weight spectral sequence associated to the first graded objects of the Hodge filtration given by

(VI.5.2) 
$$E_1^{r,s} = H^s(Y^{[r]}, \Omega^1_{Y^{[r]}}) \Rightarrow H^{r+s}(Y, \widetilde{\Omega}^1_Y)$$

By [**PS08**, Thm 3.12 (3)] it degenerates on  $E_r$  if the weight spectral sequence degenerates at  $E_r$ . In their notation the spectral sequence is denoted by  $E(\operatorname{Gr}_F^1, W)$ . So because of Corollary III.4.2 both spectral sequences degenerate at  $E_2$ . The differential  $d_1 : E_1^{0,1} \to E_1^{0,1}$  is given by  $\delta : H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[0]}}) \to H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[1]}})$  and degeneration at  $E_2$  tells us that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Gr}_2^W \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 &= F^1 H_Y^2 / (W_1 F^1 H_Y^2 + F^2 H_Y^2) = E_\infty^{0,1} = E_2^{0,1} \\ &= \ker \left( H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[0]}}) \longrightarrow H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[1]}}) \right). \end{aligned}$$

In other words, as  $W_2 \text{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 = \text{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 = H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y)$  there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to W_1 \mathrm{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 \to H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y) \xrightarrow{\nu^*} H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[0]}}) \to H^1(\Omega_{Y^{[1]}}),$$

so that ker  $\nu^* = W_1 \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2$ . But  $H_X^2 := H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  has pure weight two because X is smooth. In particular,  $W_1 \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_X^2 = 0$ . Morphisms of mixed Hodge structures are strict with respect to both filtrations, so we have

$$0 = i^* (W_1 \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_X^2) = \operatorname{im} i^* \cap W_1 \operatorname{Gr}_F^1 H_Y^2 = \operatorname{im} i^* \cap \ker \nu^*$$

hence  $\nu^*$  is injective on  $\operatorname{im} i^*$  and we deduce  $\ker i^* = \ker j^*$  completing the proof.

The following lemma generalizes [Voi92, Lem 2.3] to the normal crossing case.

LEMMA VI.5.2. Suppose Y has simple normal crossings. Then we have  $T_{M'_Y,0} = T_{M_Y,0}$  for the Zariski tangent spaces at  $0 \in M_Y \cap M'_Y$ .

PROOF. By Lemma V.3.3 the tangent space of  $M'_Y$  at 0 is

$$T_{M'_Y,0} = \ker \left( j^* \circ \omega' : H^1(X, T_X) \longrightarrow H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y) \right).$$

By Lemma VI.5.1 we have

$$T_{M'_Y,0} = \ker \left( i^* \circ \omega' : H^1(X, T_X) \longrightarrow H^1(\Omega_{\widetilde{Y}}) \right),$$

where  $\widetilde{Y} \to Y$  is the normalization. On the other hand,  $M_Y$  is the smooth image of  $p: M_i \to M$  so that

$$T_{M_Y,0} = \operatorname{im} \left( p_* : T_{M_i,0} \to T_{M,0} \right)$$
  
=  $\operatorname{im} \left( H^1(X, T_i) \to H^1(X, T_X) \right)$   
=  $\operatorname{ker} \left( H^1(X, T_X) \xrightarrow{\alpha} H^1(Y, N'_{Y/X}) \right)$ 

where the third equality holds because the sequence (VI.3.5) is exact. By (VI.2.2) and Proposition VI.2.4 we have a commutative diagram

where the vertical maps are isomorphisms. This implies that

$$T_{M_Y,0} = \ker(\alpha) = \ker(\tilde{\omega} \circ j^* \circ \omega') = \ker(j^* \circ \omega') = T_{M'_Y,0}$$

and completes the proof.

THEOREM VI.5.3. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a simple normal crossing Lagrangian subvariety in a compact irreducible symplectic manifold  $X, \nu: \widetilde{Y} \longrightarrow Y$  the

normalization and  $j = i \circ \nu$ . Then  $M'_Y = M_Y$  and this space is smooth at 0 of codimension

(VI.5.3)  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = \operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y = \operatorname{rk}\left(j^* : H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})\right).$ in M.

PROOF. Assume that  $Y = \bigcup_i Y_i$  is a decomposition into irreducible components. As a direct consequence of Lemma III.1.5 we have  $M_Y \subseteq \bigcap_i M_{Y_i}$ . In section V.2.4 we defined the subspaces  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  of M associated to a Lagrangian subvariety Y of X. We have

where the vertical relations were observed in Remark V.2.7, the horizontal equalities on the right were shown in Proposition V.3.2 and the left lower equality holds as Y has simple normal crossings by Proposition V.3.7. As a consequence, we obtain the upper left inclusion.

As  $M_{Y_i}$  is smooth, in particular reduced, for each i we have that  $M_{Y_i} \subseteq M_{[Y_i]}$ so that

$$M_Y \subseteq \bigcap_i M_{Y_i} \subseteq \bigcap_i M_{[Y_i]} = M'_Y.$$

Therefore, we find

 $\dim M_Y \le \dim M'_Y \le \dim T_{M'_Y,0} = \dim T_{M_Y,0}$ 

where the last equality comes from Lemma VI.5.2. As  $M_Y$  is smooth by Theorem VI.4.3 we have equality everywhere. In particular, as  $M'_Y$  is smooth by Proposition V.3.7 we have  $M_Y = M'_Y$ .

The statement about the codimension follows from the description (V.3.1) of the tangent space of  $M'_Y$ .

REMARK VI.5.4. Let us analyse the proof of Theorem VI.5.3. The definition of  $M_i$  in section VI.3.1 works for an arbitrary Lagrangian subvariety. The spaces  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  can be defined for arbitrary Lagrangian subvarieties, too, and the inclusion relations in (VI.5.4) hold as soon as Proposition V.3.7 can be applied. So let us assume that we are in one of the following cases:

- (1)  $\dim X = 2$ .
- (2) Y has normal crossing singularities.
- (3) X is projective and  $\widetilde{Y}$  is smooth.

Furthermore, we fix smooth, connected and simply connected representatives  $M'_Y$ ,  $M'_{[Y]}$ ,  $M_{[Y]}$  and M such that  $M'_Y$  is a closed subvariety of  $M'_{[Y]} = M_{[Y]}$  and  $M_{[Y]}$  is a closed subvariety of M. Moreover we fix a connected representative  $M_i$  with a map  $p: M_i \to M$ .

Depending on this choice, we define a subset  $M_Y^{\text{set}}$  by  $M_Y^{\text{set}} := p(M_i)$ . Then set-theoretically, we have  $M_Y^{\text{set}} \subseteq M_{[Y]}$  as in the proof of the previous theorem. As  $M_{[Y]}$  is a closed subvariety of M, the Zariski-closure  $M_Y := \overline{M_Y^{\text{set}}}$ is contained in  $M_{[Y]}$ . In particular, from the discussion above we deduce

$$M_Y \subseteq \cap_i M_{Y_i} \subseteq \cap_i M_{[Y_i]} = \cap_i M'_{[Y_i]} = \cap_i M'_{Y_i} = M'_Y.$$

Note that if Y has simple normal crossings this last chain of inclusions together with Theorem VI.5.3 implies that this definition coincides with the one from Theorem VI.4.3.

Although this definition of the subspace  $M_Y$  depends on choices, the inclusion  $M_Y \subseteq M'_Y$  holds for every such choice. As the codimension of  $M'_Y$  is still described by (VI.5.3) we can in any case estimate the codimension of the locus  $M_Y$  in M where a certain subvariety is preserved. This fact together with the applications in Chapter VII justify such a despicable definition.

#### VI.6. More smoothness results

The following results are not new. They appeared in the literature somewhere somehow, but sometimes in a different disguise, sometimes with proofs only sketched. As they are easily obtained via the  $T^1$ -lifting technique, we include them to have a reference and a full proof. Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a connected Lagrangian subvariety.

THEOREM VI.6.1. Assume that Y is smooth. Then the Douady space  $\mathscr{D}(X)$  of X is smooth at [Y].

PROOF. Let  $S_n = \operatorname{Spec} A_n$  where  $A_n = \mathbb{C}[t]/t^{n+1}$  and let



be a deformation of Y inside X over  $S_n$ . In order to apply the  $T^1$ -lifting technique, we will show that the  $A_n$ -module  $T^1_{i_n/X/A_n} = R^0 f_* N_{\mathcal{Y}_n/X \times S_n}$ is compatible with base change. By Lemma VI.2.1 we know that  $\mathcal{Y}_n$  is Lagrangian in  $X \times S_n$ . As f is smooth, Corollary VI.2.3 tells us that  $\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}_n/S_n} \to N_{\mathcal{Y}_n/X \times S_n}$  is an isomorphism. Thus,  $T^1_{i_n/X/A_n} \cong R^0 f_* \Omega_{\mathcal{Y}_n/S_n}$  is a free module and compatible with arbitrary base change by [**Del68**, Thm 5.5]. We denote by  $i_{n-1} : \mathcal{Y}_{n-1} \to X \times S_{n-1}$  the restriction of  $i_n$  to  $S_{n-1}$ . Then the map

$$R^{0}f_{*}\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}_{n}/S_{n}} \longrightarrow R^{0}f_{*}\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}_{n-1}/S_{n-1}} = R^{0}f_{*}\Omega_{\mathcal{Y}_{n}/S_{n}} \otimes_{A_{n}} A_{n-1}$$

is surjective. By Lemma I.4.3 there is a commutative diagram

where the vertical maps are bijections. So the map

$$D_{i/X}(A_n[\varepsilon])_{i_n} \to D_{i/X}(A_{n-1}[\varepsilon])_{i_{n-1}}$$

is surjective as well and the claim follows from Lemma VI.3.9 and Remark VI.3.10.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM VI.6.2. Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a deformation of X over a connected complex space S. Assume that  $X = g^{-1}(s_0)$  for some point  $s_0 \in S$  and that every fiber of g is an irreducible symplectic manifold. Let  $i : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a smooth Lagrangian submanifold, let  $p : \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}/S) \to S$  be the relative Douady space of g and let  $0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}/S)$  be the point corresponding to Y. Then there are open neighbourhoods  $U \subseteq \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}/S)$  of 0 and  $V \subseteq S$  of  $s_0$  such that  $S_Y := p(U) \subseteq V$  is a closed subvariety and the restriction  $p : U \to S_Y$  is a smooth morphism.

PROOF. The problem is local in S, so we may shrink S and assume that there is a pullback diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \\ g \\ g \\ S \xrightarrow{\varphi} M \end{array}$$

where  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M$  is the universal family over the universal deformation space of X. Let  $q : \mathscr{D}_{\pi} \to M$  be the relative Douady space of  $\pi$ . As Y is smooth, every deformation over an Artinian base is locally trivial. Thus the the space  $M_i$  from section VI.3.1 is an open neighbourhood of the point  $y \in \mathscr{D}_{\pi}$  corresponding to Y. Let  $o_i \in M_i$  be the point corresponding to i and let  $o_X \in M$  be the point corresponding to X. By Theorem VI.4.3 there are open neighbourhoods  $U' \subseteq M_i$  of  $o_i$  and  $V' \subseteq M$  of  $o_X$  such that  $M_Y = q(U') \subseteq V'$  is a closed submanifold and  $q : U' \to M_Y$  is a smooth morphism. We put  $V := \varphi^{-1}(V')$  and  $S_Y := \varphi^{-1}(M_Y)$ . Then  $S_Y \hookrightarrow V$  is a closed immersion as  $M_Y \hookrightarrow V'$  is. Consider the diagram



where the outer square is a pullback. Note that as the formation of the relative Douady space is compatible with fiber products, there is an open immersion  $U \hookrightarrow \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{X}/S)$ . As the lower square and the outer square are pullbacks, so is the upper square. In particular,  $q_S$  is smooth as smoothness is preserved under basechange. This completes the proof.

COROLLARY VI.6.3. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a smooth Lagrangian submanifold in an irreducible symplectic manifold and let



be a deformation of *i* over a smooth connected complex space *S*. Then the relative Douady space  $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{X}/S)$  is smooth at *Y*.

PROOF. The existence of  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  implies that in the notation of Theorem VI.6.2 the variety  $S_Y$  is an open subset of S. Then the claim follows from Theorem VI.6.2 as a composition of smooth maps is smooth.  $\Box$ 

### CHAPTER VII

# Applications to Lagrangian fibrations

In this section we give some examples and applications of Theorem VI.5.3 to Lagrangian fibrations. We also pose some questions regarding singular fibers, which hopefully support the quest for setting up a program to understand Lagrangian fibrations. A large part of these results only uses Voisin's original theorem or could possibly be deduced from it with a little more effort. However, with Theorem VI.5.3 at hand the arguments become more conceptual and we have another hint that similar statements might be true in greater generality.

## VII.1. Properties of Lagrangian fibrations

Due to Matsushita and Hwang much is known about the structure of morphisms with domain an irreducible symplectic manifold.

THEOREM VII.1.1 (**Hwang, Matsushita**). Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold of dimension 2n. If B is a normal projective variety with  $0 < \dim B < 2n$  and  $f : X \rightarrow B$  is a surjective morphism with connected fibers, then

- (1) dim B = n, B has only Q-factorial log-terminal singularities, -K<sub>B</sub> is ample, the Picard number ρ(B) is one, the map f is equidimensional and every irreducible component of the reduction of a fiber is a Lagrangian subvariety. In particular, the fact that f is equidimensional implies that it is flat if B is smooth.
- (2) If X is projective and B is smooth, then  $B = \mathbb{P}^n$ .

Moreover, if B is only assumed to be a Kähler manifold, it is automatically projective.

Thus, such f is a Lagrangian fibration in the sense of Definition IV.1.5. Matsushitas contribution (1) is earlier, see [Mat99, Mat00, Mat01, Mat03], and (2) is due to Hwang [Hwa08, Thm 1.2]. As we mentioned in the introduction, the holomorphic Liouville-Arnol'd theorem shows that every smooth fiber is a complex torus. Moreover by Proposition IV.1.6 every smooth fiber is projective, hence an abelian variety. It is worthwhile to remark that there is no example known of a Lagrangian fibration  $f: X \to B$ on an irreducible symplectic manifold, where B is not isomorphic to  $\mathbb{P}^n$ . We want to study the geometry of the singular fibers. We know by [**Hwa08**, Prop 4.1] and [**HO09a**, Prop 3.1] that the analytic subset

 $D = \{t \in \mathbb{P}^n : X_t \text{ is singular}\}\$ 

is nonempty and of pure codimension one. We call D the discriminant locus of f. It seems difficult to describe its geometry in general, special cases are treated in [**Thi08**] and [**Saw08b**]. On the other hand due to [**HO09a**] the structure of a general singular fiber is known. The proof uses analytic methods and the statement is local in the base.

THEOREM VII.1.2 (**Hwang-Oguiso**). Let Y be a general singular fiber of a Lagrangian fibration  $f : X \to B$  over a polydisc B with dim X = 2n. The normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  of  $Y_{\text{red}}$  is smooth, the Albanese variety  $\text{Alb}(\widetilde{Y}_i)$  is of dimension n - 1 for every irreducible component  $\widetilde{Y}_i$  of  $\widetilde{Y}$  and the Albanese map alb :  $\widetilde{Y} \to \text{Alb}(\widetilde{Y})$  is either a  $\mathbb{P}^1$ -bundle or an elliptic fiber bundle. In the latter case  $Y_{\text{red}}$  is smooth.

Following [**HO09a**] we call the image of a fiber of  $\tilde{Y} \to \operatorname{Alb}(\tilde{Y})$  under the map  $\tilde{Y} \to Y$  a characteristic curve. A characteristic cycle is a maximal (maybe infinite) connected union of characteristic curves. Note that by definition Y is a disjoint union of its characteristic cycles. For each characteristic curve C there is a unique irreducible component of  $f^{-1}(D)$  containing C. We denote by r = r(C) the multiplicity of divisor  $f^{-1}(D) \subseteq X$ . Fix a characteristic cycle Z. Hwang and Oguiso define the cycle

$$\Theta := \sum_{C \subseteq Z} r(C)C$$

where the sum runs over all characteristic curves  $C \subseteq Z$ . Hwang and Oguiso show in [**HO09a**, Thm 1.4] and [**HO09b**, Thm 1.1]

THEOREM VII.1.3 (**Hwang-Oguiso**). There is a  $\mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ -action on each general singular fiber Y which acts transitively on the set of characteristic cycles. The singularities of Y are locally trivial deformations of the singularities of  $\Theta$ . If  $n = \gcd(r_i)$  then  $n \leq 6$  and  $\frac{1}{n}\Theta$  is either a Kodaira-singular fiber of an elliptic surface or it is of type  $I_{\infty}$ . The latter means that  $\Theta = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} C_i$  with  $C_i = \mathbb{P}^1$  for all i and  $C_i \cap C_j \neq \emptyset$  if and only if |i - j| = 1 in which case  $C_i$ and  $C_j$  intersect transversally in one point. REMARK VII.1.4. In fact Hwang and Oguiso give more detailed classification results, see [HO09a, Thm 1.4] and [HO09b, Thm 1.1]. Similar results on the structure of a general singular fiber were obtained independently by Matsushita [Mat07] in the projective case. His results are a little stronger, but more technical and his classification might not yet be complete.

## VII.2. Deformations of fibers of Lagrangian fibrations

Let X be an irreducible symplectic manifold and let  $f : X \to B$  be a Lagrangian fibration. We will keep this notation throughout this section. We will need the following classical result.

LEMMA VII.2.1. Let  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a Lagrangian subvariety in an irreducible symplectic manifold X and assume that Y is contracted to a point by f. Let S be a connected complex space and suppose we are given a diagram



where  $I: \mathcal{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X}$  is a deformation of *i* over *S*, *q* is a proper morphism of complex spaces and *F* is a proper morphism extending *f*. Assume that for every  $s \in S$  the morphism  $F_s: \mathcal{X}_s \to P_s$  obtained by base change is a Lagrangian fibration. If  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  has connected fibers, then also  $F(\mathcal{Y}_s)$  is set-theoretically a point for all  $s \in S$ .

PROOF. By Theorem VII.1.1 a Lagrangian fibration is equidimensional. Then the Lemma is just a special case of the Rigidity Lemma [KM98, Lem 1.6].

As explained in section V.2.8, the universal deformation space  $M_L$  of pairs (X, L) where L is a non-trivial line bundle on X, is a smooth hypersurface in M. The following result was probably first proven by Matsushita [Mat05] in the projective case and uses Voisin's result [Voi92]. See [Mat09, Prop 2.1] for the most general statement. We sketch the proof leaving the difficult part to Matsushita [Mat09].

LEMMA VII.2.2. Let  $f: X \to B$  Lagrangian fibration and assume that B is projective. Let T be a smooth fiber of f and let  $L = f^*A$  be the pullback of a very ample line bundle on B. Then  $M_T = M_L$ . In particular,  $M_T$  is a smooth hypersurface in M. Moreover, there is a complex variety P, a

projective morphism  $P \to M$  and a diagram



where  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M_L$  is the restriction of the universal family to  $M_L$  and F is a family of Lagrangian fibrations extending f.

SKETCH OF PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote the universal line bundle on the total space of the universal family  $\pi : \mathfrak{X} \to M_L$ . For the above choice of L we know by [Mat09, Cor 1.2] that  $\pi_*\mathcal{L}$  is locally free and that there exists a family of Lagrangian fibrations  $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathbb{P}(\pi_*\mathcal{L})$  extending f.



So if T is a smooth fiber of f, then  $M_L \subseteq M_T$ . For example any local section of q gives a deformation of T over  $M_L$ . By Voisin's theorem  $M_T$  is smooth of codimension equal to  $\operatorname{rk}(i^*: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(T, \mathbb{C}))$ , where  $i: T \hookrightarrow X$  is the inclusion. This rank is certainly  $\geq 1$ , as the Kähler class restricts to a non-trivial element. As  $M_T$  contains the smooth hypersurface  $M_L$ , we have  $M_L = M_T$ .

Suppose now that X is projective and  $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^n$  is a Lagrangian fibration. Let  $D \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n$  be the discriminant divisor of f. We will assume that the reduced fiber  $Y := (X_t)_{\text{red}}$  has a smooth normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$ . In this situation we can define the space  $M_Y$  as in Remark VI.5.4, after necessary choices were made. By the classification result of Hwang and Oguiso the normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$  is always smooth for general singular fibers. Let  $Y = \bigcup_{i \in I} Y_i$  be a decomposition into irreducible components  $Y_i$ . In the situation of Lemma VII.2.2 we deduce

LEMMA VII.2.3. Under the assumptions above we have  $M_Y \subseteq M_L$ , so if the reduced fiber is preserved as a subvariety, then the fibration is preserved. Moreover, locally trivial deformations of Y remain fiber components.

PROOF. By Remark VI.5.4 we have  $M_Y \subseteq M'_Y \subseteq \cap_i M'_{[Y_i]}$ . But for a smooth fiber T of f we have  $\sum_i n_i[Y_i] = [T]$  and so

$$\cap_i M'_{[Y_i]} \subseteq M'_{[\sum_i n_i Y_i]} = M'_{[T]} = M_T = M_L,$$

where the first two relations follow directly from Definition V.2.6, the third equality is Voisin's theorem and the last equality is Lemma VII.2.2. Put together this gives  $M_Y \subseteq M_L$ . The last claim follows from Lemma VII.2.1.

EXAMPLE VII.2.4. A model of a general singular fiber with characteristic cycle of type  $I_k, k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and one irreducible component is obtained as follows. Take a  $\mathbb{P}^1$ -bundle  $p: Z \to A$  over an abelian variety A of dimension k-1 and suppose p has two disjoint sections  $\iota_1, \iota_2: A \to Z$ . We obtain a variety Y by glueing  $\iota_1$  with  $\iota_2 \circ t_k$  where  $t_k: A \to A$  is the translation with an k-torsion point,  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Observe that Y has normal crossing singularities. Moreover, the sequence

$$A \xrightarrow[\iota_1]{\iota_1} Z \longrightarrow Y$$

is a semi-simplicial resolution for Y. Using this resolution one can establish a theory analogous to Chapter III. Thus, if Y is a Lagrangian subvariety of an irreducible symplectic manifold X one can prove the analogue of Theorem VI.3.12 and Theorem VI.4.3. So in the notation of these theorems there is a smooth submanifold  $M_Y \subseteq M$  and a smooth morphism  $p: M_i \to M_Y$ . One shows the analogue of Theorem VI.5.3 in the same way, namely that  $M_Y = M'_Y$  and  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = \operatorname{rk} (H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(Z, \mathbb{C})).$ 

For some k such singular fibers show up in Jacobian fibrations, see for example [**Bea99**, 1.2] or [**Saw08b**, sec 2], as the compactified Jacobian of a singular curve with a single node. Let  $f: X \to B$  be a Lagrangian fibration with a singular fiber Y of this kind. Let T be a smooth fiber of f an denote by  $[T] \in H^{2n}(X, \mathbb{C})$  its cohomology class. As T and Y are both fibers of f they are algebraically equivalent as cycles, hence [Y] = [T]. Then Lemma VII.2.2 tells us that  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = 1$ . Hence this type of singular fiber will be preserved under deformation whenever the fibration is preserved.

One important question regarding singular fibers seems the following

QUESTION VII.2.5. Given a singular fiber  $X_t$  of a Lagrangian fibration  $f : X \to B$ . What is the codimension of  $M_{X_t}$  in M? In other words what is the codimension of the locus in M, where this type of singular fiber is preserved?

This might be interesting for several reasons. One reason is that there are several results assuming the general singular fibers to be of a special kind, see [HO10], [Saw08b], [Saw08a], [Thi08]. If we knew that complicated

general singular fibers only show up in higher codimension in M, we could always deform to such special situations.

#### VII.3. Codimension estimates

Let  $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^n$  be a Lagrangian fibration on an irreducible symplectic manifold, let and  $Y = (X_t)_{red}$  for  $t \in D$  as before. In order to calculate or at least estimate the codimension of  $M_Y$  in M, we associate a divisor to each irreducible component of Y. Let  $D_0$  be an irreducible component of the discriminant locus containing t and let  $X_0 := X \times_B D_0$ . Let  $Y = \bigcup_{i \in I} Y_i$  and  $X_0 = \bigcup_{j \in J} X_j$  be decompositions into irreducible components and consider the surjective map of sets  $j: I \to J$  mapping  $i \in I$  to the unique  $j = j(i) \in$ J with  $Y_i \subseteq X_j$ . In this way we associate a divisor in X to every irreducible component Y. We show that if  $Y_i$  is preserved under a deformation of X, then so is  $X_{j(i)}$ .

I am very grateful to Keiji Oguiso for explaining the following lemma.

LEMMA VII.3.1. Let  $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^n$  be a Lagrangian fibration of a projective irreducible symplectic manifold X. Let  $X_0 = \bigcup_{j \in J} X_j$  where  $J = \{1, \ldots, r\}$ and let  $i: Y = (X_t)_{red} \hookrightarrow X$  for  $t \in D_0 \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n$  be the reduction of a general singular fiber contained in  $X_0$ . Then

$$\operatorname{rk}\left(j^*: H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C})\right) \ge r,$$

where  $\nu : \widetilde{Y} \to Y$  is the normalization and  $j = \nu \circ i$ . More precisely, the subspace of  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  generated by the classes of the divisors  $X_j$  maps onto a subspace of of dimension  $\geq r - 1$  not containing the class of the ample divisor.

PROOF. If we take a general line  $\ell \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n$ , then the fiber product  $X_{\ell} = X \times_{\mathbb{P}^n} \ell$  is smooth by Kleiman's theorem [Kle74, 2. Thm]. As  $t \in D_0$  is general, there is such a line with  $t \in \ell$ . Let H be a very ample divisor on X and let  $H_1, \ldots, H_{n-1} \in |H|$  be general. Then the intersection  $S = X_{\ell} \cap H_1 \cap \ldots \cap H_{n-1}$  is a smooth surface by Bertini's theorem. By construction it comes with a morphism  $g: S \to \mathbb{P}^1 \cong \ell$ . Consider the diagram

(VII.3.1) 
$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{2}(X,\mathbb{C}) & \stackrel{j^{*}}{\longrightarrow} H^{2}(\widetilde{Y},\mathbb{C}) \\ & \varrho & & & & \downarrow \varrho_{Y} \\ & & & & & \downarrow \varrho_{Y} \\ H^{2}(S,\mathbb{C}) & \stackrel{j^{*}_{S}}{\longrightarrow} H^{2}(\widetilde{F},\mathbb{C}) \end{array}$$

where  $F = Y \cap H_1 \cap \ldots \cap H_{n-1} \subseteq S$  and  $\widetilde{F} \to F$  is the normalization. Note that  $\widetilde{Y}$  is smooth by Theorem VII.1.2 and  $\widetilde{F}$  is smooth, as F is a curve. Let  $Y = \bigcup_{i=1}^{s} Y_i$  and  $F = \bigcup_{\lambda=1}^{q} F_{\lambda}$  be decompositions into irreducible components where s = #I. We put

$$F(i) := Y_i \cap H_1 \cap \ldots \cap H_{n-1} = \bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} F_{\lambda},$$

where  $\Lambda_i \subseteq \Lambda := \{1, \ldots, q\}$  is the subset of all  $\lambda$  such that  $F_{\lambda} \subseteq Y_i$ . If the  $H_k$  are general enough, the irreducible components  $F_{\lambda}$  of F(i) are mutually distinct for all *i*. In other words,  $\Lambda$  is the disjoint union of the  $\Lambda_i$ . Indeed, one only has to verify that no irreducible component of  $Y_i \cap Y_j \cap H_1 \ldots \cap H_{k-1}$  is contained in  $H_k$  for all *i*, *j*, and *k*.

We will show that the subspace  $V \subseteq H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  spanned by the  $X_j$  and H maps surjectively onto an *r*-dimensional subspace in  $H^2(\tilde{F}, \mathbb{C})$ . This would imply the claim by diagram (VII.3.1).

Let  $n_j \in \mathbb{N}$  be the multiplicity of  $X_0 = f^{-1}(D_0)$  along  $X_j$ . Then

$$X_0 = \sum_j n_j X_j$$
 and  $X_t = \sum_i n_{j(i)} Y_i$ 

as cycles, where as above j(i) is the unique  $j \in J$  with  $Y_i \subseteq X_j$ . Recall that  $\Lambda = \prod_i \Lambda_i$  is a dijoint union. So

$$n_{\lambda} := n_{j(i)} \quad \text{for} \quad \lambda \in \Lambda_i$$

is well-defined and we have

$$F = \sum_{\lambda} n_{\lambda} F_{\lambda}.$$

As  $F = \bigcup_{\lambda=1}^{q} F_{\lambda}$  we obtain  $\widetilde{F} = \bigcup_{\lambda=1}^{q} \widetilde{F}_{\lambda}$  where  $\widetilde{F}_{\lambda}$  is the normalization of  $F_{\lambda}$ . Thus,

$$H^2(\widetilde{F},\mathbb{C}) \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda=1}^q H^2(\widetilde{F}_\lambda,\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathbb{C}^q.$$

If we denote the intersection pairing on S by  $(\cdot, \cdot)_S$ , then under this isomorphism  $j_S^* : H^2(S, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(\widetilde{F}, \mathbb{C})$  is given by

$$\alpha \mapsto ((\alpha, F_1)_S, \dots, (\alpha, F_q)_S).$$

Let  $\{x_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\} \subseteq H^2(\widetilde{F}, \mathbb{C})^{\vee}$  be the dual basis of the basis of  $H^2(\widetilde{F}, \mathbb{C})$ obtained corresponding to the standard basis of  $\mathbb{C}^q \cong H^2(\widetilde{F}, \mathbb{C})$ . By Zariski's Lemma [**BHPV04**, Ch III, Lem 8.2] the subspace  $W \subseteq H^2(S, \mathbb{C})$  spanned by the classes of the  $F_{\lambda}$  maps surjectively to the hyperplane of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  given by  $\sum_{\lambda} n_{\lambda} x_{\lambda} = 0$ , So the subspace of  $H^2(S, \mathbb{C})$  spanned by the classes of the  $F_{\lambda}$ and  $H|_S$  maps surjectively onto  $\mathbb{C}^q$ . We have

$$\varrho_Y(j^*X_j) = j_S^* \varrho(X_j) = \left( (\varrho(X_j), F_\lambda)_S \right)_\lambda$$

As the  $\Lambda_i$  are mutually disjoint, so are the  $\Lambda_j := \bigcup_{i:j(i)=j} \Lambda_i$ . We see from

$$(\varrho(X_j), F_\lambda)_S = \sum_{\mu \in \Lambda_j} (F_\mu, F_\lambda)_S$$

that the subspace of  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  generated by the  $X_j$  surjects onto a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  of dimension  $\geq r-1$ . The claim follows as the image of V does not contain  $j_S^*(H|_S)$ .

Denote by  $M_{X_j} \subseteq M$  the Hodge locus associated to the class  $[X_j] \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ , see Definition V.2.3. This is the locus where  $[X_j]$  remains of type (1, 1). We identify M locally with its period domain

$$Q_X := \left\{ [v] \in \mathbb{P}(H^2(X, \mathbb{C})) : q_X(v, v) = 0, q_X(v, \bar{v}) > 0 \right\}$$

by the local Torelli theorem as in section V.1.1. Then  $M_{X_j}$  is given by the equation  $q(X_j, \cdot) = 0$  as explained in section V.2.8 For  $K \subseteq I$  suppose  $Y_K = \bigcup_{i \in K} Y_i$  and let

$$r_K = |\{j(i) \mid i \in K\}|.$$

We obviously have  $r_K \leq r_I = r$ .

COROLLARY VII.3.2. With the notation above

$$\begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{codim} M_Y \geq \operatorname{codim} M'_Y \geq r \\ \operatorname{codim} M_{X_t} \geq \operatorname{codim} M'_{X_t} \geq r \\ \operatorname{codim} M_{Y_K} \geq \operatorname{codim} M'_{Y_K} \geq r_K \\ \operatorname{codim} M_{Y_K} \geq \operatorname{codim} M'_{Y_K} \geq r_K + 1 \quad \text{if} \quad Y_K \neq Y. \end{array}$$

PROOF. This follows from Theorem VI.5.3, Lemma VII.3.1 and the fact that the subvariety of M given by  $q_X(V, \cdot) = 0$  has codimension dim V for a sub vector space  $V \subseteq H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ . For the last statement one uses that by Zariski's Lemma the map  $j_S^*$  from the proof of Lemma VII.3.1 is surjective, if  $Y_K \neq Y$ .

Assume as above that X is projective, that  $f : X \to \mathbb{P}^n$  is a Lagrangian fibration and that the reduced fiber  $Y := (X_t)_{red}$  over general  $t \in D$  has a smooth normalization  $\widetilde{Y}$ . Let  $L = f^*A$  be the pullback of an ample divisor

A on  $\mathbb{P}^n$  and let  $Y = \bigcup_{i \in I} Y_i$  be a decomposition into irreducible components. As clearly  $M_{X_t} \subseteq M_Y$  we have using Lemma VII.2.3 and Lemma VII.3.1

(VII.3.2) 
$$M_{X_t} \subseteq M_Y \subseteq \bigcap_{i \in I} M_{Y_i} \subseteq \bigcap_{j \in J} M_{X_j} \subseteq M_L \subseteq M.$$

This chain of inequalities suggests the following

QUESTION VII.3.3. Which of the first three inclusions in (VII.3.2) are strict? Can we formulate conditions, under which this can be determined?

The following example illustrates that in general  $M_{Y_i} \subsetneq M_{X_{j(i)}}$ . This is already a consequence of Corollary VII.3.2.

EXAMPLE VII.3.4. Let  $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be an elliptic K3 surface having a singular fiber  $S_t$  of Kodaira type  $I_3$  over some  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . Then there is an induced fibration  $f : X = \text{Hilb}^2(S) \to \text{Sym}^2 \mathbb{P}^1 = \mathbb{P}^2$ . For  $D_0 = t + \mathbb{P}^1 \subseteq \text{Sym}^2 \mathbb{P}^1$ the pullback  $X_0$  consists of three irreducible components  $X_1, X_2, X_3$  having the intersection graph of  $I_3$ . The singular fiber over  $t + p \in D_0$  for general  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$  is

$$Y = X_{t+p} = S_t \times S_p = Y_1 \cup Y_2 \cup Y_3,$$

where  $Y_i \cong \mathbb{P}^1 \times S_p$ . Let  $\lambda$  denote the restriction of the Kähler class to  $Y_1$ and  $\alpha_2, \alpha_3$  be the restrictions of the classes of  $X_2, X_3$  to  $Y_1$ . Then  $\alpha_2.\alpha_3 = 0$ as can be read off the intersection graph but  $\alpha_2.\lambda > 0$ . So  $\lambda$  and  $\alpha_3$  are linearly independent, hence

$$\operatorname{codim}_M M_{Y_1} = \operatorname{rk}\left(j^* : H^2(X, \mathbb{C}) \to H^2(Y_1, \mathbb{C})\right) \ge 2 > 1 = \operatorname{codim}_M M_{X_1}$$

already by Voisin's theorem. As  $\operatorname{im} j^* \subseteq H^{1,1}(Y_1)$  and the latter is 2dimensional, we have  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_{Y_1} = 2$ . This however was to be expected, as  $Y_1 \neq Y$  and hence  $M_{Y_1} \geq r_1 + 1 = 2$  by Corollary VII.3.2. It also tells us, that  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y \geq 3$ . We will see in Theorem VII.3.8 that  $S_t$  is preserved as a singular fiber in codimension three in the deformation space of S, hence on a 17-dimensional submanifold. As we can always take the Hilbert scheme of these K3 surfaces, we have dim  $M_Y \geq 17$ , hence  $3 \leq \operatorname{codim}_M M_Y \leq 4$ .

REMARK VII.3.5. Corollary VII.3.2 shows that besides the elliptically fibered case generically only singular fibers with a characteristic cycle  $\Theta$  of Kodaira type I to IV or elliptic fiber bundles show up. Indeed, the other Kodaira fibers have at least two irreducible components with distinct multiplicities. So  $X_0$  has to have at least two irreducible components as well.

In view of Lemma VII.3.1 it seems that the codimension of  $M_Y$  is rather influenced by the number of irreducible components of  $X_0$  than by the number of irreducible components of Y. Thus, a very interesting and important question the following

QUESTION VII.3.6. Let  $Y = \bigcup_{i \in I} Y_i$  and  $X_0 = \bigcup_{j \in J} X_j$  as in the beginning of section VII.3. Is then #I = #J?

There is no obvious reason, why these numbers should be equal, but in all examples we know they are equal. If always #I = #J were the case, all singular fibers of type  $I_m, m \ge 2$  could be excluded to show up generically. So we pose

QUESTION VII.3.7. Which of the general singular fibers of Hwang-Oguiso show up in codimension one in M? Note that as codim  $M_L = 1$  and there are always singular fibers, there have to be fibers which show up in codimension one in M. We already met one of them in Example VII.2.4.

In the case of K3 surfaces, the situation becomes easier. As the fibers are divisors we have I = J in the notation of section VII.3. So we know that  $H^2(\tilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) \cong \mathbb{C}^r$  where r = #J. Singular fibers of elliptic surfaces were classified by Kodaira [**Kod63**]. The canonical bundle formula for elliptic fibrations [**BHPV04**, Thm 12.1] rules out multiple fibers for elliptic K3 surfaces, as they would contribute to the canonical divisor.

THEOREM VII.3.8. Let X be a K3 surface and let  $f : X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be a Lagrangian fibration. Let  $X_t$  be a singular fiber of f over  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  and put  $Y = (X_t)_{red}$ . Then the codimension of  $M'_Y$  in M is equal to the number of irreducible components of Y. Moreover, we always have  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y \ge \operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y$  and we have  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = \operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y$  for fibers of type  $I_n$ ,  $I_n^*$ ,  $II^*$ ,  $III^*$  and  $IV^*$ . Also we have  $M_Y = M_{X_t}$  in all cases.

PROOF. Let  $\widetilde{Y} \to Y$  be the normalization and r := #J be the number of irreducible components of Y. We have dim  $H^2(\widetilde{Y}, \mathbb{C}) = r$ . Lemma VII.3.1 and Remark VI.5.4 show that  $\operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y = r$ . For fibers of type  $I_n$ ,  $I_n^*$ ,  $II^*$ ,  $III^*$  and  $IV^*$  the equality  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y = \operatorname{codim}_M M'_Y$  follows from Theorem VI.5.3, as Y has normal crossings for all those fibers.

To see that  $M_Y = M_{X_t}$  observe that if  $X_t$  is preserved under deformation, then so is Y. Moreover, under such a deformation the fibration is preserved by Lemma VII.2.2 and Y and  $X_t$  remain fiber components. In particular, the intersection graph of Y has to be a subgraph of  $X_t$ , but there are no nontrivial inclusions among the intersection graphs of the non-reduced Kodaira singular fibers. This completes the proof.

EXAMPLE VII.3.9. For singular fibers Y of type II, III and IV a direct calculation shows that the spectral sequence (III.2.5) from Theorem III.2.10 associated to  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{Y}^{\bullet}$  does not degenerate at  $E_{1}$ . In fact,

$$\dim H^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_Y) > \dim H^1(\widetilde{Y}, \Omega_{\widetilde{Y}})$$

and Lemma VI.5.1 and Lemma VI.5.2 leave the possibly that  $T_{M_Y,0} \subsetneq T_{M'_Y,0}$ . In addition, one can for example explicitly write down a polynomial  $f_{3,2} \in \mathbb{C}[x, y, z, u, v]$  homogeneous of bidegree (3, 2) defining an elliptic K3 surface in  $\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  with type II singular fiber, that deforms to an elliptic K3 having only type  $I_1$  singular fibers. This means that in this example the singular fiber Y does not show up in codimension one in M and so  $M_Y \subsetneq M'_Y$ . This means that either  $T_{M_Y,0} \subsetneq T_{M'_Y,0}$  or  $M_Y$  is singular or both.

# **VII.4.** Hilb<sup>2</sup>(K3)

We will now have a look at a particular example of a Lagrangian fibration of the irreducible symplectic manifold  $\text{Hilb}^2(S)$  where S is a K3 surface. We start with an elliptic K3 surface

$$g: S \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$$

For  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  the fiber will be denoted  $E_t$ . It is generically an elliptic curve and degenerates over the discriminant D(g) to one of the singular fibers classified by Kodaira [**Kod63**]. Now consider the 2nd Hilbert scheme X = $\operatorname{Hilb}^2(S) = S^{[2]}$ . The fibration g induces a fibration

$$f: S^{[2]} \to \mathbb{P}^2$$

Note that  $\operatorname{Hilb}^n(S)$  is not functorial in S. But the symmetric product is, and so the Lagrangian fibration f is obtained as the composition  $g^{(2)} \circ \rho$ of the Hilbert-Chow morphism  $\rho : S^{[2]} \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 S$ , see [Leh04], and the morphism  $q^{(2)} : \operatorname{Sym}^2 S \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 \mathbb{P}^1 = \mathbb{P}^2$ , where we write

$$\operatorname{Sym}^n S = S^{\times n} / \mathfrak{S}_n = S \times \ldots \times S / \mathfrak{S}_n$$

for the *n*-th symmetric product and  $\mathfrak{S}_n$  for the *n*-th symmetric group.

**VII.4.1. Singular fibers.** Let us decribe the fibers of f set theoretically. We denote the fiber over  $(t_1, t_2) \in \text{Sym}^2 \mathbb{P}^1$  by  $X_{(t_1, t_2)}$ . If  $t_1 \neq t_2 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ , then

(VII.4.1) 
$$X_{(t_1,t_2)} = E_{t_1} \times E_{t_2}.$$

In this case the fiber  $X_{(t_1,t_2)}$  becomes singular if one of the  $t_i$  happens to lie in D(g). Thus for every point  $t \in D(g)$  the line  $\ell_t = t + \mathbb{P}^1$  is contained in D(f), hence  $\ell_t$  is a component of D(f). If  $t_1 = t_2 = t$  and  $t \notin \Delta(g)$  then

(VII.4.2) 
$$X_{(t_1,t_2)} = \operatorname{Sym}^2 E_t \cup_{E_t} \mathbb{P}(\Omega_S|_{E_t}),$$

where  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_S|_{E_t})$  is the projective space of lines in  $T_S|_{E_t}$ . This contributes a conic to  $Q \subseteq D(f)$ , given by the diagonal imbedding  $\mathbb{P}^1 \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 \mathbb{P}^1 = \mathbb{P}^2$ ,  $p \mapsto 2p$ . Summing up we have

$$D(f) = Q \cup \bigcup_{t \in D(g)} \ell_t.$$

Let us now fix one fiber  $E = E_t$  and describe the two components of the above type of singular fiber. The curve  $E = \mathbb{P}(\Omega_S|_E) \cap \text{Sym}^2 E$  is a section of  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_S|_E)$ -component and diagonally embedded in  $\text{Sym}^2 E$ . Also  $\text{Sym}^2 E$  is a  $\mathbb{P}^1$ -bundle as we will explain next, but here the curve E is a four-section.

**VII.4.2.** Sym<sup>2</sup>*E* component. Let us fix a point  $p_0 \in E$  defining a group structure on *E* with  $p_0$  as unit element. We will write the group additively. The bundle structure on Sym<sup>2</sup>*E* is given by

$$\operatorname{Sym}^2 E \to E, \quad (e_1, e_2) \mapsto e_1 + e_2,$$

hence the fiber over  $p \in E$  as a set is

$$F_p = \{p_1 + p_2 : p_1 + p_2 = p\}.$$

Moreover we see that the curve

$$E \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^2 E, \quad e \mapsto (e, e),$$

is a four-section inside  $\text{Sym}^2 E$  as the composition  $E \to \text{Sym}^2 E \to E$ ,  $e \mapsto 2e$  is four-to-one. It is classical that the assignment

$$E \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(E), \quad p \mapsto \mathcal{O}_{E}(D_{p} - D_{p_{0}})$$

is an isomorphism of group schemes, where we write  $D_p$  for the divisor on E associated to the point p. We interpret  $\operatorname{Sym}^n S$  as a parameter scheme for effective 0-cycles of degree n on S. Thus,  $\operatorname{Sym}^n E$  can be interpreted as a parameter space for effective divisors of degree n on the curve E. In this description the addition map  $\operatorname{Sym}^n E \to E$  is given by

(VII.4.3) 
$$D_{p_1} + ... + D_{p_n} \mapsto \bigotimes_{i=1}^n \mathcal{O}_E(D_{p_i} - D_{p_0}) = \mathcal{O}_E(D_{\sum p_i} - D_{p_0}).$$

If we fix  $p \in E$ , then the right hand side of (VII.4.3) is  $\cong \mathcal{O}_E(D_p - D_{p_0})$  if and only if

$$D_{p_1} + \ldots + D_{p_n} - n \cdot D_{p_0} \sim D_p - D_{p_0},$$

where  $\sim$  means linear equivalence, in other words

$$\sum_{i} D_{p_i} \sim (n-1) \cdot D_{p_0} + D_p.$$

The left hand side are exactly the divisors in the linear system

$$|H^0((n-1)\cdot D_{p_0}+D_p)|$$

and we summarize the discussion in

LEMMA VII.4.3. Let  $p: E \times E \to E$  be the projection on the first factor and set  $F := p_* \mathcal{O}_{E \times E}((n-1) \cdot E_0 + \Delta)$ , where  $E_0 = E \times \{p_0\}$  and  $\Delta$  is the diagonal. Then



is an isomorphism of projective budles over E.

**VII.4.4.** Divisors on Hilb. If D is an effective divisor on S, we obtain a divisor  $D_{\text{Hilb}}$  on  $S^{[n]}$  which may be described set theoretically as the locus of all subschemes whose support has nontrivial intersection with D. We will give a more functorial description of  $D_{\text{Hilb}}$ .

A morphism  $T \to S^{[n]}$  corresponds to a family Z of subschemes of S parametrized by T, that is, a diagram

(VII.4.4) 
$$Z \xrightarrow{q} S \xrightarrow{q} S$$
  
 $\downarrow p$   
 $T$ 

such that  $Z \to T$  is flat and finite of degree n. If we push forward the natural morphism

(VII.4.5) 
$$\mathcal{O}_Z \to \mathcal{O}_Z \otimes q^* \mathcal{O}_S(D)$$

to T, take determinants we obtain the line bundle to the effective divisor we were looking for:

(VII.4.6) 
$$\mathcal{O}_T(D_{\text{Hilb}}) := \det(p_*(\mathcal{O}_Z \otimes q^*\mathcal{O}_S(D))) \otimes \det(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)^{-1}$$

By construction it comes with a section and it measures where (VII.4.5) fails to be an isomorphism. The family Z can be reconstructed from the sheaf of algebras  $p_*\mathcal{O}_Z$  as its relative Spec. This description holds for any T and we are particularly interested in the case  $T \subseteq S^{[n]}$ . So the task will be to describe the (universal) family  $p_*\mathcal{O}_Z$  on T.

101

VII.4.5. The universal family on  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 E$ . Let us describe the universal family for the component  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 E$  of a singular fiber of the map  $f : S^{[2]} \to \mathbb{P}^2$  of the type described in (VII.4.2). We know by Lemma VII.4.3 that  $\mathbb{P} := \operatorname{Sym}^2 E = \mathbb{P}(F^{\vee})$ , where F is given by the pushforward of the sheaf  $F_0 := \mathcal{O}_{E \times E}(E_0 + \Delta)$  by the projection on the first factor. So we have the diagram

On  $\mathbb{P}$  consider the canonical morphism  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \pi^* F$ , pull it back with p and use the evaluation of relative global sections to obtain

$$p^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \longrightarrow p^*\pi^*F = (\pi \times \mathrm{id})^*p^*p_*F_0 \longrightarrow (\pi \times \mathrm{id})^*F_0.$$

The map  $\alpha$  is the inclusion of the tautological line bundle over  $\mathbb{P}$  and as explained in VII.4.2 sections of  $F = p_*F_0$  parametrize length 2 subschemes in E. So the subsheaf  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times E}(-Z) := p^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \otimes (\pi \times \mathrm{id})^*F_0^{\vee}$  of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times E}$  is the ideal sheaf of the universal family Z. Let us consider the exact sequence

(VII.4.8) 
$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(-Z) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E} \to \mathcal{O}_Z \to 0.$$

Let D be a divisor on S and let D' be a divisor on  $\mathbb{P} \times E$  with  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D') = (\pi \times \mathrm{id})^*(\mathcal{O}_S(D)|_E)$ . In the same vein we get

and by (VII.4.6) we are interested in the determinant of the pushforward of  $N = \operatorname{coker} \phi$ . The diagram above gives a resolution

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(-Z) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D'-Z) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D') \longrightarrow N$$

of N. As  $[D_{\text{Hilb}}] = c_1(\det p_*N) \in H^2(\mathbb{P},\mathbb{Z})$  is simply the degree 1 part of  $\operatorname{ch}(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z(D') - p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)$ , it is given by (VII.4.9)

$$p_* \operatorname{ch} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(-Z) - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D' - Z) - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E} + \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D') \right)$$
  
=  $p_* \operatorname{ch} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D') - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E} \right) + p_* \operatorname{ch} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(-Z) - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D' - Z) \right)$   
=  $p_* \left( e^{D'} - 1 \right) + p_* \left( \operatorname{ch} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(-Z) \right) \operatorname{ch} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E} - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times E}(D') \right) \right)$   
=  $p_* D' + p_* \left( \operatorname{ch} \left( p^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \right) \operatorname{ch} \left( (\pi \times \operatorname{id})^* F_0^{\vee} \right) \cdot \left( -D' \right) \right)$
where we simply write D' for the class of D' in cohomology. Note that we used twice that  $(D')^2 = 0$ , which holds as already  $(D|_E)^2 = 0$ . Using the projection formula and diagram (VII.4.7) we obtain

(VII.4.10)  
$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{ch}(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z(D') - p_*\mathcal{O}_Z) \\ & = \pi^* p_* q^*(D|_E) - \left(1 - \xi + \frac{\xi^2}{2}\right) p_* \left(\operatorname{ch}\left((\pi \times \operatorname{id})^* F_0^{\vee}\right) \cdot D'\right), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\xi = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1))$ . If  $d = E.D = \deg(D|_E)$  and if we denote by f the class of a fiber of  $\pi$  and by  $\delta$  the class of  $q^*(D|_E)$ , then in degree 1 we have (VII.4.11)

$$ch(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z(D') - p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)_1$$

$$= -\left((1-\xi) p_*(\pi \times id)^* \left(\left(1 - (E_0 + \Delta) + \frac{1}{2}(E_0 + \Delta)^2\right) \cdot \delta\right)\right)_1$$

$$= -\left((1-\xi) p_*(\pi \times id)^* \left(\delta - \Delta \cdot \delta + \frac{1}{2}\Delta^2 \cdot \delta\right)\right)_1$$

$$= \xi \pi^* p_* \delta + \pi^* p_* (\Delta \cdot \delta)$$

$$= d \cdot (\xi + f).$$

Here we used that  $p_*\delta = d$  and  $p_*(\Delta \cdot \delta) = \delta$  as  $\Delta$  is the diagonal.

Let  $j: \mathbb{P} \to X = \operatorname{Hilb}^2(S)$  correspond to the universal family  $Z \subseteq \mathbb{P} \times S$ . We want to calculate  $\operatorname{rk}(j^*: H^2(X, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^2(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{Q}))$ . As is well known  $H^2(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}^2 = \operatorname{Num}_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{P}$ , so all cohomology is algebraic. For ruled surfaces the numerical Picard group is generated by the class  $\xi$  of a section and the class f of a fiber. From (VII.4.11) we see that  $\xi + f \in \operatorname{im} j^*$ . Also  $\operatorname{c}_1(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)$  is in  $\operatorname{im} j^*$  as already the universal family over Z is the pullback of the universal family over X. In order to show that it is linearly independent of  $\xi + f$  we calculate this class using the exact sequence (VII.4.8). The class  $\operatorname{c}_1(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)$  is the degree 1 part of

$$\operatorname{ch}(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z) = p_*\operatorname{ch}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times E} - \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times E}(-Z)\right) - p_*\left(\operatorname{ch}(p^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1))\cdot\operatorname{ch}\left((\pi\times\operatorname{id})^*F_0^{\vee}\right)\right) - \left(\operatorname{ch}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1))\right)\cdot p_*(\pi\times\operatorname{id})^*\operatorname{ch}\left(F_0^{\vee}\right) - \left(1 - \xi + \frac{1}{2}\xi^2\right)\cdot\pi^*p_*\operatorname{ch}\left(F_0^{\vee}\right)$$

Therefore we find that

$$c_1(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z) = -\pi^* p_* \left( \operatorname{ch} \left( F_0^{\vee} \right)_2 \right) + \xi \cdot \pi^* p_* \left( \operatorname{ch} \left( F_0^{\vee} \right)_1 \right).$$

The first term is equal to deg  $\left(p_*\left(\operatorname{ch}\left(F_0^{\vee}\right)_2\right)\right)\cdot f$  and

deg 
$$(p_*(ch(F_0^{\vee})_2)) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{E \times E} (-E_0 - D)^2 = 1.$$

For the second term note that  $p_*(\operatorname{ch}(F_0^{\vee})_1) = (p_*\operatorname{ch}(F_0^{\vee}))_0 = \operatorname{rk} Rp_*(F_0^{\vee}).$ By Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch we have

$$p_* \mathrm{ch}\left(F_0^{\vee}\right) = \mathrm{ch}\left(Rp_*F_0^{\vee}\right).$$

From  $F_0 = \mathcal{O}_{E \times E}(E_0 + \Delta)$  we deduce that

$$Rp_*F_0^{\vee} = Rp_*\mathcal{O}_{E\times E}(-E_0) - Rp_*\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-E_0)$$
$$= Rp_*\left(\mathcal{O}_{E\times E} - \mathcal{O}_{E_0}\right) - p_*\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-E_0)$$
$$= \mathcal{O}_E - R^1p_*\mathcal{O}_{E\times E} - \mathcal{O}_E - \mathcal{O}_E(-p_0)$$
$$= -R^1p_*\mathcal{O}_{E\times E} - \mathcal{O}_E(-p_0),$$

where  $p_0 = \Delta \cap E_0$ . So we see that  $\operatorname{rk} Rp_*(F_0^{\vee}) = -2$ , which implies that

$$c_1\left(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z\right) = -f - 2\xi$$

So  $c_1(p_*\mathcal{O}_Z)$  is linearly independent from  $[D_{\text{Hilb}}]$  for a divisor D on S intersecting E nontrivially and hence  $j^*$  is surjective. By Voisin's theorem, this means that  $\text{Sym}^2 E$  is preserved in a codimension 2 subset of the deformation space M of X.

### CHAPTER VIII

## **Open problems**

Let  $f : X \to B$  be a Lagrangian fibration of an irreducible symplectic manifold. Besides the problems left open in chapter VII, one of the most important open problems in the study of singular fibers of Lagrangian fibrations seems to be to understand the geometry of the *discriminant locus*. This is defined as the analytic subset

$$D = \{t \in B : X_t \text{ is singular}\}$$

of B. Although we do not at all contribute to solving those problems in this work, we would like to put them into context. The most important problems regarding the discriminant from our point of view is to understand its deformation behaviour and to control its degree. Finally, it would be valuable to have more explicit descriptions of families of Lagrangian fibrations.

### VIII.1. Discriminant locus - deformation behaviour

For any proper morphism  $f: X \to B$  of complex spaces there is the notion of a discriminant *subspace* – as opposed to a discriminant *locus*. This means that D is going to have a structure of a complex space instead of an analytic set only. It is explained by Tessier for finite morphisms in [Tei77], but there he also claims that this works for proper morphisms in the same way. I am very grateful to Duco van Straten for pointing out this reference.

First, one defines the *image* of f, see [**Tei77**, §1, p 572], then the *critical* subspace of  $C = C(f) \hookrightarrow X$ , see [**Tei77**, §2, p 587], and then the discriminant subspace  $D = D(f) \hookrightarrow B$  as the image of the critical subspace, see [**Tei77**, §2, p 588].



The definition uses fitting ideals and it is compatible with arbitrary base change. Thus, if



is the family of Lagrangian fibrations of the restriction of the universal family of deformations of X to  $M_L$  as in Lemma VII.2.2, then  $D(F) \times_{M_L} \{0\} = D(f)$ where  $0 \in M_L$  is the point corresponding to X.

QUESTION VIII.1.1. Is  $D(F) \to M_L$  a flat deformation of D(f)?

This question seems to be important for the following reason: if the map  $D(F) \to M_L$  were a flat deformation of D(f) and we could somehow control this deformation, we could replace the problem of deforming a Lagrangian subvariety  $i: Y \hookrightarrow X$  in a locally trivial way by the problem of deforming a Lagrangian fibration  $f: X \to B$  together with a point  $t \in D(f)$ , possibly avoiding problems with bad singularities in the fibers.

If  $B = \mathbb{P}^n$  we know by [**HO09a**, Prop 3.1] and [**Hwa08**, Prop 4.1] that D(f) is non-empty of pure codimension one. Then a positive answer to Question VIII.1.1 would in particular imply that the degree of D(f) remains constant.

QUESTION VIII.1.2. Does  $D(f) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^n$  have embedded points? Can it be defined as the vanishing of a section in some line bundle? Can this line bundle be described canonically in terms of the geometry of f?

Formulated in a different way, we could ask if it is possible to show that Teissier's description of the ideal sheaf of D can be shown to be a line bundle. The following question is – similar to those in sections VII.2 and VII.3 – trying to deform to an easier situation.

QUESTION VIII.1.3. Is there a small deformation of  $f': X' \to B'$  of f such that D(f') is irreducible?

It is not clear to us, whether this is always possible. The reason is that we cannot avoid the following situation: suppose  $D(f) = D_1 \cup D_2$  and the divisors  $X_1 = f^{-1}(D_1)$  and  $X_2 = f^{-1}(D_2)$  are irreducible. Then their classes in  $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$  are multiples of one another as  $\rho(B) = 1$  and so one is preserved under deformation if and only if the other one is.

### VIII.2. Discriminant locus - degree

Let  $f : X \to \mathbb{P}^n$  be a Lagrangian fibration on a projective irreducible symplectic manifold. Another important problem is to calculate or at least

estimate the degree of the discriminant divisor. We will derive an expression relating the degree of the irreducible components of the discriminant divisor with certain intersection numbers on X. A definition of the multiplicity of the singularity is proposed. The ideas are basically contained in [Saw08b], where only special singular fibers are considered. But in the non-principally polarized case the arguments presented there seem to be incomplete. We do not give any satisfying answers, but we try to put Sawon's approach on a more general footing. For a good reason this chapter is called *Open problems*.

Recall from Proposition IV.3.2, that for the chern classes  $c_p(X)$  of X there are constants  $a_p$  only depending on the deformation type of X such that for any class  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ 

$$q_X(\alpha)^{n-p} = a_p \cdot \int_X \alpha^{2(n-p)} . c_p(X)$$

where  $q_X$  is the Beauville-Bogomolov form. So given classes  $\alpha, \beta \in H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ we have

$$(q_X(\alpha)^n)^{n-1} \left( q_X(\beta)^{n-1} \right)^n = a_0^{n-1} a_1^n \left( \int_X \alpha^{2n} \right)^{n-1} \left( \int_X c_2(X) \cdot \beta^{2n-2} \right)^n$$

On the other side

$$\left(q_X(\alpha)^{n-1}\right)^n \left(q_X(\beta)^n\right)^{n-1} = a_0^{n-1} a_1^n \left(\int_X c_2(X) . \alpha^{2n-2}\right)^n \left(\int_X \beta^{2n}\right)^{n-1}$$

so that

$$\left(\int_X \alpha^{2n}\right)^{n-1} \left(\int_X c_2(X).\beta^{2n-2}\right)^n = \left(\int_X c_2(X).\alpha^{2n-2}\right)^n \left(\int_X \beta^{2n}\right)^{n-1}$$

If we take  $\alpha = \sigma + t_1 \bar{\sigma}$  and  $\beta = A + t_2 H$  where A is an f-ample divisor, H is the pullback of an ample divisor and the  $t_i$  are indeterminates, we obtain (VIII.2.1)

$$\left(\int_X (\sigma\bar{\sigma})^n\right)^{n-1} \left(\int_X c_2 \cdot H^{n-1} \cdot A^{n-1}\right)^n = \left(\int_X c_2 \cdot (\sigma\bar{\sigma})^{n-1}\right)^n \left(\int_X A^n \cdot H^n\right)^{n-1}$$

by comparing the coefficients of  $(t_1t_2)^{n(n-1)}$ . In [Saw08b, Lem 2] it is shown using Roszansky-Witten techniques that

(VIII.2.2) 
$$\frac{\left(\int_X c_2(X) . (\sigma\bar{\sigma})^{n-1}\right)^n}{\left(\int_X (\sigma\bar{\sigma})^n\right)^{n-1}} = \frac{24^n (n!)^2}{n^n} \int_X \sqrt{\hat{A}}$$

where  $\sqrt{\hat{A}} = 1 + \frac{c_2}{24} + \frac{7c_2^2 - c_4}{5760} + \dots$  is the square root of the  $\hat{A}$ -genus. Combining (VIII.2.1) and (VIII.2.2) and taking the *n*-th root we end up with

(VIII.2.3) 
$$\frac{\int_X c_2(X) \cdot H^{n-1} \cdot A^{n-1}}{\left(\int_X A^n \cdot H^n\right)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}} = \sqrt[n]{\frac{24^n (n!)^2}{n^n}} \int_X \sqrt{\hat{A}} =: \gamma(X)$$

where the right hand side does not depend on the ample divisor A. The term  $\int_X A^n \cdot H^n$  is equal to the product  $\deg_B(H) \cdot \deg_{X_\eta}(A)$  of the degrees of H on B and of A on a general fiber  $X_\eta$  of f. The integral

$$\int_X c_2(X).H^{n-1}.A^{n-1}$$

is more interesting and urges us to understand  $c_2(X)$ . Similar to Lemma VI.2.2 one can show that there is a morphism of short exact sequences

where by definition, the lower sequence is the dual of the upper sequence. In general the lower sequence fails to be exact on the right. In any case, this gives a complex

$$f^*\Omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega_X \cong T_X \longrightarrow f^*T_B$$

which is now a complex of locally free sheaves. We will refer to it as the  $\Omega T$ -complex and declare it to live in degrees 0 to 2. It is exact precisely at the points where f is smooth.

In this way, we can calculate the Chern character of X using the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/B} \longrightarrow T_X \xrightarrow{f_*} f^*T_B \longrightarrow H^2(\Omega T) \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow f^*\Omega_B \longrightarrow T_{X/B} \longrightarrow H^1(\Omega T) \longrightarrow 0$$

So we have

(VIII.2.5) 
$$\operatorname{ch}(T_X) = f^*\operatorname{ch}(T_B) + f^*\operatorname{ch}(\Omega_B) + \operatorname{ch}(H^1(\Omega T)) - \operatorname{ch}(H^2(\Omega T)).$$

We consider degree one terms only and we find

$$0 = c_1(X) = \underbrace{f^* c_1(T_B) + f^* c_1(\Omega_B)}_{=0} + c_1(H^1(\Omega T)) - c_1(H^2(\Omega T)),$$

and we obtain  $c_1(H^1(\Omega T)) = c_1(H^2(\Omega T))$ . Since  $ch_2 = \frac{c_1^2 - 2c_2}{2}$  this and (VIII.2.5) yields

(VIII.2.6)

$$c_{2}(X) = \frac{c_{1}^{2}(X)}{2} - ch_{2}(T_{X})$$
  
=  $-ch_{2}(H^{1}(\Omega T)) + ch_{2}(H^{2}(\Omega T)) - f^{*}ch_{2}(\Omega_{B}) - f^{*}ch_{2}(T_{B})$   
=  $c_{2}(H^{1}(\Omega T)) - c_{2}(H^{2}(\Omega T)) + 2c_{2}(B) - c_{1}^{2}(B).$ 

As  $B = \mathbb{P}^n$  we can express this in terms of the pullback of a hyperplane H.

$$f^* c(\mathbb{P}^n) = (1+H)^{n+1} = 1 + (n+1)H + {\binom{n+1}{2}}H^2 + \dots,$$

so  $2c_2(B) - c_1^2(B) = (n+1)nH^2 - (n+1)^2H^2$  leading to

$$c_2(X) = c_2(H^1(\Omega T)) - c_2(H^2(\Omega T)) - (n+1)H^2.$$

With this the numerator of the left hand side of (VIII.2.3) reads

$$\int_X \left( c_2(H^1(\Omega T)) - c_2(H^2(\Omega T)) - (n+1)H^2 \right) . H^{n-1} . A^{n-1}$$
$$= \int_X c_2(H^1(\Omega T)) . H^{n-1} . A^{n-1} - \int_X c_2(H^2(\Omega T)) . H^{n-1} . A^{n-1}$$

because  $H^{n+1} = 0$  so that we have to calculate  $\delta(X) := c_2(H^1(\Omega T)) - c_2(H^2(\Omega T))$  and (VIII.2.3) becomes

(VIII.2.7) 
$$\frac{\int_X \delta(X) \cdot H^{n-1} \cdot A^{n-1}}{\left(\int_X A^n \cdot H^n\right)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}} = \gamma(X)$$

As remarked above, the complex  $\Omega T$  is exact at smooth points of f, hence the cycle  $\delta(X)$  is supported on the singular locus of the singular fibers. Assume the discriminant divisor decomposes as

$$D(f) = \sum_{i} D_i,$$

where  $D_i$  are irreducible components. Accordingly, we will have a decomposition

$$\delta(X) = \sum_{i} \delta_i(X) + \delta'$$

where  $\delta_i(X)$  is supported over  $D_i$  and  $\delta'$  is supported over a subset of B codimension  $\geq 2$ . The cycle  $H^{n-1}$  is the pullback of a line  $\ell \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n$ . So  $\delta'$  does not play a role for the calculation of (VIII.2.7) as  $H^{n-1}.\delta' = 0$ .

Each cycle  $\delta_i(X)$  gives an algebraic family of cycles  $\{S_i(t)\}_{t\in D_i}$  in X parametrized by  $D_i$ . We write  $S_i \equiv S_i(t)$ , where  $\equiv$  denotes algebraic equivalence. So we find

$$\delta_i(X) \cdot H^{n-1} = \sum_{t \in \ell \cap D_i} S_i(t) \equiv \#\{t \in \ell \cap D_i\} \cdot S_i = \deg(D_i) \cdot S_i.$$

Going back to (VIII.2.7) the discussion gives

$$\frac{1}{\left(\int_X A^n \cdot H^n\right)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}} \sum_i \int_X \deg(D_i) S_i \cdot A^{n-1} = \gamma(X)$$

which suggests to define weights

$$w_i := \frac{1}{\left(\int_X A^n \cdot H^n\right)^{\frac{n-1}{n}}} \int_X S_i \cdot A^{n-1},$$

so that we have the nice formula

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} w_i \deg(D_i) = \gamma(X).$$

As said, the whole sum does not depend on A but a priori it might happen that the single  $w_i$  depend on A. This sounds unlikely, but how to show that this does not occur? Calculations in the case of Hilb<sup>2</sup>(S) for an elliptic K3 surface S indicate that the decomposition does indeed not depend on the choice of A, but some work remains to be done to settle this question.

## VIII.3. Generalizations

As our main results are built from many small pieces from different areas, it should be obvious that there is ample space for generalizations. Several calculations support this opinion. We want to explain, in which directions we plan to generalize.

Let us first look at the Hodge theoretic part. Our goals are to generalize Theorem III.4.3 and to construct mixed Hodge structures over Artin rings similar to Lemma III.4.1 for more general classes of singularities and deformations.

If we continue to work with the comples  $\tilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$ , then first of all we want to leave simple normal crossing singularities behind. The "simple" is annoying, i.e. the condition that irreducible components be smooth. The validity of our results should – at least in the algebraic category – only depend on the local structure of the singularities, not on the global geometry. The following class of singularities seems to be a promising candidate.

DEFINITION VIII.3.1. A variety Y is said to have transversal singularities, if the following conditions are satisfied. For every point  $y \in Y$  there is an isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{Y,y} \cong k[[x_1,\ldots,x_n]]/I,$$

where  $I = (f_1, \ldots, f_k)$  and for each m with  $1 \le m \le k$  there is a subset  $I_m \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that

$$f_m = \prod_{i \in I_m} x_i.$$

It can be used in inductive proofs just like normal crossing singularities in **[Fri83**, Lem 1.5]. The reason is this. If locally  $Y = \bigcup_i Y_i$  is a decomposition in irreducible components, then the restriction  $Y' \cap Y_j$  of  $Y' = \bigcup_{i \neq j} Y_i$  to the irreducible component  $Y_j$  has again transversal singularities. With this definition at hand we want to solve

PROBLEM VIII.3.2. Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , let Y be a proper  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety with transversal singularities and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y. Then show that  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\operatorname{an}}/S}^{\bullet}$  is quasi-isomorphic to the constant sheaf  $\underline{R}_{Y^{\operatorname{an}}}$  and that the analogue of spectral sequence (III.2.5) associated to  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}^{\operatorname{an}}/S}^{\bullet}$  degenerates at  $E_1$ . Use this complex to put a mixed Hodge structure over R on the  $H^k(Y^{\operatorname{an}}, \underline{R}_{Y^{\operatorname{an}}})$ .

A solution tho this problem can be used for

PROBLEM VIII.3.3. Let  $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$  where  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , let X and Y be proper  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety with transversal singularities, let  $g : \mathcal{X} \to S$  and  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$ be locally trivial deformations of X and Y and let  $i : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$  be an Smorphism. Then show that the morphism  $i^* : R^q g_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{X}/S} \to R^q f_* \widetilde{\Omega}^p_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  has constant rank for all p, q.

It does not sound absurd that these two results might generalize to locally trivial deformations of arbitrary varieties. Therefore one has to take a completely new approach and understand resolution of singularities. Then it might be possible to develop a theory in the spirit of [Del71, Del74] in the relative locally trivial situation. The first step would be

PROBLEM VIII.3.4. Let Y be a proper  $\mathbb{C}$ -variety and let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial deformation of Y. Find a replacement for  $\widetilde{\Omega}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}$  to generalize and solve the preceding problems.

The question is how to find a replacement for the semi-simplicial resolution from Lemma III.2.4 in the normal crossing case. This seems to be important, because the resolution was explicitly used in our proofs. Here is a proposal how to obtain such a resolution for transversal singularities. Take the normalization  $Y^{[0]} \to Y$  and replace  $Y^{[k]}$  with the k-fold fiber product

$$Y^{[0]} \times_Y Y^{[0]} \times_Y \ldots \times_Y Y^{[0]}$$

This is a semi-simplicial object with infinitly many terms.

Working with the complex  $\tilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  would keep the relation to symplectic geometry via Proposition VI.2.4. Once we established all the properties of  $\tilde{\Omega}_{\mathcal{Y}/S}^{\bullet}$  for the class of locally trivial deformations of transversal singularities, Voisin's theorem is should be valid in this situation as well. The restriction posed by the unnatural assumptions of Lemma V.3.4 should only be a technical problem. More difficult seems to be the correct definition of  $M_Y$ .

PROBLEM VIII.3.5. Show that the image of the natural map  $p: M_i \to M$  from Proposition VI.3.2 is a closed subvariety of M. Decide whether it is smooth or not and how its codimension can be calculated.

VIII. OPEN PROBLEMS

Then of course one should settle the applications to singular fibers of a Lagrangian fibration  $f: X \to B$ . It should be possible to decide whether for the reduction Y of a general singular fiber over  $t \in B$  the codimension  $\operatorname{codim}_M M_Y$  is equal to the number #J of irreducible components of the divisor  $X_0$  as defined in section VII.3. To decide whether #J coincides with the number #I of irreducible components of Y seems to be more difficult. In this treatise, locally trivial deformations play a major role. So we want to pose what we consider important problems regarding locally trivial deformations. One is to study local triviality in the large, that is, not only over Artin rings. In the analytic category the notion of local triviality is reasonable to define local triviality by replacing the Artinian scheme in Definition I.2.1 by an affine scheme, as this is rather restrictive. Instead we propose

DEFINITION VIII.3.6. Let S be a k-scheme and  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a scheme over S. We say that  $\mathcal{Y} \to S$  is a *locally trivial family* parametrized by S, if for every k-morphism  $S' \to S$  of a local Artinian k-scheme S' the morphism f in the diagram



is a locally trivial deformation in the sense of Definition I.2.1.

With this definition we pose the problem of constructing a Hilbert scheme for locally trivial deformations.

PROBLEM VIII.3.7. Let  $Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a closed immersion. Construct a *Hilbert* scheme for locally trivial deformations of Y in X. This should be the unique maximal connected subscheme  $\operatorname{Hilb}^{\operatorname{lt}}(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  of  $\operatorname{Hilb}(X)$  containing the point corresponding to Y with the property that the restriction  $\mathscr{U} \to \operatorname{Hilb}^{\operatorname{lt}}(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  of the universal family is a locally trivial family in the sense of Definition VIII.3.6. Moreover,  $\operatorname{Hilb}^{\operatorname{lt}}(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  should have the universal property with respect to connected locally trivial families.

If  $\text{Hilb}^{\text{lt}}(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  existed, it would certainly not be proper in general as the following example shows.

EXAMPLE VIII.3.8. Let  $f: X \to B$  be a morphism of smooth and projective algebraic  $\mathbb{C}$ -varieties with dim B = 1 and let Y be a smooth fiber of f. As f is flat, there is a classifying map  $\varphi: B \to \text{Hilb}(X)$  to the Hilbert scheme of X. This map is clearly injective. Let  $V \subseteq B$  be the maximal open subset such that  $f_V : X_V \to V$  is smooth where  $X_V = f^{-1}(V)$  and  $f_V = f|_{X_V}$ . Then  $f_V$  is a locally trivial deformation of Y. On the other hand for every  $b \in D := B \setminus V$  and every neighbourhood  $V' \subseteq B$  of b the map  $f_{V'}$  is not a locally trivial deformation of  $X_b := f^{-1}(b)$ . It is a smoothing of  $X_b$  as  $V' \cap V \neq \emptyset$ . So if  $D \neq \emptyset$  and if there were a Hilbert scheme Hilb<sup>lt</sup> $(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  for locally trivial deformations the classifying map  $V \to \text{Hilb}^{\text{lt}}(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  would not extend to B. Hence Hilb<sup>lt</sup> $(Y \hookrightarrow X)$  cannot be proper by the valuative criterion for properness. Clearly, such morphisms f exist in abundance.

It is obvious that the definition of a locally trivial family can be extended to other types of algebraic objects. Problem VIII.3.7 is related to a question of Flenner and Kosarew, see [**FK87**, p. 630]

If  $k = \mathbb{C}$  we would like to know the answer to the following question.

QUESTION VIII.3.9. Let  $f : \mathcal{Y} \to S$  be a locally trivial family over a  $\mathbb{C}$ scheme S in the sense of Definition VIII.3.6. Suppose that  $S^{\mathrm{an}}$  is simply
connected and f is proper. Is then  $f^{\mathrm{an}} : Y^{\mathrm{an}} \to S^{\mathrm{an}}$  a  $C^{\infty}$ -trivial fiber
bundle for S small enough and a suitable notion of a diffeomorphism between
complex spaces?

## APPENDIX A

## Commutative algebra

## A.1. Flatness

The statements and proofs below are a straight forward generalization of the corresponding material from [Ser06], Appendix A. We will include them for convenience.

PROPOSITION A.1.1. Let  $R \in \operatorname{Art}$ , R' be an Artinian local R-algebra and  $R' \rightarrow R$  a surjective R-algebra morphism. The following are equivalent for an R'-module M.

- (1) M is flat.
- (2)  $\operatorname{Tor}_{1}^{R'}(M, R) = 0$  and  $M \otimes_{R'} R$  is flat over R.

PROOF. Flatness is stable under base change, so the implication  $(1) \Rightarrow$ (2) is clear. The local criterion for flatness as formulated in [Mat80, (20.C) Thm 49] yields  $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ .

Let A be a flat noetherian R-algebra,  $R \in \operatorname{Art}_k$ , and  $I \subseteq A$  an ideal. Let R' be an Artinian local R-algebra and  $R' \rightarrow R$  a surjective R-algebra morphism. Let  $\mathfrak{A} = A \otimes_R R'$  and  $\mathfrak{I} \subseteq \mathfrak{A}$  be an ideal with  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \otimes_{R'} R \cong A/I$ . We want to have conditions on  $\mathfrak{I}$  that guarantee flatness of  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}$  over R'.

THEOREM A.1.2. Assume that A/I is flat over R. Let  $\Pi$  be a presentation

of A/I as an A module. Then the following conditions are equivalent for an ideal  $\mathfrak{I} \subseteq \mathfrak{A}$ :

- (1)  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}$  is R'-flat and  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \otimes_{R'} R \cong A/I$ .
- (2) There is a presentation  $\Pi' : \mathfrak{A}^n \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathfrak{A}^N \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \longrightarrow 0$  such that  $\Pi = \Pi' \otimes_{R'} R$ .
- (3) There is a complex  $\Pi' : \mathfrak{A}^n \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathfrak{A}^N \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \to 0$  which is exact except possibly at  $\mathfrak{A}^N$  such that  $\Pi = \Pi' \otimes_{R'} R$ .

PROOF. We obtain  $\operatorname{Tor}_{1}^{R'}(\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}, R)$  as  $H_{1}(\Pi' \otimes_{R'} R) = H_{1}(\Pi)$  which is zero as  $\Pi$  is exact. Here we think of A/I as sitting in degree 1 using homological convention, i.e. degrees ascending from left to right. As A/I is flat over R, the implication  $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$  follows from Proposition A.1.1. Let us verify  $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$ . We will first construct a surjective morphism  $\mathfrak{A}^N \to \mathfrak{I}$ . As  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}$  is flat over R' so is  $\mathfrak{I}$  by the long exact Tor-sequence and by tensoring  $0 \to \mathfrak{I} \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \to 0$  with R we obtain an isomorphism  $\mathfrak{I} \otimes_{R'} R \xrightarrow{\cong} I$ , in particular a surjective morphism  $\mathfrak{I} \to I$ . So by lifting generators of I we obtain a morphism  $\mathfrak{A}^N \to \mathfrak{I}$  which by tensoring with R gives the surjective morphism  $A^N \to I$  from  $\Pi$ . So  $\mathfrak{A}^N \to \mathfrak{I}$  is surjective by Nakayama's Lemma.

Taking the kernel we obtain an exact sequence  $0 \to K \to \mathfrak{A}^N \to \mathfrak{I} \to 0$ . As  $\mathfrak{I}$  is a flat lifting of I, applying the functor  $\otimes_{R'} R$  gives  $K \otimes_{R'} R \cong \ker(A^N \to I)$ . Lifting generators of  $\ker(A^N \to I)$  to K yields a surjective morphism  $\mathfrak{A}^n \to K$  and as above when tensored with R this morphism is just  $A^n \to \ker(A^N \to I)$ .

The implication  $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$  is obvious. We conclude with  $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$ . If  $\Pi'$  is not exact at  $\mathfrak{A}^N$  we add finitely many generators to have a presentation

$$\bar{\Pi}: \qquad \mathfrak{A}^m \xrightarrow{\phi} \mathfrak{A}^N \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \longrightarrow 0.$$

So by construction  $\mathfrak{A}^n \subseteq \mathfrak{A}^m$  and we have a factorization



Hence

$$\operatorname{im}(\varphi \otimes_{R'} R) \subseteq \operatorname{im}(\phi \otimes_{R'} R) \subseteq \operatorname{ker}(A^N \to A) = \operatorname{im}(\varphi \otimes_{R'} R)$$

where the last equality comes from  $\Pi' \otimes_{R'} R = \Pi$ . So  $\operatorname{im}(\phi \otimes_{R'} R) = \ker(A^N \to A)$  implying that  $\overline{\Pi} \otimes_{R'} R = \Pi$ , hence  $\overline{\Pi} \otimes_{R'} R$  is exact. So as above we conclude that  $\operatorname{Tor}_1^{R'}(\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}, R) = H_1(\overline{\Pi} \otimes_{R'} R) = H_1(\Pi) = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}$  is R'-flat.

COROLLARY A.1.3. In the situation of the preceding Theorem assume that  $I = (f_1, \ldots, f_N) \subseteq A$  and  $\mathfrak{I} = (F_1, \ldots, F_N) \subseteq \mathfrak{A}$  with  $F_i \mapsto f_i$  under  $R' \to R$ . Then every relation  $r_1 f_1 + \ldots + r_N f_N = 0$  in A lifts to a relation

$$R_1F_1 + \ldots + R_NF_N = 0$$

in  $\mathfrak{A}$  if and only if  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I}$  is flat over R' and  $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \otimes_{R'} R \cong A/I$ .

**PROOF.** As  $F_i \mapsto f_i$  the sequence

$$\mathfrak{A}^N \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{I} \longrightarrow 0$$

gives

$$\pi: \qquad A^N \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow A/I \longrightarrow 0$$

when tensored with R. When we complete  $\pi$  to a presentation  $\Pi$  as in (A.1.1), the lifting of relations is an other way of saying that  $\Pi$  lifts to a presentation  $\Pi'$  as in (3) of Theorem A.1.2 which implies the claim.

## A.2. Modules over Artin rings

Let R be a noetherian ring and  $\varphi: F \to G$  be a morphism between finitely generated free R-modules. We define  $I_j(\varphi) = \operatorname{im}(\varphi': \Lambda^j F \otimes (\Lambda^j G)^{\vee} \to R)$ , where  $\varphi'$  is induced by  $\Lambda^j \varphi: \Lambda^j F \to \Lambda^j G$ . If we interpret  $\varphi$  as a matrix, then  $I_j(\varphi)$  is the ideal generated by all  $j \times j$ -minors of  $\varphi$ . If F and G are finitely generated but not necessarily free, the definition still makes sense if G is projective. One defines the rank of  $\varphi$  as  $\operatorname{rk} \varphi := \max\{i: I_i(\varphi) \neq 0\}$ .

DEFINITION A.2.1. Let R be a noetherian ring and  $\varphi : F \to G$  be a morphism between finitely generated R-modules. Suppose G is projective. We say that  $\varphi$  has constant rank k, if  $I_k(\varphi) = R$  and  $I_{k-1}(\varphi) = 0$ . We say that  $\varphi$  has constant rank, if there is some k such that  $\varphi$  has constant rank k.

A characterization of this property is given by the following Lemma, the proof of which is found at [**Eis95**, Prop 20.8].

LEMMA A.2.2. Let R be a noetherian ring and  $\varphi : F \to G$  be a morphism between finitely generated R-modules. Suppose G is projective. Then  $\varphi$  has constant rank, if and only if coker  $\varphi$  is a projective R-module.

If G is projective and  $\varphi : F \to G$  is of constant rank, then im  $\varphi$  is projective. If moreover F is projective, then also ker  $\varphi$  is projective. We will mostly be concerned with local noetherian rings, where projectivity is equivalent to freeness. We show next, that over local Artin rings the inclusion of a free submodule is of constant rank.

LEMMA A.2.3. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  be a local Artin ring with residue field k and  $F_1 \subseteq F$  two finitely generated free R-modules. Then  $F/F_1$  is free and  $\varphi: F_1 \otimes k \longrightarrow F \otimes k$  is injective.

PROOF. If  $F_1 \to F$  is injective, then  $F/F_1$  is free if and only if  $\varphi$ :  $F_1 \otimes k \to F \otimes k$  is injective. This holds over any local noetherian ring by [Ser06, Cor A.6]. As both  $F_1$  and F are free, the diagramm



#### A. COMMUTATIVE ALGEBRA

has exact rows. If  $\varphi$  is not injective, then there is  $x_1 \in F_1 \cap \mathfrak{m}F$  with  $x_1 \notin \mathfrak{m}F_1$ . Because of this last property we find  $x_2, \ldots, x_k \in F$  such that  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_k$  is a basis of F by Nakayama's Lemma. In particular, if  $\alpha x_1 = 0$  for some non-zero  $\alpha \in R$  implies that  $\alpha = 0$ . The case R = k is trivial, so we may assume that the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  is non-zero. So there is  $0 \neq \alpha \in$  Ann  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Therefore we have  $\alpha x_1 \in \alpha \mathfrak{m}F = 0$ , a contradiction.

COROLLARY A.2.4. Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  be a local Artin ring with residue field k and  $F_1, F_2 \subseteq F$  be two free submodules in a finitely generated free R-module. Then  $F_1 \cap F_2 = 0$  if and only if  $F_1 \otimes k \cap F_2 \otimes k = 0$ .

PROOF. The condition  $F_1 \cap F_2 = 0$  means that  $F_1 \oplus F_2 \longrightarrow F$  is injective. This implies injectivity of  $F_1 \otimes k \oplus F_2 \otimes k \longrightarrow F \otimes k$  by Lemma A.2.3, hence  $F_1 \otimes k \cap F_2 \otimes k = 0$ . The converse again follows from [Ser06, Cor A.6] over any local noetherian ring.

LEMMA A.2.5. Let R be a local Artin ring and



a diagram of *R*-modules where *G*, *H* are free,  $\eta$  has constant rank and im  $\psi \cap$  ker  $\eta = 0$ . Then  $\varphi$  has constant rank if and only if  $\psi$  has.

PROOF. We may assume that  $\psi$  is injective since replacing F by im  $\psi$  does not change any cokernel. As  $\eta$  has constant rank, ker  $\eta$  and coker  $\eta = H/\eta(G)$  are free. When we consider the two exact sequences

$$0 \to G/(F \oplus \ker \eta) \to H/\varphi(F) \to H/\eta(G) \to 0$$

and

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker \eta \longrightarrow G/F \longrightarrow G/(F \oplus \ker \eta) \longrightarrow 0$$

we see that  $H/\varphi(F)$  is free if and only if  $G/(F \oplus \ker \eta)$  is free. By Lemma A.2.3 this is the case if and only if G/F is free. This proves the Lemma.  $\Box$ 

LEMMA A.2.6. Let R be a local Artin ring and

$$H' \stackrel{d_1}{\to} H \stackrel{d_2}{\to} H''$$

a complex of free *R*-modules, i.e.  $d_2 \circ d_1 = 0$ . If the  $d_i$  have constant rank, then the cohomology ker  $d_2 / \operatorname{im} d_1$  is free.

PROOF. Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H' & \stackrel{d_1}{\longrightarrow} & H & \stackrel{d_2}{\longrightarrow} & H'' \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

where  $F = \operatorname{im} d_1$  and  $G = \ker d_2$ . Here F and G are free by the remarks following Definition A.2.1, hence the claim follows from Lemma A.2.3.

### APPENDIX B

## Hodge theory

For completeness, we record the definition of a mixed Hodge structure and comment on a difference to our definition of a mixed Hodge structure over an Artin ring.

## B.1. Mixed Hodge structures on singular varieties

DEFINITION B.1.1. A pure Hodge structure  $(H_{\mathbb{Z}}, F^{\bullet})$  of weight  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  consists of the following data: a finitely generated  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module  $H_{\mathbb{Z}}$  and a finite decreasing filtration  $H = F^0 \supseteq F^1 \supseteq \ldots$  on  $H = H_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$F^p \oplus \overline{F^{q+1}} = H$$

for all p, q with p + q = m. Note that we have a complex conjugation on  $H = H_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $\overline{h \otimes \lambda} = h \otimes \overline{\lambda}$ .

In this definition we could as well start with a finitely generated  $\Lambda$ -module  $H_{\Lambda}$  for some subring  $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  instead of  $H_{\mathbb{Z}}$ . Such a datum will be called a pure  $\Lambda$ -Hodge structure.

DEFINITION B.1.2. A mixed Hodge structure  $(H_{\mathbb{Z}}, F^{\bullet}, W_{\bullet})$  consists of the following data: a finitely generated  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module  $H_{\mathbb{Z}}$ , a finite decreasing filtration  $H = F^0 \supseteq F^1 \supseteq \ldots$  on  $H = H_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$  and a finite increasing filtration  $\ldots \subseteq W_m \subseteq \ldots \subseteq H_{\mathbb{Q}} = H_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$  such that for each  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  the filtration  $F^p \operatorname{Gr}_m^W$  defined by

$$F^{p}\operatorname{Gr}_{m}^{W} = \operatorname{im}\left(F^{p} \cap W_{m} \to W_{m}/W_{m-1}\right)$$

defines a pure  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Hodge structure of weight m on  $\mathrm{Gr}_m^W$ .

If in this definition  $\mathbb{Q}$  is replaced by a ring  $\Lambda$  with  $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq \Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  we speak of a mixed  $\Lambda$ -Hodge structure. In this sense, the mixed Hodge structures in the central fiber of our mixed Hodge structures over Artin rings from Definition II.2.1 is a mixed  $\mathbb{R}$ -Hodge structure. The condition that  $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is necessary for Definition B.1.2 to be reasonable: in order that  $\operatorname{Gr}_m^W$  can be a pure Hodge structure, we need to have a complex conjugation. On Hwe have one coming from the real structure and this descends to  $\operatorname{Gr}_m^W$  only if  $W_m$  and  $W_{m-1}$  are fixed, in other words, if they are themselves defined over  $\mathbb{R}$ .

## Bibliography

- [Arn89] ARNOL'D, V. I.: Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Bd. 60: Mathematical methods of classical mechanics. New York : Springer-Verlag, 1989
- [Bea83] BEAUVILLE, Arnaud: Variétés Kähleriennes dont la première classe de Chern est nulle. In: J. Differential Geom. 18 (1983), Nr. 4, S. 755–782 (1984)
- [Bea91] BEAUVILLE, A.: Systèmes hamiltoniens complètement intégrables associés aux surfaces K3. In: Problems in the theory of surfaces and their classification (Cortona, 1988). London: Academic Press, 1991 (Sympos. Math., XXXII), S. 25–31
- [Bea99] BEAUVILLE, Arnaud: Counting rational curves on K3 surfaces. In: Duke Math. J. 97 (1999), Nr. 1, S. 99–108
- [BHPV04] BARTH, Wolf P.; HULEK, Klaus; PETERS, Chris A. M.; VEN, Antonius Van d.: Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge.. Bd. 4: Compact complex surfaces. Second. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 2004
- [BLR90] BOSCH, Siegfried ; LÜTKEBOHMERT, Werner ; RAYNAUD, Michel: Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. Bd. 21: Néron models. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 1990
- [Bog74] BOGOMOLOV, F. A.: The decomposition of Kähler manifolds with a trivial canonical class. In: Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 93(135) (1974), S. 573–575, 630
- [Bog78] BOGOMOLOV, F. A.: Hamiltonian Kählerian manifolds. In: Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 243 (1978), Nr. 5, S. 1101–1104
- [BS77] BĂNICĂ, C. ; STĂNĂȘILĂ, O.: Méthodes algébriques dans la théorie globale des espaces complexes. Vol. 1. Paris : Gauthier-Villars, 1977. – Avec une préface de Henri Cartan, Troisième édition, Collection "Varia Mathematica"
- [Cam06] CAMPANA, Frédéric: Isotrivialité de certaines familles kählériennes de variétés non projectives. In: Math. Z. 252 (2006), Nr. 1, S. 147–156
- [Del68] DELIGNE, P.: Théorème de Lefschetz et critères de dégénérescence de suites spectrales. In: Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1968), Nr. 35, S. 259–278
- [Del71] DELIGNE, Pierre: Théorie de Hodge. II. In: Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1971), Nr. 40, S. 5–57
- [Del74] DELIGNE, Pierre: Théorie de Hodge. III. In: Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1974), Nr. 44, S. 5–77
- [EGAIII2] GROTHENDIECK, A.: Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. II. In: Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1963), Nr. 17, S. 91
- [Eis95] EISENBUD, David: Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Bd. 150: Commutative algebra. New York : Springer-Verlag, 1995. – With a view toward algebraic geometry

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Fer03] FERRAND, Daniel: Conducteur, descente et pincement. In: Bull. Soc. Math. France 131 (2003), Nr. 4, S. 553–585
- [FK87] FLENNER, Hubert ; KOSAREW, Siegmund: On locally trivial deformations. In: Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 23 (1987), Nr. 4, S. 627–665
- [Fri83] FRIEDMAN, Robert: Global smoothings of varieties with normal crossings. In: Ann. of Math. (2) 118 (1983), Nr. 1, S. 75–114
- [GHJ03] GROSS, M. ; HUYBRECHTS, D. ; JOYCE, D.: Calabi-Yau manifolds and related geometries. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 2003 (Universitext). – Lectures from the Summer School held in Nordfjordeid, June 2001
- [Gro59] GROTHENDIECK, Alexander: Technique de descente et théorèmes d'existence en géométrie algébrique. II. Le théorème d'existence en théorie formelle des modules. In: Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 5. Paris : Soc. Math. France, 1959, S. Exp. No. 195, 369–390
- [Gro60] GROTHENDIECK, Alexander: Techniques de construction et théorèmes d'existence en géométrie algébrique. IV. Les schémas de Hilbert. In: Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 6. Paris : Soc. Math. France, 1960, S. Exp. No. 221, 249–276
- [GS75] GRIFFITHS, Phillip ; SCHMID, Wilfried: Recent developments in Hodge theory: a discussion of techniques and results. In: *Discrete subgroups of Lie groups and applicatons to moduli*. Bombay : Oxford Univ. Press, 1975, S. 31–127
- [Har70] HARTSHORNE, Robin: Ample subvarieties of algebraic varieties. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 1970 (Notes written in collaboration with C. Musili. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 156)
- [Har77] HARTSHORNE, Robin: Algebraic geometry. New York : Springer-Verlag, 1977.
   Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52
- [HO09a] HWANG, Jun-Muk; OGUISO, Keiji: Characteristic foliation on the discriminant hypersurface of a holomorphic Lagrangian fibration. In: Amer. J. Math. 131 (2009), Nr. 4, S. 981–1007
- [HO09b] HWANG, Jun-Muk; OGUISO, Keiji: Multiple fibers of holomorphic Lagrangian fibrations. 2009. – preprint arXiv:0907.4869
- [HO10] HWANG, Jun-Muk ; OGUISO, Keiji: Local structure of principally polarized stable Lagrangian fibrations. 2010. – preprint arXiv:1007.2043
- [Huy99] HUYBRECHTS, Daniel: Compact hyper-Kähler manifolds: basic results. In: Invent. Math. 135 (1999), Nr. 1, S. 63–113
- [Hwa08] HWANG, Jun-Muk: Base manifolds for fibrations of projective irreducible symplectic manifolds. In: *Invent. Math.* 174 (2008), Nr. 3, S. 625–644
- [K3a85] Géométrie des surfaces K3: modules et périodes. Paris : Société Mathématique de France, 1985. – Astérisque No. 126 (1985)
- [Kaw92] KAWAMATA, Yujiro: Unobstructed deformations. A remark on a paper of Z.
   Ran: "Deformations of manifolds with torsion or negative canonical bundle".
   In: J. Algebraic Geom. 1 (1992), Nr. 2, S. 183–190
- [Kaw97] KAWAMATA, Yujiro: Erratum on: "Unobstructed deformations. A remark on a paper of Z. Ran: 'Deformations of manifolds with torsion or negative canonical bundle'". In: J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), Nr. 4, S. 803–804

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Kle74] KLEIMAN, Steven L.: The transversality of a general translate. In: Compositio Math. 28 (1974), S. 287–297
- [KM98] KOLLÁR, János ; MORI, Shigefumi: Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Bd. 134: Birational geometry of algebraic varieties. Cambridge : Cambridge University Press, 1998
- [Kod63] KODAIRA, K.: On compact analytic surfaces. II. In: Ann. of Math. (2) 77 (1963), 563–626; ibid. 78 (1963), S. 1–40
- [Kur62] KURANISHI, M.: On the locally complete families of complex analytic structures. In: Ann. of Math. (2) 75 (1962), S. 536–577
- [Leh04] LEHN, Manfred: Lectures on Hilbert schemes. In: Algebraic structures and moduli spaces Bd. 38. Providence, RI : Amer. Math. Soc., 2004, S. 1–30
- [Mat80] MATSUMURA, Hideyuki: Commutative algebra. Second. Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Co., Inc., Reading, Mass., 1980
- [Mat99] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: On fibre space structures of a projective irreducible symplectic manifold. In: *Topology* 38 (1999), Nr. 1, S. 79–83
- [Mat00] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: Equidimensionality of Lagrangian fibrations on holomorphic symplectic manifolds. In: Math. Res. Lett. 7 (2000), Nr. 4, S. 389–391
- [Mat01] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: Addendum: "On fibre space structures of a projective irreducible symplectic manifold". In: *Topology* 40 (2001), Nr. 2, S. 431–432
- [Mat03] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: Holomorphic symplectic manifolds and Lagrangian fibrations. In: Acta Appl. Math. 75 (2003), Nr. 1-3, S. 117–123
- [Mat05] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: Higher direct images of dualizing sheaves of Lagrangian fibrations. In: Amer. J. Math. 127 (2005), Nr. 2, S. 243–259
- [Mat07] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: A canonical bundle formular of projective Lagrangian fibrations. 2007. – preprint arXiv:0710.0122
- [Mat09] MATSUSHITA, Daisuke: On deformations of Lagrangian fibrations. In: ArXiv e-prints (2009). – preprint arXiv:0903.2098
- [Moz06] MozGOVYY, Sergiy: The Euler number of O'Grady's 10-dimensional symplectic manifold, Johannes–Gutenberg–Universität Mainz, Diss., 2006
- [O'G99] O'GRADY, Kieran G.: Desingularized moduli spaces of sheaves on a K3. In: J. Reine Angew. Math. 512 (1999), S. 49–117
- [O'G03] O'GRADY, Kieran G.: A new six-dimensional irreducible symplectic variety. In: J. Algebraic Geom. 12 (2003), Nr. 3, S. 435–505
- [Pou69] POURCIN, Geneviève: Théorème de Douady au-dessus de S. In: Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 23 (1969), S. 451–459
- [PS08] PETERS, Chris A. M.; STEENBRINK, Joseph H. M.: Mixed Hodge structures.Bd. 52. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 2008
- [Ran92a] RAN, Ziv: Deformations of manifolds with torsion or negative canonical bundle. In: J. Algebraic Geom. 1 (1992), Nr. 2, S. 279–291
- [Ran92b] RAN, Ziv: Lifting of cohomology and unobstructedness of certain holomorphic maps. In: Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 26 (1992), Nr. 1, S. 113–117
- [Saw08a] SAWON, Justin: A classification of Lagrangian fibrations by Jacobians. 2008. preprint arXiv:0803.1186
- [Saw08b] SAWON, Justin: On the discriminant locus of a Lagrangian fibration. In: Math. Ann. 341 (2008), Nr. 1, S. 201–221

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Sch68] SCHLESSINGER, Michael: Functors of Artin rings. In: Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 130 (1968), S. 208–222
- [Sch94] SCHEIDERER, Claus: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Bd. 1588: Real and étale cohomology. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 1994
- [Sei66] SEIDENBERG, A.: Derivations and integral closure. In: Pacific J. Math. 16 (1966), S. 167–173
- [Ser56] SERRE, Jean-Pierre: Géométrie algébrique et géométrie analytique. In: Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble 6 (1955–1956), S. 1–42
- [Ser06] SERNESI, Edoardo: Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Bd. 334: Deformations of algebraic schemes. Berlin : Springer-Verlag, 2006
- [SGA1] GROTHENDIECK, Alexander: Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental (SGA 1). Paris : Société Mathématique de France, 2003. – Séminaire de géométrie algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–61. Lecture Notes in Math., 224, Springer, Berlin
- [Tei77] TEISSIER, Bernard: The hunting of invariants in the geometry of discriminants.
   In: Real and complex singularities. Sijthoff and Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1977, S. 565–678
- [Thi08] THIER, Christian: On the Monodromy of 4-dimensional Lagrangian Fibrations, Albert–Ludwigs–Universität Freiburg, Diss., 2008
- [Tia87] TIAN, Gang: Smoothness of the universal deformation space of compact Calabi-Yau manifolds and its Petersson-Weil metric. In: *Mathematical aspects* of string theory Bd. 1. Singapore : World Sci. Publishing, 1987, S. 629–646
- [Tod89] TODOROV, Andrey N.: The Weil-Petersson geometry of the moduli space of SU(n ≥ 3) (Calabi-Yau) manifolds. I. In: Comm. Math. Phys. 126 (1989), Nr. 2, S. 325–346
- [Voi92] VOISIN, Claire: Sur la stabilité des sous-variétés lagrangiennes des variétés symplectiques holomorphes. In: Complex projective geometry Bd. 179. Cambridge Univ. Press, 1992, S. 294–303
- [VoiI] VOISIN, Claire: Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Bd. 76: Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry. I. Cambridge : Cambridge University Press, 2002. – Translated from the French original by Leila Schneps
- [VoiII] VOISIN, Claire: Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Bd. 77: Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry. II. Cambridge : Cambridge University Press, 2003. – Translated from the French by Leila Schneps
- [Yau78] YAU, Shing T.: On the Ricci curvature of a compact Kähler manifold and the complex Monge-Ampère equation. I. In: Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31 (1978), Nr. 3, S. 339–411

# Danksagung

Ich möchte mich zu allererst bei meinem Doktorvater für die Betreuung während der Anfertigung dieser Arbeit bedanken. Er weckte mein Interesse an der symplektischen Geometrie, kam immer wieder mit interessanten Problemen und nahm sich bereitwillig Zeit für Diskussionen. Sein intensives Nachfragen half mir dabei, Ungenauigkeiten zu erkennen und trug wesentlich zur Verbesserung dieser Schrift bei. Bei meinem Zweitgutachter möchte ich mich für die Bereitschaft, diese Rolle zu übernehmen, und für hilfreiche, auch nicht-mathematische Gespräche bedanken.

Des Weiteren möchte ich mich bei Freunden und Kollegen für Diskussionen, Anregungen, Korrekturlesen und zahlreiche weitere dem Verfassen dieser Arbeit förderliche Dinge bedanken.

Meinen Eltern danke ich für ihre Unterstützung, ebenso meiner Schwester, die mich gelegentlich mit unerwarteten, jedoch erfreulichen Besuchen von der Arbeit ablenkte. Meiner Freundin danke ich für all ihre Geduld, ihre Unterstützung, ihre Aufmunterungen und ihr Verständnis.